
 

Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: Thursday, 8th September, 2022 
Time: 6.30 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath 
 
Agenda 
 
To: All Members of the Cabinet 
 
Councillor Kevin Guy (Leader of the Council, Liberal Democrat Group Leader), Councillor Tim 
Ball (Cabinet Member for Planning and Licensing), Councillor Alison Born (Cabinet Member for 
Adult Services and Council House Building), Councillor Tom Davies (Cabinet Member for Adult 
Services and Council House Building), Councillor Manda Rigby (Cabinet Member for 
Transport), Councillor Dine Romero (Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, 
Communities), Councillor Richard Samuel (Deputy Council Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Resources), Councillor Sarah Warren (Deputy Council Leader 
(statutory) and Cabinet Member for Climate and Sustainable Travel) and Councillor David 
Wood (Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services) 

 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

Marie Todd
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG 
Telephone: 01225 394414
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk 
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk



NOTES: 
 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 
Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 
2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 
3. Recording at Meetings 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording 
by anyone attending a meeting.  This is not within the Council’s control.  Some of our meetings 
are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to 
be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make yourself known to 
the camera operators.  We request that those filming/recording meetings avoid filming public 
seating areas, children, vulnerable people etc; however, the Council cannot guarantee this will 
happen. 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its 
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 
The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. 
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also 
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group.  
 
Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting. This 
means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday. 
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated 
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted. 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 
6. Supplementary information for meetings 
 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 
 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Cabinet  - Thursday, 8th September, 2022 
  

in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 
  

A G E N D A 
   
1.   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  
 
2.   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Democratic Services Officer will read out the emergency evacuation procedure as 
set out in the notes. 

 
3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 
 
(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 
(b) The nature of their interest. 
(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest, 

(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

 
Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 
5.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
6.   QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS  

 Questions submitted before the deadline will receive a reply from an appropriate 
Cabinet member or a promise to respond within 5 working days of the meeting.  
Councillors may ask one supplementary question for each question they submit, up to 
a maximum of two per Councillor. 

 
7.   STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS  

 Councillors and members of the public may register their intention to make a statement 
if they notify the subject matter of their statement before the deadline.  Statements are 
limited to 3 minutes each.  The speaker may then be asked by Cabinet members to 
answer factual questions arising out of their statement. 

 
8.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETING (Pages 7 - 18) 

 To be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

 



9.   CONSIDERATION OF SINGLE MEMBER ITEMS REQUISITIONED TO CABINET  

 This is a standard agenda item, to cover any reports originally placed on the Weekly 
List for single Member decision making, which have subsequently been the subject of 
a Cabinet Member requisition to the full Cabinet, under the Council’s procedural rules. 

 
10.   MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES  

 This is a standing agenda item (Constitution rule 3.3.15) for matters referred by Policy 
Development and Scrutiny bodies.  The Chair of the relevant PDS Panel will have the 
right to attend and to introduce the Panel’s recommendations to Cabinet. 

 
11.   SINGLE MEMBER CABINET DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS CABINET 

MEETING (Pages 19 - 22) 

 To note the list of Cabinet Single Member decisions taken and published since the last 
Cabinet meeting (no debate). 

 
12.   COMMUNITY SERVICES DESIGN - UPDATE POSITION (Pages 23 - 36) 

 Following the second options appraisal jointly conducted by the Council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group (Bath & North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire Integrated Care 
Board) decisions were taken by both the Cabinet and CCG Governing Body on 26 May 2022 
not to extend the contract term for the three year period (Option 3) with HCRG Care Group 
for the delivery of Community Services in B&NES. 

The decision to not exercise the Option to extend now requires a joint review of Community 
Service delivery models to be undertaken by the newly formed Integrated Care Board and 
the Council.   

 
13.   B&NES NEW LOCAL PLAN LAUNCH (Pages 37 - 150) 

 The preparation of a new Local Plan for B&NES provides the opportunity for the 
Council to look afresh at its planning policy framework for the district. As this is a 
long-term plan (20 years), and because the Local Plan is the Council’s primary tool 
for place shaping and the basis of decision-making on development and the use of 
land, the Council needs to ensure the Plan is sufficiently ambitious to deliver the 
Council’s priorities and is responsive to local community concerns.  In particular, the 
new Local Plan will play a key role in helping to deliver the Council’s priorities in 
responding to the climate and ecological emergencies. 

The preparation of the Local Plan will commence with the publication of a Launch 
Document in September 2022.   The Launch Document will outline the purpose, 
scope and timetable of the Local Plan and how communities and stakeholders can 
be involved. 

 
14.   DEVELOPMENT UPDATE: LAND TO REAR OF 89 – 123 ENGLISHCOMBE LANE, 

SOUTHDOWN, BATH (Pages 151 - 160) 

 In 2018 the Council submitted a planning application to develop 37 homes, including 
14 affordable homes, on land to the rear of 89 – 123 Englishcombe Lane, 



Southdown, Bath.  The Planning Committee approved the application subject to 
conditions.  Due to concerns, principally around potential risk to the on-site ecology, 
the administration decided not to pursue the application.   

Officers were tasked with investigating whether a smaller scheme could be 
developed that provides local community housing whilst being sympathetic and 
supportive to the existing site ecology.  Following concept design, option appraisal 
and initial business case this report proposes such a scheme for further detailed 
development work. 

 
15.   LIVEABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS UPDATE REPORT (Pages 161 - 168) 

 The Bath and North East Somerset Liveable Neighbourhoods programme aims to 
rethink how street space is used, to prioritise people, make it safer to move around 
actively, and enable more people to make journeys on foot, by bike or wheeling. 
Over time, this will reduce car journeys, and so cut road congestion for those with no 
alternative but to travel by car.  

In line with the adopted Low Traffic Neighbourhood Strategy, the specific 
interventions in each neighbourhood will be decided following public consultation and 
co-design with communities. To enable the project to maintain its current timetable 
and deliver maximum benefit and value to the community as soon as possible, it is 
considered necessary to request to delegate to the Lead Member for Sustainable 
Transport and Directors of Place Management and Sustainable Communities, in 
consultation with Cabinet members and ward councillors, the decision to implement 
specific interventions in each location following public consultation. 

  
  
The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Marie Todd who can be contacted on  
01225 394414. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1

These minutes are draft until 
confirmed as a correct record at 
the next meeting. 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET 
 
CABINET 
 
Thursday, 14th July, 2022 
 
 

 

 
Present: 
Councillor Kevin Guy (Ch) Leader of the Council, Liberal Democrat Group Leader 
Councillor Tim Ball Cabinet Member for Planning and Licensing 
Councillor Tom Davies Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Council House 

Building 
Councillor Manda Rigby Cabinet Member for Transport 
Councillor Dine Romero Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, 

Communities 
Councillor Sarah Warren Deputy Council Leader and Cabinet Member for Climate 

and Sustainable Travel 
Councillor David Wood Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
  
   
  
9    WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 
The Chair, Cllr Kevin Guy, welcomed everyone to the meeting.  

  
10    EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
The Chair drew attention to the evacuation procedure as set out in the agenda.  

  
11    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Alison Born and Richard Samuel.  
The Leader explained that Cllr Richard Samuel is currently recuperating having 
suffered a severe stroke and the Cabinet wished him a swift recovery.  

  
12    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest.  

  
13    TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

 
There was no urgent business.  

  
14    QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS 

 
There were 36 questions from Councillors and no questions from members of the 
public. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



 
2

[Copies of the questions and responses, including supplementary questions and 
responses if any, have been placed on the Minute book as Appendix 1 and are 
available on the Council's website.]  

  
15    STATEMENTS, DEPUTATIONS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Members of the public made statements as follows: 
 

  Ms Jenny Newman (a copy of which is attached as Appendix 2 to these 
minutes).  Ms Newman also presented a petition containing 521 signatures 
requesting that the Council restores the ponds and streams in The Royal 
Victoria Park, Bath. 
 

  A statement was read out on behalf of Ms Shiva Page (and attached as read 
at Appendix 3 to these minutes). That statement was in accordance with Rule 
31 of the Executive Procedure Rules (“A submission under this rule will not be 
accepted if it is about a matter which has already been lodged with the 
Council or with another statutory body as a formal complaint") as Ms Page 
had originally been advised that three paragraphs would be removed from her 
statement as their subject matter related to live formal complaints.  A decision 
was subsequently made to allow Ms Page to include these paragraphs if she 
wished but she decided against this.  (For completeness a copy of the omitted 
paragraphs is attached as Appendix 4 to these minutes). 

  
  
16    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS CABINET MEETINGS 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings be confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair: 
 
Cabinet Meeting – 5 May 2022 
Special Cabinet Meeting – 26 May 2022  

  
17    CONSIDERATION OF SINGLE MEMBER ITEMS REQUISITIONED TO CABINET 

 
There were none.  

  
18    MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES 

 
There were none.  

  
19    SINGLE MEMBER CABINET DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS CABINET 

MEETING 
 
The Cabinet agreed to note the report.  

  
 

Page 8



 
3

20    BATH CLEAN AIR PLAN ANNUAL REPORT 2021 
 
Cllr Sarah Warren introduced the report, moved the officer recommendation and 
made the following statement: 

“Air pollution is estimated to cause around 80 deaths a day across the UK, with 
approximately 80 per year in Bath and North East Somerset. Bath’s Clean Air Zone 
was the first such charging zone outside London, when it was introduced on 15th 
March 2021, and is designed to tackle high atmospheric levels of the dangerous 
pollutant nitrogen dioxide, which largely originates from traffic in our city, and affects 
the health of our most vulnerable residents. The aim of the zone is to bring annual 
nitrogen dioxide levels below the legal limit value of 40 g/m3, by deterring the most 
polluting vehicles from entering the city centre. 

Tonight, we are considering the 2021 annual report on air quality, vehicle 
compliance, and traffic displacement, which covers the calendar year 2021, the first 
calendar year during which the Clean Air Zone was live. 

During the year, we saw overall traffic levels return from lockdown to pre-covid levels 
in the city, with light goods vehicles reaching 112% and heavy goods vehicles 110% 
of their pre-covid numbers, owing to pandemic-related changes in shopping patterns. 
Over this period, we have also seen business thriving, with footfall in the city’s shops 
returning close to pre-pandemic levels by the end of the year.  

A key purpose of the zone is to encourage the upgrade of the most polluting 
vehicles, and we were able to make substantial funds available through grants and 
interest-free finance to support this. As at the end of December, some 722 of the 
most polluting vehicles had been replaced through this route, rising to 859 by the end 
of May this year.  

Throughout much of 2021, we saw dramatic changes to traffic flows around the city 
centre arising not only from lockdown, but also from the complete closure of 
Cleveland Bridge, which normally carries some 17,000 vehicles per day. We have, of 
course, been monitoring roads around the CAZ carefully to establish whether there is 
evidence of the displacement of traffic from the zone, wherever the public have 
expressed concern, as early modelling of the CAZ suggested displacement might be 
possible. The analysis of this data so far shows no ongoing significant displacement 
impacts due to the introduction of the scheme. However, monitoring will continue at 
some of these sites for some time, as traffic flows settle down following the various 
disruptions of the last couple of years.  

Notwithstanding recent changes to traffic flow, the really great news is that overall, 
air quality continues to improve both within and outside the zone, with average 
reductions in nitrogen dioxide levels of 21% inside, 22% in the urban area outside 
the zone, and 18% in the rest of Bath & North East Somerset over the year, 
compared to the calendar year 2019 before the pandemic. By the end of 2021, we 
observed that over 90% of HGVs and taxis, 100% of scheduled bus services, and 
80% of vans driving in the zone were compliant. 

Page 9



 
4

Despite these significant improvements, we are seeing 3 locations with readings still 
fractionally above legal limits of nitrogen dioxide, and we wait to hear from the 
Government’s Joint Air Quality Unit whether or not we can be said, in their terms, to 
have “achieved success”. But even these three sites have shown huge improvement, 
with Dorchester Street down from nitrogen dioxide readings of above 70, as recently 
as 2015, to 40.5 last year. 

And, having progressed our zone despite the pandemic, at a time when some other 
authorities have balked, Bath and North East Somerset is now regarded as a 
national leader on this hugely important issue so important to our residents’ health. 
Our officers and councillors are now being invited to speak in national forums to 
share our experiences and achievements introducing the zone, so we are now 
putting Bath and North East Somerset on the map for clean, rather than polluted air. 

The zone generated £5.6m during 2021, and by the end of March this year, the 
future costs of the scheme had been covered, with additional income being allocated 
to sustainable transport initiatives, helping to provide practical and affordable 
alternatives to the car.  

I am delighted with the substantial progress we have made here in Bath and want to 
thank everyone who has gone to the trouble and expense of upgrading their vehicle 
or changing their travel behaviour. However, we know there is no safe level of air 
pollution, and that’s why I am ambitious to achieve more. 

The World Health Organisation released new tighter guidelines last year on safe 
levels of six pollutants, and I immediately wrote to the Minister to urge their rapid 
adoption into UK law, combined with adequate advice, powers and financial support 
for councils in tackling them.  

That’s why, despite the substantial progress we have already made here in B&NES, 
we are not complacent, we are still ambitious to go further in support of the health of 
our residents and of the environment. We are increasingly thinking of clean air 
alongside our net zero commitment, because these objectives are aligned in so 
many ways. The Clean Air Zone is but one tool - our wider plans to give more people 
more practical options so that they can leave their cars at home more of the time are 
outlined in our Journey to Net Zero plan published earlier this year.  

And that’s why this evening we are asking officers to develop new local targets for air 
quality for B&NES that are more ambitious than those currently set by national 
Government.  

In the papers this evening, a potential annual average target of 36 mg/m3 for 
nitrogen dioxide by 2025 is proposed for further consideration. This figure is currently 
breached at 7 monitoring locations in the city (including the 3 still above 40). Officers 
will be doing further work to establish feasibility in establishing this target, but we 
intend to adopt these in the coming months.  

Page 10



 
5

And we don’t see this as the end of the road either - we expect to see year on year 
improvement in air quality, and to raise our ambition in line with that, as we see the 
transport transition unfolding across our district.  

We are also asking officers to increase our monitoring of another important 
dangerous, traffic-related pollutant, particulates, as although we are compliant with 
current national limits, we would like to develop our understanding, with a view to 
making improvements in this area of air quality as well. 

I would like to finish by thanking officers for their hard work monitoring the impacts of 
the zone so closely, and compiling the data into this annual report, which permits 
close public examination of our progress on this important public health measure. 
We clearly need to keep both air quality and potential traffic displacement under 
close review. We await government’s assessment of the extent to which we are 
achieving success very shortly.” 

Cllr Manda Rigby seconded the motion and made the following statement: 

“Cllr Warren highlighted this in her speech, but I think it’s worth emphasising that the 
rationale behind the Bath Clean Air Zone is to reduce toxic air pollution. Nitrogen 
Dioxide is a health risk to everyone and is particularly dangerous for children and 
vulnerable people. 

This is the first annual report for the Clean Air Zone’s first calendar year. It’s a 
cautious assessment, recognising that we always need more data. But I welcome the 
headline findings, showing the CAZ is working to reduce nitrogen dioxide pollution 
and to increase the proportion of compliant vehicles (benefiting a much wider area as 
of course these cleaner vehicles don’t just travel in Bath). All this despite traffic 
returning to normal levels following the pandemic.  

This report illustrates both the challenge and the opportunity of being the first Council 
outside London to deliver a charging Clean Air Zone. 

The challenge because we are the trailblazers, and everyone is looking to us to get 
this right. We are developing the precedents, so to speak, that all other Clean Air 
Zones will rely on. We’re testing the methodology and developing the working 
relationships with the Joint Air Quality Unit – a government department supported by 
both DEFRA and DfT. B&NES is very much being seen as a national leader – 
demonstrated by the invitations we receive to share our experience at national 
forums.  

And this gives B&NES the opportunity to continue to lead the way. At the start, in 
2019, the goal of the zone was to comply with the ministerial direction. But 
compliance isn’t an end point- it’s really just the beginning. The science around air 
quality is continually developing, with new guidelines from the WHO as Sarah 
mentioned. And more cities are implementing clean air zones – indeed these will 
become the norm across urban areas, as we recognise the improvements in public 
health which can be brought about by these schemes B&NES has the opportunity to 

Page 11



 
6

stay at the leading edge and set new goals. We want to be ambitious. To build on the 
progress from the Clean Air Zone. 

That’s why we’re working on a more ambitious local nitrogen dioxide target and we’re 
focussing on providing more information to the public about the issue of particulate 
pollution alongside. That’s why we urged the government to go further and set more 
ambitious targets. All the work we are doing around sustainable transport and 
tackling the climate emergency is aligned with the overarching goal of the CAZ – to 
protect public health – and I think it’s right that we should be ambitious in this area. If 
nothing else, the pandemic has shown us the true value of health. 

I’m proud of the hard work of our team in successfully implementing the Clean Air 
Zone. I’m proud of the difference it’s already making. And I’m proud that we are 
aspiring to go further and protect our residents’ health even more.” 

Cllr Dine Romero stated: 
“I am pleased that since I raised the issue of displaced traffic being rerouted onto 
roads in Southdown, in particular Whiteway Road monitoring of the volume and type 
of traffic has taken place. I am even more pleased to note that further monitoring is to 
be expected on this stretch of road. I look forward to hearing more on any mitigation 
measures that will be put in as a result of this data collection, perhaps the cabinet 
member might know when such discussions will take place, and whether they could 
they be linked to the discussions around measures which might be considered for 
Mount Road, under the heading of Liveable Neighbourhoods, since changes on one 
road will have an impact on a parallel one. 

(The other issue I have previously raised around speeding is being dealt with 
separately).”  

RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
(1) To note the Annual report and the ongoing progress which has been made 

towards achieving reductions in nitrogen dioxide levels both within and on the 
boundary of the CAZ, which has been realised by the scheme increasing the 
proportion of compliant, less polluting vehicles driving in and around the city. 

(2) To note the continued performance of the CAZ against the scheme’s financial 
model, ensuring it covers its costs of operation and avoids placing an additional 
burden on the Council and local taxpayers. In addition, note that surplus revenue 
is now being targeted towards sustainable transport projects as laid out in the full 
business case for the scheme. 

(3) To note the statement from the Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) on their 
assessment of the scheme towards achieving success with the Ministerial 
Directions which have been served upon the council. 

(4) In line with recommendation 3 of E3322 and Minute 1.5 of E3326, to note that 
further work to develop and implement a local nitrogen dioxide objective level will 
be continued. 

Page 12



 
7

(5) To recommend that officers explore options for enhancing the capability to 
monitor particulate matter pollution within Bath and North East Somerset.  

 
  
21    YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2022-23 

 
Cllr Dine Romero introduced the report, moved the officer recommendation and 
made the following statement: 
 
“As you will know the Local Authority has a statutory duty to produce an annual youth 
justice plan which is submitted to the national board.  

The main objective of the youth justice system is to prevent offending by 10–17-year-
olds.  

The plan before you has been drawn together with input from the multi-agency team 
including police, social services, education, probation and health.  

These partners have a shared responsibility not only for the plan itself and the part 
they play within it but for resourcing the youth offending service. The council pays the 
most, 54% of the budget. We are reliant on core national funding from ministry of 
justice and as far as I am aware we’re still waiting the actual sign off but have been 
told it won’t be less than before 

In terms of how well we are doing again at the statutory purpose, the Youth 
Offending Service worked with 89 out of 36.7k children in B&NES in 2022 which is 
fewer than in previous years but there is concern that opportunities to intervene may 
have been missed and more children may enter the formal justice system in the 
future as a result.  

Despite such low numbers and like many other places across the country a greater 
proportion of those entering the youth justice system are from black backgrounds, 
and as you will recall from my answer to Councillor Kumar earlier, the board are 
proactively looking at how we can increase representation on the board, and also 
within partner organisations to understand better why this is the case. 

There is much more that I could draw your attention to but hope having read the plan 
cabinet are happy to endorse the plan, to appreciate the work that has gone into 
drawing it up, and finally but most importantly be supportive of the child first principle 
that is underpinning work in the youth justice system locally and nationally.” 
 
Cllr Tim Ball seconded the motion and stressed the importance of keeping children 
out of the youth justice system and out of trouble.  He also highlighted the need to 
recognise conditions such as autism, ADHD and poor mental health.  He thanked all 
those working with children in the Youth Justice system and those working to prevent 
children from entering the system in the first place. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously):  To recommend approval of the Youth Justice Plan to 
full Council, conditional on satisfactory confirmation of the budget. 
 

  
 
 
 

Page 13



 
8

22    HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE - NEW GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
Cllr Kevin Guy introduced the report, moved the officer recommendation and made 
the following statement: 

“The report before you outlines the new, statutory, governance arrangements for 
health and social care in B&NES. These arrangements came into force on 1 July and 
stem from the new Health and Care Act.  

Under the new arrangements, an Integrated Care System (ICS) – known as BSW 
Together – is replacing our previous partnership arrangements. The new ICS covers 
the three local authority areas of B&NES, Swindon and Wiltshire. It gives us the 
opportunity to build on our strong track record of working with local health services, 
developed over the last few years, with an overall goal of delivering integrated 
services, improving health outcomes and reducing inequalities.  

The BSW Together partnership is made up of local health and care organisations 
including Councils, hospitals, GPs, mental health service providers, an ambulance 
trust, community health providers and voluntary organisations. They will all work 
together to plan and organise the delivery of health and care services and are 
committed to giving local people and communities a louder voice in how services are 
provided. 

A new Integrated Care Board will replace the previous Clinical Commissioning Group 
across Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire. The Board and take 
the lead on planning and coordinating how £1.5 billion of health and care services 
are delivered. 

The Integrated Care Partnership will develop strategy for health and social care and 
the Integrated Care Alliance will be a local ‘delivery mechanism’ setting and 
overseeing delivery of strategy at Bath & North East Somerset level.   

We are asked to agree the Council’s participation in the Integrated Care System, 
approve proposals for the Council’s representation on the new structures, as laid out 
in the report, and endorse the overall governance arrangements.  

These new arrangements provide an opportunity to work even more closely with our 
partners and our communities to provide the services that people need, further to 
integrate health and social care, and to tackle health inequalities. They also provide 
greater opportunities for preventative work to improve residents’ health, helping 
people stay healthy and independent for longer. They align closely with our overall 
corporate purpose of ‘improving people’s lives’.  

I would like to thank our Council officers and Councillor Alison Born for their hard 
work.” 

Cllr Dine Romero seconded the motion and made the following statement: 

Page 14



 
9

“I am happy to second this paper, and support of the formation of the Integrated Care 
Board. As an area we have a strong track record of working with partners especially 
the local health services. This new arrangement should be even more beneficial for 
our residents provide the services they need but also as we will be able to 
collaborate more closely, we will have greater opportunities to integrate health and 
social care, address inequalities and in the longer term delay the need some may 
have of these services.” 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
(1) To agree that the Council participates in the Integrated Care System (ICS) 

for Bath, Swindon & Wiltshire and to ensure appropriate representation on 
the various committees which make up the ICS. 

(2) To request the Leader of the Council to make the appropriate nominations 
for councillors to sit on the committees making up the ICS. 

(3) To authorise the Chief Executive Officer to nominate Officers (including 
himself) to: 

  Sit on the Integrated Care Board and to represent the Council on said 
Board including the making of decisions that require financial 
expenditure on the part of the Council provided such expenditure is 
within budgets agreed by Full Council; and 

  Sit on the sub-committee of the Integrated Care Board established to 
make placed-based decisions as may be required to ensure that the 
Council is appropriately and fully represented in accordance with the 
constitutional documents of said sub-committee. 

(4) To agree the overall governance arrangements set out in Appendix 1 of the 
report. 

 
  
23    REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2021/22 

 
Cllr Tom Davies introduced the report and moved the officer recommendation.  He 
stated that this has been one of the most challenging and unpredictable years and 
that it is a huge testament to the strong financial leadership provided by Cllr Richard 
Samuel and the Council’s senior officers that the report presents a £4m favourable 
result for the last financial year.  This was the second year of the Covid pandemic 
and there was considerable pressure on the budgets for both adult and children’s 
services.   The favourable position enables the Council to build resilience for this and 
future years so that investments can be made in services to improve the lives of all 
B&NES residents.  For example, £2.7m will be invested to provide the Park and Ride 
service and the strong position will also help the Council to manage the extraordinary 
increase in energy prices without impacting on services.  He also thanked Andy 
Rothery, Chief Finance Officer, and the finance team for producing such clear and 
transparent reports.  Sound financial management enables the Council to remain 
resilient in the face of current challenges and to continue to invest in the priorities of 
residents. 
 

Page 15



 
10

Cllr Manda Rigby seconded the motion. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
(1) To note the revenue budget outturn on budget position for 2021/22, after 

allowing for carry forwards and transfers to reserves. 

(2) To approve the revenue carry forward proposals listed in the tables in 
paragraph 3.30 of the report. 

(3) To approve that all other over budgets are written-off as an exception to the 
Budget Management Rules for 2021/22. 

(4) To approve the transfer of £4.03m to corporate earmarked reserves, the 
breakdown of which is detailed in paragraph 3.31 of the report. 

(5) To note the revenue virements for 2021/22 reported for information in Appendix 
2(i) of the report. 

(6) To note the reserve positions and the use of flexible capital receipts shown in 
paragraphs 3.40-3.43 of the report. 

(7) To note the outturn position of the 2021/22 capital programme in paragraph 
3.52, and the funding outlined in paragraph 3.54 of the report. 

(8) To approve the capital rephasing and write-off of net underspends as listed in 
Appendix 3 of the report. This reflects the outturn spend position on projects 
against final budgets as detailed in Appendix 4(ii) of the report. 

 
  
24    REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING, CASH LIMITS AND VIREMENTS 

– APRIL TO JUNE 2022 
 
Cllr Tom Davies introduced the report and moved the officer recommendation.  He 
thanked the finance team for presenting this information in such a timely manner.  He 
highlighted the challenges faced by the Council and, in particular, the forecast for a 
£2.3m overspend in children’s services due to staffing pressures and the high cost of 
placements.  The fact that this information is being presented now will enable officers 
and Cabinet Members to manage the situation and the Cabinet will continue to 
monitor this very closely.  This is a particularly challenging time to manage and 
provide core services.  The combinations of Brexit, the Covid pandemic, the war in 
Ukraine and the failure of the Government to provide appropriate funding to local 
authorities have placed enormous pressure on Councils.  He highlighted the 
investment plans set out in the capital programme including improvements to 
Midsomer Norton High Street, the Radstock Healthy Living Centre, Bath Quays 
North and the further development of the Bath Western Riverside and the final 
element of the Sydney Gardens project. 
 
Cllr Sarah Warren seconded the motion and made the following statement: 

“Continued financial resilience here at the council allows us to invest in our capital 
projects, such as the site redevelopment of Pixash recycling centre, with its 
exceptionally strong sustainability credentials; our liveable neighbourhoods 
programme that aims to make residential areas safer to move around on foot and by 

Page 16



 
11

bike; and the refurbishment of Cleveland Bridge. Thanks of course should go to not 
only to Cllr Samuel and his team for their ongoing excellent management of the 
budget in these very unpredictable times; and of course, to Cllr Davies for picking up 
this work at short notice and bringing forward these papers.” 

Cllr Tim Ball noted the importance of future investment in Council services and the 
excellent financial prudence demonstrated by Cllr Richard Samuel and the finance 
team. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 

(1) To note the 2022/23 revenue budget position (as at the end of June 
2022). 

(2) To note the revenue virements listed for information only in Appendix 3(i) 
of the report. 

(3) To note the capital year-end forecast detailed in paragraph 3.21 of the 
report. 

(4) To note the changes in the capital programme including capital schemes 
that have been agreed for full approval under delegation listed in 
Appendix 4(i) of the report. 

 
  
25    TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2021/22 

 
Cllr Tom Davies introduced the report and moved the officer recommendation.  He 
noted the excellent position of the Council and stated that the excellent cashflow 
management had led to savings of over £1m.  Investments regularly performe above 
the relevant benchmark.  The two EFG investments have been particularly 
successful providing above average returns.  The Council is in a strong position with 
regard to its treasury management. 
 
Cllr Wood seconded the motion. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 

(1) To note the Treasury Management Report to 31 March 2022, prepared in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Code of Practice. 

(2) To note the Treasury Management Indicators to 31 March 2022. 
 

  
26    TREASURY MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT TO 30TH JUNE 2022 

 
Cllr Tom Davies introduced the report and moved the officer recommendation.  He 
pointed out that the two EFG funds are performing well.  The Council is now starting 
to receive some extra income due to the increase in interest rates.  He thanked 
officers for their hard work in relation to treasury management.   
 
Cllr Kevin Guy seconded the motion. 

Page 17



 
12

 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
(1) To note the Treasury Management Report to 30 June 2022, prepared in 

accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Code of Practice. 

(2) To note the Treasury Management Indicators to 30 June 2022. 
 

  
27    QUARTER 4 YEAR END 2020/21 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 
Cllr Kevin Guy introduced the report, moved the officer recommendation and 
highlighted the following achievements of the administration which have been 
possible due to strong financial management: 
 

  Building a new state of the art recycling hub 
  Investing £14m to improve and maintain highways 
  17,894 calls received by the Community Wellbeing Hub 
  Developing 6 new residents’ parking zones 
  A reduction of 66% in carbon emissions from Council buildings since 2010 
  Investing over £900k in cleaner green neighbourhoods 
  Recruiting more foster carers 
  3.100 new homes including 700 affordable homes in the last 3 years 
  Allocating more than £38m over the next 5 years to drive down carbon 

emissions 
  33,000 trees planted on Council and private land since 2020 
  Building the first ever Council homes for a generation 

 
He thanked all Council staff and Cabinet members for their hard work in delivering 
these achievements. 
 
Cllr Tom Davies seconded the motion.  He stated that the report contains a vast 
amount of interesting information about the work of the Council which demonstrates 
how much is going on. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
(1) To note progress on the delivery of key aspects of the Council’s service 

delivery, details of which are highlighted in section 3.6 and Annex 1 of the 
report. 
 

(2) To note the level of service activity for 2021/22 highlighted in the infographic 
presentation at Annex 2 of the report. 

  
  The meeting ended at 7.20 pm  
  
Chair  
  
Date Confirmed and Signed  
  
Prepared by Democratic Services 

Page 18



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

Cabinet Single-Member Decisions and Responses to 
Recommendations from PDS Panels 

published from 6 July 2022 until 30 August 2022 
Further details of each decision can be seen on the Council's Single-member Decision Register at 

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&dm=3   
 

Grant for Cleveland Pools Trust 
Contribution towards the costs to complete refurbishment of Cleveland Pools. 
 
Decision Maker: Council Leader 
Decision published: 11/08/2022 
Effective from: 19/08/2022 
 
Decision: 
To fully approve £340k for Cleveland Pools Trust being funded from the Council’s 
corporate capital contingency budget. 
 
Wards affected: Bathwick; 
Lead officer: Maria Newton 

 

Approach Pitch and Putt Golf Course Procurement 
Bath and North East Somerset Council has undertaken a market engagement 
exercise to both alert the market to the potential upcoming procurement process, 
and to assist with the development of tender documentation to find a new operator of 
the Approach Pitch and Putt Golf Course. 
 
There appears to be adequate interest from the supplier market to continue with the 
procurement process as planned and a Single Member Decision is required to move 
to Stage 2 and allocate resource. 
 
Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
Decision published: 11/08/2022 
Effective from: 19/08/2022 
 
Decision: 
To move to Stage 2 of the procurement process to find a new operator for the 
Approach Pitch and Putt Golf Course. 
 
Wards affected: (All Wards) 
Lead officer: Martin Pellow 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 11

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&dm=3
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1757
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1758


Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund Scheme 
A Discretionary scheme to provide financial support for rising energy costs. 
 
Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Council House Building 
Decision published: 28/07/2022 
Effective from: 05/08/2022 
 
Decision: 
The Cabinet Member agrees to introduce the Energy Rebate Discretionary scheme 
as set out in the document Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund Policy.  
 
Wards affected: (All Wards) 
Lead officer: Damien Peak 
 

 

Bath West Children's Centre Service Procurement 
The Bath West Children’s Centre Service is a key part of the Early Help offer for 
Bath and North East Somerset. The contract expires at the end of March 2023, but it 
was recommended to extend for a further year until March 2024 before considering 
the future longer term tender options to allow sufficient time to ensure the future 
children’s centre service aligns with emerging national key policies and areas of 
work, such as Family Hubs and SEND Review, to ensure that the Council goes out 
to tender for the right service. 
 
Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, Communities 
and Culture 
Decision published: 27/07/2022 
Effective from: 04/08/2022 
 
Decision: 
The Cabinet Member agrees that the Bath West Children’s Centre service contract 
shall be awarded to the current provider (Action for Children) for a further year from 
1st April 2023 until 31st March 2024. 
 
Wards affected: Moorlands; Twerton 
Lead officer: Ellie Weyman 
 

 

Household Support Fund from 1 April 2022 
To delegate responsibility to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Economic Development and Resources, on how the Household Support 
Fund for 2022 and subsequent periods should be allocated. 
 
Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Adult Services and Council House Building 
Decision published: 21/07/2022 
Effective from: 29/07/2022 

Page 20

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1754
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1752
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1743


 
 
Decision: 
The Cabinet Member agrees to delegate responsibility for decisions on how the 
Council’s Household Support Fund grant allocation should be used, to the S151 
Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Resources, including subsequent iterations of the scheme and similar grants. 
 
Wards affected: (All Wards) 
Lead officer: Damien Peak 

 
  
     

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Printed on recycled paper

 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Cabinet  

 
EXECUTIVE 
FORWARD PLAN 
REFERENCE: 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

8th September 2022 
E 3393 

TITLE: Community Services Design – Update Position 

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report:  

Appendix 1 List of Services included in HCRG Care Group Community Services Contract B&NES 

Appendix 2 Programme and Governance Structure (Draft) 

Appendix 3 New Governance Arrangements for Health & Social Care 
 

 
 
1. THE ISSUE 

1.1 Following the second options appraisal jointly conducted by the Council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group (Bath & North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire Integrated Care 
Board as of 1st July 2022, referred to as ICB) decisions were taken by both the Cabinet and 
CCG Governing Body on 26th May 2022 to not extend the contract term for the three year 
period (Option 3) with HCRG Care Group for the delivery of Community Services in B&NES. 

1.2 The decision to not exercise the Option now requires a joint review of Community Service 
delivery models to be undertaken by the newly formed Integrated Care Board and the Council.  
Future delivery models of the services in scope will include consideration of the in-sourcing of 
adult social care services and council commissioned services, including public health services, 
alongside procurement options for health and public health services. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

Cabinet is asked to: 

2.1 Note the work undertaken since the decisions on 26th May 2022 not to exercise the Option to 
extend. 

2.2 Consider the outline Community Service Transformation Programme proposed structure as 
set out in section 3.2 of the report. 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 12



Printed on recycled paper

2.3  Require a full business case for the future operating model for B&NES Community Health 
and Care Services be prepared and a further report be brought to the February 2023 Cabinet 
for a decision on the new model of delivery for Community Services in B&NES. 

2.4 Require as part of the November 2022 report to Cabinet a decision on the future adult social 
care and commissioned services operating model. 

2.5 Delegated responsibility to deliver the new model to the Director of Adult Social Services in 
consultation with the lead Cabinet member for Adult Social Services and within allocated 
resources. 

3. THE REPORT  

3.1 Background 

3.1.1Full information in relation to the issue and required background information can be found in 
the 26th May 2022 report to cabinet – HCRG Care Group Options Appraisal in section 1 and 
3 of the main report. See Link 

3.1.2 Because of the 26th May 2022 decisions taken by Cabinet and Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) Governing Body to not exercise the Option to extend the Community Services contract 
between B&NES Council, ICB and HCRG Care Group the contract will cease on 31st March 
2024 and a new model of service delivery is required as of 1st April 2024 for the B&NES area. 

3.2 Update Position 

3.2.1 Phase One – Programme Planning (June 2022 to November 2022) 

  A working group is already in place between the Council and ICB which has reviewed the 
services within scope of the Contract (Appendix 1) and where they will be best delivered 
within the health and social system. This group has developed the proposed Community 
Service Transformation Programme structure (Appendix 2) 

  In September a formal overarching Community Services Transformation Board will be 
created to provide oversight for three change programme workstreams.  The Board will have 
representation from the ICB and the Council. This Board will explore opportunities within the 
Integrated Care System to deliver services on a broader BSW footprint where it would benefit 
the local population and provide increased opportunities for service resilience.  The Board 
will ensure we achieve the right balance between delivery at scale and delivery to meet 
specific local need and maximise the benefits for the B&NES population 
 

  The Community Services Transformation Programme proposes three change programme 
workstreams for the ICB and the Council to oversee and to deliver the safe transition of 
existing services to the new delivery model: 

1. Programme 1 will cover Adult Social Care (ASC) redesign to make a recommendation 
on the future ASC operating model.  In addition, this programme will develop a model for 
the future commissioning of the community partners. The Senior responsible officer for 
this programme is the Director of Adult Social Care 

2. Programme 2 will cover the future of commissioning Public Health services and review 
service specifications/performance. The Senior responsible officer for this programme is 
the Director of Public Health who will work closely with the Director of Children’s 
Services to ensure service interdependencies are taken into consideration for adults and 
children  

3. Programme 3 will develop the model of Community Based Integrated Care Services for 
adults and children and will take into consideration the BSW Care Model. Programme 3 

Page 24

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=6193


Printed on recycled paper

will be led by the ICB and will also take the opportunity to review service 
specifications/performance in advance of any changes to services and delivery 

  Additional project and programme management capacity will be identified to deliver the new 
Community Service Transformation Programme 

3.2.2 Next Steps – Phase One Planning and Engagement September 2022 

  From September 2022 there will be a monthly briefing to the lead member for Adult Social 
Care and the lead member for Public Health and Children and Young People Services 

  Officers of the Council and the ICB will develop recommendations for the future delivery 
model for Community Services in B&NES as of 1st April 2024 together with the new 
specification for health and public health services 

  On 30th August 2022 the ICB will receive a report that sets out the approach that is being 
developed across BSW to coordinate the development of integrated health services and to 
ensure that the future approach to contracting for these services is undertaken in a manner 
that is consistent with both the principles enshrined in the Health and Care Act and the 
upcoming Provider Selection Regime 

  An engagement event will be held on 29th September to update sub-contractors who 
presently report directly to HCRG Care Group, on the process and timescales and to receive 
feedback on key strategic priorities as HCRG Care Group services transition to the health 
and social care system. The engagement event will also confirm legislative changes and the 
impact on procurement. 3SG and Community Wellbeing Hub partners will be invited to attend 
the event 

3.2.3 Phase Two – Recommission Process September 2022 to March 2024 

  A high-level options appraisal will be present to November Cabinet on the proposed new 
models of delivery for Adult Social Care 

  The February 2023 Cabinet report will update on each of the three programmes on Adult 
Social Care, Public Health, and Community Based Integrated Care Services 

  Adult Social Care, Public Health and Community Partners will be presented to Cabinet 
supported by a business case to ensure Cabinet are assured of safe delivery of the transition 
of the service with the outline of the likely costs of the new model 

  A decision date in February 2023 ensures alignment between all commissioning bodies 

3.2.4 Phase Three – Service Improvement and Transformation April 2024 – March 2025 

  A key priority will be to ensure safe transfer of services to meet the needs of the B&NES 
population. This will be challenging due to the ambitious timescale for the Community 
Services Transformation programme, coupled with the transitional changes to the newly 
formed Integrated Care System but plans are in place for mitigation 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 Full information in relation to regulatory considerations can be found in the 26th May 2022 
report to Cabinet – HCRG Care Group Options Appraisal in section 4 of the report. 

4.2 Two statutory services were removed from the HCRG Care Group contract at the start of 
Year 6 (1st April 2022 – 31st March 2023) by mutual agreement with HCRG Care Group. 
These services are Strategic Adult Safeguarding which has been returned to the Council and 
Continuing Health Care has returned to the ICB. 

Page 25



Printed on recycled paper

4.3 There remains a need to ensure continuation of effective and robust contract monitoring and 
management of the existing B&NES Community Services contract held by HCRG Care 
Group until 31st March 2024.  To limit any new areas of dispute and reduce the risk of legal 
challenge or the provider serving notice on the contract, there will be no new services added 
to the contract and no modifications or removal of services from the contract, unless under 
exceptional circumstances and by mutual agreement with HCRG Care Group. This will apply 
for the remainder of the contract term, until 31st March 2024. 

4.4 Appendix 3 outlines the new governance arrangements for Health and Social Care. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 Additional capacity will be required for programme management as well as subject matter 
expertise to deliver the three programmes.  This will be met through a mixed model of 
procurement of professional services, investment in interim project roles, back filling current roles 
to release capacity to focus on this programme and utilisation of fixed term staff to fulfil specified 
activities to a defined brief.  The process to ensure sufficient project and programme 
management resource has now commenced. 

5.2 It is expected that the cost of mobilisation, safeguarding and safe service transition will cost 
the following over the life of the Community Services Design, and this will be subject to 
review as part of the programme planning process. 

Year  Estimated cost 
to deliver 
programme 

Year One 2022/23 £450,000 

Year Two 2023/24 £900,000 

   

5.3 Costs associated with the establishment of an ongoing delivery model of Social Care 
provision within the Council will be funded from the Social Care reserve. 

5.4 Programme management and transition costs that relate to services that are integrated with 
health will be managed through the programme governance set out in Appendix 2 with costs 
identified and charged accordingly with Social Care costs funded by the Council and Health 
costs funded by the ICB. 

5.5 Programme management and ongoing transformation costs from 2024/25 will be funded by 
the existing value within the HCRG Care Group contract following movement of resources as 
the contract ends. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A Community Services Transformation Programme risk register will be maintained to 
demonstrate robust assurance of risk management and mitigation actions. 

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 Diversity Impact Assessment (DIA) – this will be completed as part of the recommendations 
made to Cabinet on the new model of delivery for community services.  

7.2 Quality Impact Assessment - this will be completed as part of the recommendations made to 
cabinet on the new model of delivery for community services. 

 
Page 26



Printed on recycled paper

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 Officers do not expect any effect on the Council’s carbon footprint. 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 A full options paper will be brought to Cabinet in February 2023 for a decision to be taken on 
the future model of delivery for Community Services in B&NES. 

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 As joint commissioners of the B&NES Community Services contract the Council and ICB will 
continue to work in partnership to deliver the Community Services Transformation Programme 
and make recommendations on a new model of delivery for Community Services to Cabinet and 
the ICB. 

10.2 Refer to section 3.2.2 detailing the supplier engagement event planned for 29th September 
2022. 

Contact person  Suzanne Westhead – Director of Adult Social Care  

Background papers 26th May 2022 Options Appraisal Report – HCRG Care Group  

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative format 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



Appendix 1 Integrated Community Services Contract B&NES - HCRG Care Group 

SD Number Services for Adult Social Care 
Directly provided, Sub-

Contracted or both
Funding Source Key - Funding Source 

PD01 Adult Social Care Statutory Services - Statutory Service Direct
Council B&NES Council Council

SD02 Adult Carers Support Service Sub-Contract Council & BCF Public Health PH

SD14
Community Based Mental Health Pathways  (Community 

Links and MH Reablement direct, etc.)
Direct & Sub-Contract

Council, ICB & BCF Integrated Care Board ICB

SD20
Community Mental Health Services For Older Adults and 

Those With Dementia (Day centre service)
Sub-Contract

Council & ICB Better Care Fund BCF

SD23 Direct Payments Hub Direct & Sub-Contract
Council & ICB

SD27 Home From Hospital/Home Response Service Sub-Contract
Council, ICB & BCF

SD25 Extra Care Housing Sub-Contract
Council & BCF

SD28
Homelessness Prevention Pathway Services - Rural 

Floating Support
Sub-Contract

Council

SD29
Housing Related Support - Positive Accommodation and 

Support Pathway
Sub-Contract

Council

SD30 Independent Living Service Sub-Contract
Council & ICB

SD Number Services for Children - Health 
Directly provided, Sub-

Contracted or both
Funding Organisation

PD03 Looked after Children - Statutory Service Direct
ICB

SD07 Children’s Bladder and Bowel Service Direct
ICB

SD08 Children’s community nursing and psychology services Direct
ICB

SD09 Children's Continuing Care Service Direct
ICB

P
age 29



SD10 Children’s Learning Disability Service - delivered by PH Direct
ICB

SD12 Children's Speech and Language Therapy Service Direct
ICB

SD42 Children’s Community Audiology Service Direct
ICB

SD53 Youth Offending Service Nurse Direct
ICB

SD59 Community Paediatric Service Direct
ICB

SD No Services for Public Health
Directly provided, Sub-

Contracted or both
Funding Organisation

SD01 0-19 Public Health Nursing (linked to SD10/53) Direct
PH

SD16
Community Safety Equipment Children - Public Health 

Service
Sub-Contract

PH

SD32 Integrated Sexual Health Service Sub-Contract ICB & PH

SD39 NHS Health Checks Direct & Sub-Contract
PH

SD50 Substance Misuse Services Sub-Contract ICB, Council & PH

SD52 Wellness Direct & Sub-Contract
ICB, Council, BCF & 

PH

SD Number ICB & Council Services
Directly provided, Sub-

Contracted or both
Funding Organisation

SD31 Integrated Reablement Service Direct
Council, ICB & BCF

SD43 Adults with a Learning disability Direct
Council & ICB

SD Number Services for Adults - Health 
Directly provided, Sub-

Contracted or both
Funding Organisation

P
age 30



SD13 Adult Audiology (incl hearing therapy) Direct
ICB

SD15 Community Bladder and Bowel Service (Adults) Direct
ICB

SD17 Community Hospital Inpatients  Direct
ICB

SD19 Community Nursing (Adults) Inc District Nurses Direct
ICB

SD21 Community Pain Management Direct
ICB

SD22 Specialist Dementia Services Sub-Contract
ICB

SD24 End of life Care Sub-Contract ICB

SD26
Movement Disorders Clinic and Falls & Balance Service 

(Clara Cross)
Direct

ICB

SD35 Lymphedema Nursing Direct
ICB

SD38
Physiotherapy Outpatients and Primary Care Specialist 

Physiotherapy
Direct

ICB

SD40 Orthopaedic Interface Service Direct
ICB

SD46
Specialist Cardiac and Respiratory Services (Adults) - Heart 

Failure Nursing
Direct

ICB

SD47 Specialist Diabetes Services (Adults) - Diabetes Education Direct & Sub-Contract
ICB

SD48 Specialist Neurology and Stroke Services (Adults) Direct & Sub-Contract
ICB

SD49 Speech and Language Therapy (Adults) Direct
ICB

P
age 31



SD51 Urgent Care Facility at Paulton MIU Direct
ICB

SD54 Podiatry Direct
ICB

SD57 Tissue Viability Nurse Service Direct
ICB

SD58 Community IV Direct ICB

SD61 Falls Rapid Response Direct
BCF

P
age 32



 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Services Transformation Board (At Scale and Place) – strategic oversight meeting

Adult Health, Children’s Health, Public Health, Adult Social Care and Community Partners

Senior Responsible Officers ICB and Senior Responsible Officers Council

Programme - One

Adult Social Care Redesign & 
Community Partners

SRO – Suzanne Westhead 

(Scope – B&NES)

Programme - Two

Public Health 

SRO – Rebecca Reynolds

(Scope – B&NES)

Programme - Three

Community Based Integrated Care 
Services (Adults & Children’s)

SRO – Richard Smale and Laura Ambler 
/Mary Kearney-Knowles

(Scope - BSW)

 ASC Operating 
Model 

Lead & Project 
Manager 

B&NES Community Services Transformation Programme Structure and Governance

Integrated Care Board - 
Community Health Services 
Decisions

Future 
Commissioning

/Redesign

Lead & Project 
Manager 

 

Council Cabinet – Adult Social 
Care & Public Health Decisions

 

B&NES Council Assurance 

Senior Leadership Team

CMT

Business Change Hub 

 

Community 
Partners 

Operating 
Model

Lead & Project 
Manager 

 

Programme Management Group for delivery workstreams (At Scale and Place) – delivery oversight meeting 

Adult Health, Children’s Health, Public Health, Adult Social Care and Community Partners

Transformation Programme Leads for ICB and Council/Workstream Leads/Project Managers

Cross-cutting enabling functions:
o Workforce (HR/TUPE/Pensions) 
o IT/Systems
o Communications (Internal and External)
o Engagement
o Procurement
o Legal
o Finance
o Data and Performance
o Estates

Future 
Commissioning/ 

Redesign (Adults & 
Children’s)

Lead &

Project Manager 
Adult and Project 

Manager 
Children’s 

Review Service 
Specifications/
Performance 

Lead & Project 
Manager 

 

Review Service 
Specification/ 
Performance 

(Adults & 
Children’s) 

Lead &

Project Manager 
Adult and Project 

Manager 
Children’s 

All programmes and workstreams will explore the interdependencies for service delivery at place and scale

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 
Appendix 3 New Governance Arrangements for Health and Social Care  
 
The Health and Care Act 2022 (‘the Act’) has passed through the Parliamentary process. The 
Act creates the Integrated Care System (ICS) which has been established to ensure better 
integration between Health and Social Care with the aim being to improve the health and 
wellbeing of our communities across Bath & North East Somerset. The ICS operates on the 
established NHS governance footprint of Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire 
(BSW) and has 2 key components: 

1. Integrated Care Board (ICB) to manage commissioning of NHS services 

2. Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) is responsible for developing integrated 
strategies for the whole BSW population, covering health and social care to 
address the wider determinants of health and wellbeing 

A local delivery mechanism called the Integrated Care Alliance (ICA) will then operate on a Bath 
& North East Somerset level.  

Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

Integrated Care Boards will be introduced by the Act as of 1 July 2022 and will replace the current 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (‘CCG’s’). ICBs will be responsible for commissioning health and 
primary care services in the same way as CCGs are currently plus some additional areas 
currently reserved to NHS England. 

The local ICB for Bath & North East Somerset will also cover the local authority areas of Wiltshire 
and Swindon. ICBs form part of the new Integrated Care System (‘ICS’) which, it is hoped, will 
further empower local commissioning bodies to commission goods and services that are most 
relevant to their areas of operation. 

In accordance with Schedule 2 of the Act, the ICB must contain at least one local authority 
representative. The Act sets out that this representative will represent all local authorities within 
the ICB’s geographic area. These are however minimum requirements and it has been suggested 
by the current CCG (who are responsible for implementing the new constitutional arrangements 
for the ICB) that each of the three local authorities would be permitted to nominate a 
representative to sit on the ICB. The three local authorities have provisionally agreed, subject to 
Cabinet approval, to nominate their Chief Executive’s to sit on the ICB. 

Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 

A steering group comprising the Chair and Chief Executive of the ICS and the Leaders and Chief 
Executives of the three local authorities have met to begin scoping the work of the ICP. It will 
therefore take some time before a formal meeting of the ICP takes place. 

Local Sub-committee of the Integrated Care Board (Integrated Care Alliance – ICA) 

To support the empowerment of local communities, the new ICS would also call for a ‘placed-
based board’ to be established. Such a board will be established for each of the local authority 
areas within an ICB’s geographical area. As such, there will be a specific board for Bath & North 
East Somerset. Schedule 2 of the Act allows for the ICB to create sub-committees and allows for 
those sub-committees to be made up of non-ICB members. 

The purpose of the sub-committee is to set the local strategy and provide oversight to a further 
board that will be tasked with delivering the agreed strategy. Work is being undertaken to agree 
the terms of reference for the ICA.  

 
 
 

Page 35



 Outline Governance Arrangements 
 

Integrated Care Alliance:

Oversees local delivery of 
agreed strategy (HWB & ICP)

Rotating Chair – Council & NHS 

B&NES reps:
Cllr Allison Born

 Suzanne Westhead 
Mary Kearney-Knowles

Becky Reynolds

Integrated Care System

Integrated Care Board

NHS Body

Rep: Will Godfrey CX

Integrated Care Partnership

Develop BSW wide strategy for 
health & social care 

Rep: Cllr Kevin Guy/Cllr Allison 
Born

Will Godfrey CX 

Mandy Bishop COO

Health & Wellbeing Board

Sets local strategy to improve 
outcome for local population:

Chaired by Council

Page 36



Printed on recycled paper

 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/  Cabinet 
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 
MEETING  8th September 2022 

E3363 

TITLE: B&NES New Local Plan Launch 

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM/  

List of attachments to this report: 
Annex 1- The draft new Local Plan Launch Document 
Annex 2 - Local Development Scheme 2022 
Annex 3 – Draft Engagement Strategy 
Annex 4 – Statement of Community Involvement 

 
 
1.0 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The preparation of a new Local Plan for B&NES provides the opportunity for the 
Council to look afresh at its planning policy framework for the district. As this is a 
long-term plan (20 years), and because the Local Plan is the Council’s primary 
tool for place shaping and the basis of decision-making on development and the 
use of land, the Council needs to ensure the Plan is sufficiently ambitious to 
deliver the Council’s priorities and is responsive to local community concerns.  In 
particular, the new Local Plan will play a key role in helping to deliver the Council’s 
priorities in responding to the climate and ecological emergencies. 

1.2 The preparation of the Local Plan will commence with the publication of a Launch 
Document in September 2022.   The Launch Document will outline the purpose, 
scope and timetable of the Local Plan and how communities and stakeholders can 
be involved. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to agree; 

2.1 the new Local Plan Launch Document (Annex1) for publication   

2.2 the revised Local Development Scheme 2022 (Annex 2),  

2.3 the Engagement Strategy (Annex 3) for the preparation of the new Local 
Plan,  

Page 37

Agenda Item 13



Printed on recycled paper

2.4 the Statement of Community Engagement (Annex 4), and 

2.5 to delegate the authority to the Head of Planning, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning and Licensing, to make minor 
amendments and correct any errors to the above four documents before 
publication.  
 

3.0 THE REPORT 

The Launch document 
3.1  The draft launch document is attached as Annex 1. The launch document will 

initiate an ongoing programme of engagement with residents, communities, 
partners and stakeholders to develop the plan’s objectives, polices and proposals 
to inform the preparation of an options paper in the Autumn of 2023.  

Local Plan Priorities and Scope 
3.2 The council’s primary ambitions for the Local Plan, drawing from the Corporate 

Strategy, the One Shared Vision, and other key emerging strategies (such as the 
Economic Strategy and Heath & Wellbeing Strategy), are; 

   Responding to the challenge of the climate emergency and facilitating the 
goal of net zero carbon by 2030,  

  Establishing a transformational approach to protecting and enhancing 
nature, 

  Maximising delivery of affordable housing to respond to the district’s 
demographic, social and economic needs,  

   Creating the opportunity for the types of jobs that are needed in our 
communities and ensuring that there is the right type of space for 
businesses to grow 

3.3 The Local Plan will need to address a range of sometimes conflicting aims, and 
these tensions will need to be worked through as the plan progresses by having a 
clear understanding of the desired outcomes, assessing the relevant evidence, 
considering the alternative options and formulating policies and selecting 
development sites.  

 
3.4 Other issues in scope of the Local Plan are: 

  Maintaining a 5-year housing land supply and facilitating delivery of 
necessary type and scale of new homes to respond to the District’s social 
and economic needs, (students, key workers, HMOs, travellers, boat 
dwellers, self-build, homes for older people, supported accommodation for 
residents with health and social care needs) 

  Embedding an approach to transport and movement which facilitates 
behavioural change and the 15-minute neighbourhoods concept 

  Ensuring that new development is aligned with the necessary infrastructure, 
including community facilities and green infrastructure,  

Page 38



Printed on recycled paper

  Setting a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the 
historic environment  

  Protecting and enhancing the beauty of our heritage and environment 

  Delivering high quality development that supports vibrant, healthy, 
successful communities and addresses inequalities 

  Increasing renewable energy generation 

3.5 The Local Plan will also need to deliver national priorities and the Government has 
set challenging housing targets for local authorities to deliver. At the same time, 
the Council has ambitious objectives on addressing the climate and ecological 
emergencies and fostering good place making. Ensuring that these growth targets 
are accommodated in a sustainable way will be a significant challenge for B&NES 
and will require significant community involvement and effective internal cross-
service working. 

Timetable 
3.6 All Local Authorities are required by Government to have an up-to-date Local Plan 

and the new B&NES Local Plan needs to be in place as soon as possible to 
ensure that the Council’s planning framework is that which helps to deliver its 
priorities. The Plan will need to be adopted by 2025 to reduce vulnerability to 
speculative planning applications. The overall programme for the preparation of 
the Local Plan is summarised in the diagram below. 

3.7 Following the launch, the next key milestone for the Local Plan is the options 
consultation in the Autumn of 2023. This will entail a broad, but more formal public 
engagement on the key issues that need to be addressed and the spatial 
objectives that should drive the Plan and the range of alternative policies and sites 
to be considered. The Issue and Options consultation document will be informed 
by the ongoing informal conversations with the communities, partners and 
stakeholders from September 2022 to August 2023. 

 

New Local Plan Preparation timetable 

 

 
Plan Period 

3.8 Whilst there is some flexibility in the length of the period that plans cover, national 
policy requires that plans must cover a period of at least 15 years post adoption. 

Page 39



Printed on recycled paper

This would require that the B&NES Local Plan covers the period to 2040 but it 
would be wise to include an element of buffer. In any case plans must be reviewed 
at regular intervals (at least 5 yearly) to make sure they remain up-to-date. 
 

4.0 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.2  The process for the preparation of local plans is primarily set out in the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) (the 2004 Act) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (the 2012 
Regulations, national planning policy (the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019) and national guidance (National Planning Practice Guidance). Other 
legislation is also relevant such as the Environment Act 2022. The Council must 
produce a Local Plan that is sound. The Planning Acts require that planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with Development Plan (which 
includes Neighbourhood Plans) unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
4.3 Under the 2012 Regulations, the Launch Document will commence the initial 

consultation required by Regulation 18 of plan preparation, i.e. informal 
engagement. Section 17(6) and Section 13(2) of the 2004 Act require that Local 
Planning Authorities must keep under review the matters which may be expected to 
affect the development of their area such as; 

 
  the principle physical, economic, social and environmental characteristics of 

the area;  
  the principle purposes for which land is used in the area; 
  the size, composition and distribution of the population of the area; 
  the communications, transport system and traffic;  

 
4.4 Section 15 of the 2004 Act requires all local planning authorities to prepare a Local 

Development Scheme (LDS).  The LDS sets out the programme, resources and 
arrangements for the production and review of statutory planning documents 
required by the Council. The draft LDS is included in Annex 2 for approval. 

 
4.5 Section 18 of the 2004 Act requires local planning authorities to produce a 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), which should explain how they will 
engage local communities and other interested parties in producing their Local Plan 
and determining planning applications (see para 12.4 below). 

 
4.6 Plan preparation must be informed by a Sustainability Appraisal and a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment.  
 
4.6 Local planning authorities are under a duty to cooperate with each other under 

Section 33A of the 2004 Act, and with other prescribed bodies, on strategic matters 
that cross administrative boundaries. In order to demonstrate effective and on-going 
joint working, strategic policymaking authorities should prepare and maintain one or 
more Statements of Common Ground (SoCG), documenting the cross-boundary 
strategic matters being addressed and the progress in cooperating to address them. 
The approach to be taken in the West of England UAs is currently being considered. 
   

4.7 The Government is proposing a number of reforms to the Planning System in the 
Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill and the timetable for the preparation of the Local 
Plan will enable these to be taken on board before the draft plan is prepared.    

 
Page 40



Printed on recycled paper

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.6 The Council’s planning policy framework is critical to the delivery of the new 
Corporate Strategy. The formulation of planning policy will require extensive 
cross-service working to ensure a co-ordinated approach and an efficient use of 
resources. 

5.7 The preparation of Planning Policies and Supplementary Planning Documents for 
the District is primarily funded by the Local Development Framework budget and 
national and regional grants.  In particular, funding of £1.34m has been made 
available from the WECA Investment Fund to assess opportunities for strategic 
growth.  The scope and progress of preparation of Supplementary Planning 
Documents will depend on priorities and the available resources. 

5.8 The CIL charging levy is based on the Local Plan and generates substantial 
income (c.£20m over last 5 years) to fund infrastructure in the district. The 
charging levy will be reviewed alongside the preparation of the Local Plan, as will 
the approach to s.106 developer contributions.  

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance.  A risk register will be maintained during the plan preparation.  Key risks 
already identified so far; 

  Ongoing changes to national legislation and national planning policy may 
cause delays in Local Plan preparation (se para 4.7 above)  

  Local and national elections may result in changes of policy direction during 
preparation of the local plan 

  Tensions between national, sub-regional and local objectives may be 
challenging to reconcile in the Local Plan  

  The scale of growth to be accommodated may result in very significant local 
objections to the Local Plan, particularly if Green Belt land is required to be 
released 

  Delivery of the necessary infrastructure/demand management measures 
may be challenging to implement due to the scale, cost and complexity of 
the measures needed 

  the West of England Combined Authority Mayor’s decision to halt the 
preparation of the Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) entails a risk to the 
progression of the three West of England UA Local Plans because the 
Devolution Order requires the preparation of the SDS as part of the sub-
regional planning framework. However, there is no-time frame set for the 
preparation of a SDS and the UAs are entitled to progress their Local Plans 
in the interim. Therefore, to minimise the risk of challenge at examination on 
Duty to Co-operate grounds, the UAs need to set out how they will meet the 
requirements of the Duty to Co-operate in the preparation of their Local Plans 
and how they will consider strategic, cross-boundary issues early on in the 
process. 

Page 41



Printed on recycled paper

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 Preparation of the Local Plan will address a number of equality issues such as 
provision of affordable housing, employment opportunities, physical access to 
places and to buildings and the ability for some to engage in the plan preparation 
process. An Equality Impact Assessment will be maintained as part of the 
preparation of the Local Plan.   

 
7.2 The formulation of the Engagement Strategy and the Statement of Community 

Involvement (see para 12.4 below) have been informed by an Equality Impact 
Assessment 

 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 An up-to-date planning policy framework is essential in delivering the Council’s zero 
carbon ambitions.  The Local Plan will need to direct development to the most 
sustainable locations and facilitate travel by sustainable modes. It will also need to 
secure sustainable construction methods and facilitate an increase in renewable 
energy generation.  

 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 The development plan is at the heart of the planning system. It is essential that 
local plans are in place and kept up to date. Section 19(1B) - (1E) 2004 Act sets out 
that each local planning authority must identify their strategic priorities and have 
policies to address these in their development plan documents (taken as a whole).  
Therefore, the Council doesn’t have the option in this context not to prepare a Local 
Plan.  

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Community and Stakeholder Engagement is integral to plan preparation as is 
evident in the timetable. Community engagement will need to be planned and co-
ordinated with other Council initiatives and engagement exercises.  Whilst 
comments will be invited on the Launch Document, this will not entail a 
substantive engagement. Instead, it will initiate a programme of informal, ongoing 
discussions with communities and stakeholders leading to the more substantive 
Issues and Options consultation in autumn 2023.   

12.2 In light of the importance of working closely with local communities on the Plan 
and the need to ensure co-ordination across a range of related initiatives, a Local 
Plan Engagement Strategy has been prepared (see Annex 3) and will need to be 
kept up-to-date.  

12.3 An area of Local Plan work that will require a particular focus is the spatial 
strategy for B&NES and the formulation of options for broad locations for growth. 
A range of locations will need to be assessed across the district, working with 
adjoining authorities where relevant. These growth options will need more 
intensive community engagement but need to be set within a conversation of local 
community priorities and wider assessments of individual places.  As of part the 
launch and to complement the process of identifying land for development, a ‘Call 
for Sites’ will be issued to cover not only the traditional request for development 

Page 42



Printed on recycled paper

sites, but also other sites which help deliver the council priorities e.g. sites for 
nature conservation enhancement or renewable energy generation.  

12.4 The Council is required to prepare and keep up to-date a Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) which sets out the approach to engagement with communities, 
residents and stakeholders. This identifies under-represented groups where a 
particular focus is needed to facilitate engagement. The SCI has been updated 
and consulted on and will be published as part of the Local Plan launch (see 
Annex 4). 

 

Contact persons  Simon de Beer (Head of Planning) 
Tel: 01225 477616 
 
Richard Daone (Deputy Head of Planning: Policy)  
Tel: 01225 477546. 
 

Background 
papers 

B&NES Core Strategy 2014 

B&NES Placemaking Plan 2017 

Local Plan Partial Update commencement document 2020 

Local Plan Partial Update Options consultation document 2021 

Local Plan Partial Update Reg 19 submission Plan 

Council progress report on climate emergency October 2019 

B&NES Statement of Community Involvement 

My neighbourhood - A neighbourhood planning protocol for 
B&NES 

Climate Emergency declaration March 2019 

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2021 

Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Review - 
Consultation Statement 

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 

Local Plan Partial Update policy review 2020 

Local Plan Partial Update - Options Consultation supporting 
documents 

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

Page 43

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/core-strategy-and-placemaking-plan
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/core-strategy-and-placemaking-plan
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/LP%20Commencement%20April%202020v5%20(FINAL).pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/local-plan-partial-update-options-consultation
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-08/Schedule%20of%20changes_combined.pdf
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s58688/Climate%20Emergency%20Progress%20Report.pdf
file://banes-shared.bathnes.gov.uk/Shared$/Planning%20Policy/Plans%20and%20Projects/04%20Programming/Briefings%20and%20Reports/Council/2021-07-22/Statement%20of%20Community
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-01/npp_my_neighbourhood_adopted_2014.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-01/npp_my_neighbourhood_adopted_2014.pdf
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/g5196/Public%20minutes%2014th-Mar-2019%2018.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s66197/LDS%20June%202021.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/Consultation%20Statement.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/Consultation%20Statement.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/LP%20Policies%20Review%20April%202020%20v2.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/local-plan-partial-update-options-consultation-supporting-documents
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/local-plan-partial-update-options-consultation-supporting-documents


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Local Plan 2022 - 2042
Launch Document  
September 2022

Page 45



   
 

     
   

    
    

    
    

  
  

  
   
   

  
     

   
    

  

Foreword
This  Launch  Document  for  our  new  Local  Plan is an important step 
forward  to address  pressing  issues and  to  deliver  on our  shared  priorities.

•  How  can  we  best  respond  to the  climate and  nature emergencies?  And 
what  bolder  decisions  do  we need  to take?

•  Where should  we allow  new  development to  meet our  need  for  more 
affordable housing  and  for  better  jobs?

•  What are our  priorities  for  improving  places so that  we  can help 
transform  our  quality  of  life?  To achieve a healthy  and  resilient  future  for 
all  and  enable  more sustainable  lifestyles?

The new  Local  Plan is a  valuable  document that  gives us the teeth to 
help  deliver  our  ambitions.  It needs to  capture  fresh thinking  and 
innovative ideas if  it is to  provide the  best  possible  planning  framework  for
managing  change,  delivering  the  places that  we  want to  live in and 
protecting  what  we  value.

We need  to  be  firm  when necessary,  to  make sure that  we  get the  very 
best  from  development,  yet  flexible too,  when  we need  to allow  great new
ideas to  flourish and  to  respond  to  changing  and  unpredictable 
circumstances.

I  would  urge  you to engage in the  process of  shaping  the  future of  Bath 
and  North East Somerset.  As a statutory  document,  the  production of  a 
Local  Plan  can seem  like a  long  process,  but it has  proven to  be  robust in
delivering  change and  in safeguarding  our  valued  assets.

Councillor Kevin Guy (Leader of the Council)
Councillor  Tim  Ball (Cabinet Member for PIanning and Licensing)

Page 46



Contents 
Introduction 										          1

Purpose of this Launch Document				    1

Background 										          2

Scope of the Local Plan							       3

Stages in preparing the Local Plan		   		  7

Relationship with other Plans						      15

Let us know what you think 						      16

Page 47



1

This Launch Document is the first step towards preparing a New Local Plan for 
Bath and North East Somerset. 

The Local Plan will establish the planning framework for the district up to 2042. It 
will contain a vision, strategy and policies to guide and manage how the District 
grows and changes over the next 20 years, and how planning applications for 
new development are decided. It will also help to deliver the Council’s corporate 
priorities, including improving people’s lives, tackling the climate and ecological 
emergencies, and preparing for the future in terms of the economy and addressing 
inequalities.

Throughout its preparation, we’ll be asking for your thoughts and ideas on how the 
District can grow sustainably to help address the challenges we face, such as the 
climate and ecological emergencies and the housing crisis, whilst protecting and 
enhancing the things we value about Bath and North East Somerset.

This Launch Document marks the formal start of the preparation of the new Local 
Plan.

We would like your views on the approach we are taking in preparing the new Local 
Plan from the very start, including the content of this Launch Document. Please see 
details on how to respond on page 15, or at the following web address: Insert link

Purpose of this Launch Document 

Introduction  

Page 48



Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) Council’s current planning policies 
were adopted in 2014 and 2017, and whilst some of these policies are 
being updated through the Local Plan Partial Update 2022, we now need a 
complete review of the existing Local Plan to make sure it is fit for purpose to 
address the challenges we are facing.

The West of England Combined Authority (WECA) mayor has a duty to 
prepare a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) for the sub-region, covering 
B&NES, Bristol and South Gloucestershire. However, work on the SDS has 
been halted, so instead the three WECA authorities are progressing their Local 
Plans in collaboration. 

Background

2Page 49



3

Scope of the Local Plan 

Bath

Keynsham

Somer 
Valley

Whitchurch Saltford 

Pensford 
Chew Magna 

Chew Stoke 

Compton 
Martin

West 
Harptree

Bishop 
Sutton

Clutton

Temple Cloud

Farrington 
Gurney

Paulton

Wellow

Freshford

South Stoke

Westfield

Radstock

Midsomer 
Norton 

Peasedown 
St John 

Batheaston

Bathford

Bathampton

Bristol

North 
Somerset

Mendip

Wiltshire

South 
Gloucestershire

A37

A368

A368

A36

A431

A46

A4

A3062

A36

A367

A39

A4

The Plan area will be the whole administrative area of B&NES Council. As Local 
Plans must have at least a 15 year plan period from adoption, the proposed plan 
period is 2022 - 2042. 

Once adopted, the Local Plan will be reviewed every 5 years, and updated where 
necessary. 

The primary purpose of Local Plan 2022 – 2042 is to address the local authority’s 
priorities for the development and use of land in the district, and set out an overall 
strategy for the pattern, scale and design quality of places. 

We will work with our communities 
and stakeholders to identify the key 
challenges in B&NES, and the objectives 
and policies we need in place to address 
these. 

The starting point will be the Council’s 
One Shared Vision, as well as other 
key emerging strategies such as the 
Economic Strategy, the Cultural Strategy, 
and the Health and Well-being Strategy. 

Page 50



The council’s primary ambitions for the Local Plan, drawing from the Corporate 
Strategy, the One Shared Vision, and other key emerging strategies (such as the 
Economic Strategy and Heath & Wellbeing Strategy) are:

Scope of the Local Plan

Creating opportunities 
for the types of jobs 
that are needed in 

our communities, and 
ensuring that there is 
the right type of space 

available for businesses 
to grow

Responding to the 
challenge of the 

climate emergency 
and facilitating the goal 

of zero carbon by 
2030

Establishing a 
transformational 

approach to 
protecting and 

enhancing nature

Maximising delivery 
of affordable 

housing to respond 
to the district’s 

demographic, social 
and economic needs

4Page 51



5

Ensuring new 
development is aligned 

with the necessary 
infrastructure, 

including community 
facilities and green 

infrastructure

Setting a positive 
strategy for the 
conservation 

and enjoyment 
of the historic 
environment

Scope of the Local Plan

Protecting and 
enhancing the 
beauty of our 
heritage and 
environment

Delivering high 
quality development 
that supports vibrant, 
healthy, successful 

communities, 
and addresses 

inequalities

Increasing 
renewable 

energy 
generation

Setting an approach to 
sustainable transport 

and movement 
which facilitates 

behavioural change 
and the 15-minute 

neighbourhood 
concept

4

Other issues in the scope of the Local Plan include:

Maintaining a 5-year 
housing land supply and 

facilitating delivery of 
necessary type and scale 
of new homes to respond 
to the District’s social and 
economic needs, including 
needs of gypsies, travellers 

and boat dwellers

Page 52



6

Scope of the Local Plan

The Doughnut Economics Model

As the Local Plan will need to address a range of sometime conflicting 
aims, it is proposed that the “Doughnut Economics model” is used to 
help establish the most appropriate planning framework.  This model is 
a tool to help make decisions about the economy that combat climate 
change but at the same time seek to ensure social needs are met. The 
model helps to show  how policies  and proposals will affect the 
environment and people. If it shows that the policy will have a harmful 
effect on the climate or people, it can be  modified or dropped.

The diagram below shows that the model has two parts: The inner 
wheel focusses on social and economic issues like wealth and homes. 
The outer wheel focusses on environmental issues like greenhouse 
gas emissions and biodiversity. The key is to seek to develop polices 
and proposals which benefit both the environment and people ie the 
"doughnut"

Page 53



7

Stages in preparing the Local Plan 

The key steps and proposed timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan is set 
out in the Council’s Local Development Scheme. 

The diagram below sets out a summary of the stages carried out in the 
preparation, examination and adoption of the Local Plan, and the proposed 
programme.  

Stage 1: Launch 

Stage 2: Evidence Gathering, Engagement and Options 
Formulation 

This Launch Document is published to commence the preparation of the Local Plan. 
Comments on the content of the Launch Document are sought from communities and 
stakeholders.

Extensive gathering and analysis of data, evidence and information on key issues 
will be carried out. This will include a call for sites, enabling stakeholders to submit 
sites they consider to be available and potentially suitable for housing or employment 
development, or any other type of development, such as renewable energy. Details of 
the types of evidence required are set out on page 12. 

During this stage, communities, stakeholders and consultees will be consulted 
multiple times, firstly to identify key issues and opportunities, and then to review 
evidence and help to develop policy options. Details relating to the engagement to be 
carried out are set out in the engagement strategy, published alongside this Launch 
Document. 

September 2022 

October 2022 - September 2023 

Preparation of  the Local Plan  

Page 54



Stages in preparing the Local Plan 

Stage 3. Options Document Consultation

Evidence gathered and responses from engagement will help to create an Options 
Document setting out initial issues and options that will define the draft Local Plan 
going forward. We will consult on this document and invite feedback from the public. 

October 2023 - December 2023

A Draft Plan will be published, and consultation on this document will be carried 
out for a period of at least 6 weeks. The local planning authority may make changes 
to the Draft Plan following the consultation, and may decide to carry out further 
consultation if any resulting changes are considered to be significant. 

Stage 4: Preparation of  Draft Plan and Targeted Engagement

Having taken account of responses received from the previous consultation, and 
further analysis of evidence, the Council will prepare a Draft Plan. Additional targeted 
engagement with key stakeholders will also be carried out at this stage. 

January 2024 - May 2024

Stage 5: Draft Plan Consultation 

June 2024 - August 2024

8Page 55



9

Stages in preparing the Local Plan 

Stage 6: Submission and Examination  

The final Draft Plan will be submitted to the Government along with the supporting 
evidence base, following which an independent Inspector will be allocated to assess 
the soundness of the Plan. 

Examination 

November 2024 

Stage 7: Hearings  

The independent Inspector will hold an Examination into the soundness of the 
Plan. The Examination hearings will include evidence from anybody who wishes to 
make a submission on any of the key issues or questions highlighted by the Inspector. 
The Inspector will consider all of the evidence and representations made through the 
Draft Local Plan consultation process. 

Stage 8: Inspector’s Report   

The Inspector will assess whether the Local Plan has been prepared in accordance 
with legal and procedural requirements, and whether it is sound. The Inspector will 
publish their recommendations in a Report. If the Inspector has not recommended 
adoption, the Council can adopt the Plan in line with any ‘main’ modifications as 
suggested by the Inspector.

January 2025

May 2025

Page 56



We will undertake the preparation of the Local Plan in accordance with 
Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

Stages in preparing the Local Plan 

Stage 9: Adoption 

The Council will adopt the Plan at a full Council meeting. 

Adoption 

September 2025

10
Page 57



11

Stage in preparing the Local Plan 

Engagement and Consultation 

Engagement and consultation with communities and stakeholders is key to 
preparing a vision and strategy for the district which allows it to grow sustainably, 
meets the needs of our communities, and protects and enhances the things 
we value most. The Council will therefore work closely with communities and 
stakeholders in preparing the new Local Plan. We will be carrying out a range of 
engagement and consultation throughout the preparation of the Local Plan, in line 
with the Council’s core policy of ‘giving people a bigger say’. 

Details of our approach to engagement are set out in an Engagement Strategy, 
which is published alongside this Launch Document, setting out the opportunities 
for key stakeholders to be involved in the preparation of the Plan. 

In addition to the engagement strategy, a Consultation Statement will be prepared 
and updated at each stage of the Plan’s preparation, setting out how consultation 
was undertaken, the key issues raised, and how the Council has considered these 
issues in progressing the Local Plan.

Page 58



Stages in preparing the Local Plan  

Evidence Base
Preparation of the Local Plan will need to be based on robust evidence, both to 
define the challenges we are facing, and to test policy options. We will use existing 
evidence as well as commissioning new studies. 

The evidence base will need to cover a wide range of issues such as:

Housing 
Need 

Economic 
Strategy

Transport Design and 
Placemaking

Flood 
Risk 

Green 
Belt 

Landscape Habitats

Ecology Biodiversity 
Net Gain 

Renewable 
Energy

Health & 
Well-being

Air 
Quality

Green 
Infrastructure

Infrastructure 
Delivery

Viability 

12Page 59



13

Duty to Cooperate
B&NES Council has a duty to co-operate on strategic planning issues that cross 
administrative boundaries and must collaborate with other strategic authorities to 
identify any relevant strategic matters which need to be addressed. 

Cross-boundary strategic issues relating to the Local Plan might include issues 
such as addressing the sub-region’s housing need, strategic highway issues, and 
flooding. This is particularly important in the absence of a sub-regional Sparitial 
Development Strategy.

We will liaise with the prescribed Duty to Cooperate bodies in identifying the cross-
boundary strategic issues and work jointly with these bodies to address such 
issues through the preparation of the Local Plan. The Council will prepare and 
maintain a statement of common ground documenting the cross-boundary matters 
and progress in co-operation.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Habitats 
Regulations Assessments (HRA)

The preparation of the Local Plan will be 
informed by a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA), which will include an assessment of 
health impact, and a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). 

A framework for the Sustainability Appraisal 
will be agreed at the beginning of the project 
and will be used to assess and inform 
the plan-making process. It is intended to 
publish a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report and an interim SA on the options 
for consideration. The Doughnut Economic 
model is now being used by some authorities 
as a vehicle for the SA , and this will be 
considered for the B&NES Local Plan.

Stage is preparing the Local Plan 

Page 60



Stage is preparing the Local Plan 

Equalities Impact Assessment
B&NES Council has a duty under the Equality Act 2010 to ensure that the 
objectives and policies within the Local Plan meet the requirements of the Act. 

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out at multiple stages throughout 
the preparation of the Local Plan, to demonstrate how this duty has been met. 

14Page 61



15

Relationship with other Plans  

Neighbourhood Plans 

B&NES currently has 11 made (or adopted) neighbourhood plans, with 
several others in preparation. As work on the Local Plan progresses, and the 
strategic context for the neighbourhood plans changes, communities should 
consider reflecting the Local Plan 2022 - 2042 in the preparation of new 
neighbourhood plans and made plans may become increasingly out of date. 
Communities may wish to review them to take account of any implications 
arising. The Council will continue to support Town and Parish Councils 
and Neighbourhood Forums within B&NES in preparing and reviewing 
neighbourhood plans, and will discuss the implications of the new Local Plan 
as it progresses. Consultation with interested parties will be carried out at the 
beginning of the preparation process.

SPDs

Policies in the adopted Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, and the 
emerging Local Plan Partial Update, are supplemented by a range of 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) which are listed in the Local 
Development Scheme. These SPDs will continue to supplement the relevant 
policies in the Local Plan and some may require reviewing and updating. 
In seeking to improve the design quality of new development and ‘building 
beautiful’ the Council will consider preparing Design Codes for the District 
and places within it. The existing SPDs to be reviewed or new SPDs to be 
prepared are identified in the Local Development Scheme.

CIL

We will review the Community Infrastructure Levy alongside the preparation of 
the new Local Plan.

15
Page 62



Let us know what you think  

We need to hear from you. Please let us know your thoughts on the content of this 
Launch Document by filling out the form at the web address below, which seeks 
your opinions on:

The proposed 
scope and content 
of the Local Plan 

2022 - 2042 

The proposed 
programme for the 

preparation and 
adoption of the Plan 

Any general 
comments relating 

to the Plan 

INSERT LINK / WEB ADDRESS TO COMMENT FORM 

The consultation on this Launch Document runs from XXX to XXX.

Comments will be taken into account as part of the plan preparation process.

If you are unable to use the online form, please email your comments to 
planning_policy@bathnes.gov.uk

Or call a member of the planning policy team on 01225 477548

Or send your written comments to: 

B&NES Council
Planning Policy
Lewis House, 
Manvers Street
Bath
BA1 1JG

Postal address TBC

16Page 63



Page 64



Local Development Scheme 2022 - 2025

ANNEX 2 

Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Development Scheme 
2022 - 2025

Page 65



Local Development Scheme 2022 - 2025

 
 
 
CONTENTS 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 1 

2. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PRODUCTION 2021-
2024 

7 

3. THE EVIDENCE BASE 15 

4. PRODUCTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

16 

LDS SUMMARY TIMETABLE 20 

5. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 21 

APPENDIX A -  Status of Current SPGs and SPDs  26 

APPENDIX B -  Glossary of Terms 29 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



1 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 The Local Development Scheme 
 
1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended by the Localism Act 

2011, requires all local planning authorities to prepare and maintain a Local 
Development Scheme (LDS).  The LDS is a timetable for the production of the Local 
Plan, Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents that the 
Council is preparing, or intends to prepare.  These documents are known collectively 
as Local Development Documents (LDDs).  It is the starting point for residents and 
stakeholders to find out what planning policies relate to their area and how these will 
be reviewed.  

 
1.2 A review of the LDS is warranted by the need set out revised programmes for Local 

Plan preparation.  This Local Development Scheme will come into effect in September 
2022. 

 

A Glossary of terms used in this document is set out at Appendix C 

 
 
 Local Development Framework 
 
1.4 The Local Development Framework comprises a portfolio of locally prepared planning 

documents (Local Development Documents).  It also includes related documents such 
as the Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR) and the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).   

 
1.5 Local Development Documents (LDD) include:  
 

Development Plan Documents (DPD). These set out the Council’s adopted policies 
and proposals and have development plan status and therefore have full weight in 
the determination of planning applications. They will be subject to community 
involvement and Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 
throughout their preparation and will be subject to independent examination.  They 
include Local Plans and Neighbourhood Plans.  The Policies Map illustrates 
geographically the Local Plan policies.  

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Supplementary Planning Documents do 
not have statutory Development Plan status but are useful in providing more detailed 
guidance and support for policies and proposals in Development Plan Documents.  
They are quicker to prepare as they are not subject to independent examination.  
Whilst they supplement adopted policy and constitute a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications they cannot be used to formulate planning 
policy or designate sites.  They will however be subject to community involvement 
and where appropriate Sustainability Appraisal during preparation. 

Page 67



2 

Local Development Framework at a glance

Local Development Documents (LDD): 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Development Plan for Bath & North East Somerset 

 
1.6 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act stipulates that planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  This gives considerable weight to 
Development Plan Documents.   

 
1.7 With the adoption of the Core Strategy in July 2014 and adoption of the Placemaking 

Plan in July 2017 the Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises:  

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)

Authority’s 
Monitoring Report 
(AMR)

Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) 

Neighbourhood Plans (NP)

Development Plan Documents (DPD)

Page 68



3 

The B&NES Development Plan September 2022 

Bath & North East Somerset Core 
Strategy adopted July 2014 

The Core Strategy sets out the policy framework for the location and level of new 
housing and other development and includes four Strategic Site Allocations.  It 
forms Part 1 of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029. 

Bath & North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan adopted July 
2017: 
- Volume 1 - District-wide 

Strategy and Policies 
- Volume 2 - Bath 
- Volume 3 - Keynsham 
- Volume 4 - Somer Valley 
- Volume 5 - Rural Areas 
- Volume 6 - Appendices 

The Placemaking Plan complements the Council’s Core Strategy and forms Part 2 
of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029.  It is a six volume document focussed on creating 
the conditions for better places, and on providing greater clarity to enable the 
right developments to be delivered.  It allocates a range of sites for development 
for a variety of uses; facilitates the delivery of key sites with planning 
requirements; sets out development management policies which will be used to 
determine planning applications; and safeguards and enhances the quality and 
diversity of places in Bath and North East Somerset.  Some policies in the 
Placemaking Plan superseded some policies in the Core Strategy under the Town 
& Country Planning Regulations 2012 8(5). 

Bath & North East Somerset 
saved Local Plan (2007) Policies: 

- Policy GDS.1 Site allocations 
and development 
requirements (policy 
framework) 

- Policy GDS.1/K2: South West 
Keynsham (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock 
Railway Land (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton 

Four part implemented sites allocations and their respective development 
requirements have not been replaced by the Core Strategy or the Placemaking 
Plan and therefore remain ‘saved’.  This is to ensure the remaining development 
of each site takes place in accordance with the site requirements.  These policies 
are reproduced in full in Volume 6 of the Placemaking Plan (Appendix 1, Table 2) 

P
age 69

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_1_dw_strategy_and_policies_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_1_dw_strategy_and_policies_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_2_bath_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_3_keynsham_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_4_somer_valley_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_5_rural_areas_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf#page=7
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_vol_6_appendices_composite.pdf#page=7


4 

Printing Factory (site) 

- Policy GDS.1/V8: Former 
Radford Retail System's Site, 
Chew Stoke (site) 

Joint Waste Core Strategy DPD 
(JWCS) adopted March 2011 

The JWCS sets out the waste planning strategy for the West of England, 
addressing the planning aspects of the waste hierarchy promoting waste 
minimisation, recycling/ composting, recovery and disposal.  

The Policies Map (previously 
known as the Proposals Map) 

This illustrates all the allocations and designations set out in the DPDs.  It will be 
revised as each new DPD is adopted where there are allocations or designations.  
The existing Local Plan Policies Map will be amended to give geographical 
expression to the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan.  Proposed 
amendments to the Policies Map will be publicised alongside the appropriate 
DPD. 

Neighbourhood Plans Ten Neighbourhood Plans have been made and form part of the Development 
Plan; Chew Valley, Claverton, Clutton, Englishcombe, Freshford & Limpley Stoke, 
Publow & Pensford, Stanton Drew, Stowey Sutton, Westfield and Whitchurch 
Village.  

Freshford Village Hall Community Right to Build Order  

P
age 70



5 

1.8 In addition to the ten made (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans and one 
Community Right to Build Order in B&NES.  There are a number of 
neighbourhood plans currently under preparation. 4 communities are 
currently working on their Neighbourhood Plans and 5 communities are 
designated as Neighbourhood Areas.  

 
1.9 Emerging DPDs will carry weight as set out in the NPPF Annex 1. 
 
Other related planning documents 
 
1.10 Other key planning related documents the Council is required to produce are a 

Statement of Community Involvement, a Monitoring Report and a Policies 
Map as explained below. 

 
1.11 Local planning authorities must set out in their Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) how they will engage communities on the preliminary 
stages of plan-making. The SCI helps to ensure that the Council is in a position 
to respond to the Localism agenda efficiently and coherently. This will enable 
communities to understand the range of opportunities to interact with and 
take an active role in planning in their locality.  

1.12     The Neighbourhood Planning Protocol (NPP) incorporates the Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) which was adopted in September 2012 and 
revised in 2014. Following the consultation in April 2020, the revised SCI will 
be adopted in September 2022.  

1.13     The SCI outlines the ways communities can get involved in planning issues. 
This includes: 
  Community involvement in Planning Applications 
  Heritage Assets 
  Community involvement in Planning Policy  
  Neighbourhood Planning  
  Protection of Trees 

 
1.14 The Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR) assesses whether plan production is 

on target and the extent to which policies in local development documents are 
being implemented.  It monitors key data such as housing completions, growth 
in office space and losses in industrial space.  The AMR is published annually 
and is based upon the period 1st April to 31st March each year. The Council is 
also required to publish for each financial year an Infrastructure Funding 
Statement (IFS). The IFS sets out the types of infrastructure the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be allocated to fund, the amount of funds 
collected from CIL and Planning Obligations and how these funds have been 
spent to support infrastructure provision. 

Page 71



6 

Bath & North East Somerset’s  
Local Development Framework  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Development Plan Documents
 Local Plan (Core Strategy and 

Placemaking Plan) Partial Update
 Neighbourhood Plans
 New Local Plan

Local Development Documents
Under preparation/Review

Supplementary Planning 
Documents 
 Planning Obligations SPD (limited 

review)
 Planning Obligations SPD (full 

review)
 Biodiversity Net Gain SPD
 Transport and Development SPD
 Sustainable Construction Checklist 

SPD

Local Development Documents 
Current

Development Plan Documents
 Core Strategy (2014)
 Placemaking Plan (2017)
 Saved policies from the Local Plan 

(2007) 
 Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)
 B&NES Policies Map

Supplementary Planning 
Documents
See Annex A for full list

Other documents
 Authority’s Monitoring Report
 Statement of Community 

Involvement
 Community Infrastructure Levy
 Infrastructure Delivery Plan
 Infrastructure Funding Statement

Sub-Regional Plan
 Spatial Development Strategy 

(currently halted) 

Page 72



7 

2. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PRODUCTION 
2022-2025 

 
Progress  

Development Plan Documents 
 

2.1 The Core Strategy (adopted July 2014) sets out the long term strategic 
planning framework for Bath & North East Somerset and includes a spatial 
vision and spatial objectives looking ahead to 2029.  The Core Strategy forms 
Part 1 of the Local Plan 2011 - 2029 to comply with the NPPF requirement to 
produce a Local Plan (see below regarding the review of the Core Strategy).   

 
2.2 The Placemaking Plan complements the Core Strategy and forms Part 2 of the 

Local Plan 2011 - 2029.  The Placemaking Plan identifies development site 
allocations, reviews designations and makes changes to and introduces new 
Development Management policies.  It sets out the development parameters for 
site allocations in the context of their surroundings.  The Placemaking Plan was 
formally adopted on 13 July 2017. 

 
2.3 The Council was previously preparing a new Local Plan (2016-2036) within the 

context of and to deliver the West of England Joint Spatial Plan (JSP).  
However, following the withdrawal of the JSP, preparation of the new Local 
Plan (2016-2036) was paused.  

 
2.4 Instead, the West of England Combined Authority (WECA) started to prepare a 

Spatial Development Strategy with B&NES, Bristol and South Gloucestershire.  
B&NES was due to undertake a full review of its Local Plan alongside the SDS 
and in general conformity with it. However, in May 2022, the WECA Mayor has 
decided to halt the preparation of the Spatial Development Strategy (SDS). 
Following the decision of the WECA Mayor to stop all work on the West of 
England Combined Authority Spatial Development Strategy, the Local Plans for 
Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol and South Gloucestershire will now 
provide the strategic planning framework for the WECA area. The issue of 
housing need will now be addressed through individual Local Plans for each of 
the Local Councils.  The Councils will continue their longstanding history of 
joint working and cooperate with each other and with other key bodies on 
strategic, cross boundary matters as they prepare their Local Plans.  

 
2.5 In the shorter term, following a review in 2019, a programme was established 

for changes to planning policies to respond to the Climate and Nature 
Emergency Declaration, regulatory changes such as the Environment Bill and a 
select number of other issues. These Priorities were included in the Council’s 
reviewed corporate strategy. The Council’s overriding purpose is to improve 

Page 73



8 

people’s lives and its core policies are addressing the climate and ecological 
emergency and giving people a bigger say. As the Local Plan Partial Update is 
an update to the existing Plan (Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan), and not a 
new Plan, the plan period was not altered (remains up to 2029) and the scope 
of the changes was confined to those areas that can be addressed without 
significantly changing the strategic policy framework of the adopted Plan i.e. 
the spatial priorities; the spatial strategy; or the strategic housing and job 
growth requirements in the Core Strategy & Placemaking Plan.   

 
The scope of the Local Plan Partial Update (LPPU) was therefore, confined to: 

• Updating policies in order that they better address the climate and 
ecological emergencies 

• Replenish housing supply in order that the Core Strategy housing 
requirement can be met and the necessary supply of housing land 
maintained with an appropriate degree of flexibility 

• Addressing a limited range of other urgent local issues e.g. related to the 
‘green recovery’ 

• Amending policies for clarity and to ensure they are aligned with up to 
date national policy 

 
2.6 Following the public consultation on the Draft Plan under Reg19 for 6 weeks in 

August through to October and the submission in December 2021 for 
examination, the hearings to examine the soundness of the Plan were held in 
June and July in 2022. It is anticipated that the Local Plan Partial Update will be 
adopted in early 2023 following the receipt of the Inspector’s report. 

  
2.7 Along with the other West of England UAs (as referenced in paragraph 2.4 

above), B&NES will now commence preparation of a new Local Plan for the 
District which will entail a full review of existing planning policies and 
proposals.  

  
2.8 The LDF documents are supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to ensure 

the strategic proposals are deliverable and aligned with infrastructure needs.  
Linked to this is the revised Planning Obligations SPD.  Delivery of the Core 
Strategy and the Placemaking Plan are underpinned by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to address infrastructure funding issues and ensure 
growth happens in a planned way.  The CIL will be updated alongside 
preparation of the new Local Plan. 

 
2.9 The Joint Waste Core Strategy was adopted by the West of England Unitary 

Authorities in 2011 and, in conjunction with adjoining UAs, it will be reviewed in 
2023 to ascertain whether any changes are necessary.   

 
2.10 The Travellers’ Sites Plan (formerly Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople Site Allocations DPD) reached Preferred Options consultation stage 

Page 74



9 

in July 2012.  Further progress has been affected by a number of factors 
including further site assessment work needed; the requirement to work jointly 
with adjoining authorities (Duty to Cooperate) to ensure that all non-Green Belt 
options are fully explored; and changes to national policy. In addition, the 2012 
accommodation needs assessment for B&NES is out of date and needs reviewing 
in light of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (s124); the changes in the 
definition of 'traveller’ in the revised ‘Planning Policy for Traveller Sites’ (August 
2015); and the fact that a number of sites have recently been granted planning 
permission for traveller use.  An updated evidence base will give a more 
accurate assessment of the need in B&NES.  The requirements for gypsies, 
travellers, travelling showpeople and boat dwellers will be reviewed through the 
new Local Plan.   

 
2.11 Neighbourhood Plans are being prepared by Neighbourhood Forums under 

the auspices of the Local Authority and once ‘made’ i.e. approved they will 
form part of the Development Plan.  To facilitate this process, the Council 
prepared and adopted a Neighbourhood Planning Protocol ‘My 
Neighbourhood’ (NPP) which incorporates the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) in September 2012 and updated in September 2014.  The 
NPP is being reviewed and updated through preparation of a new SCI in order 
to ensure that it accords with national policy and legislation and reflects 
Council’s current procedures. Following the consultation in April 2020, the 
revised SCI will be adopted in September 2022.  

 
2.12 The current position on Neighbourhood Plans (NPs) within Bath and North 

East Somerset Council is summarised below: 

  Chew Valley, Claverton, Clutton, Englishcombe, Freshford & Limpley 
Stoke, Publow & Pensford, Stanton Drew, Stowey Sutton, Westfield and 
Whitchurch NPs have been ‘made’ (or adopted).  

  Batheaston, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton and Radstock Town 
Councils are currently working on their Neighbourhood Plans.  

  Bathampton, High Littleton & Hallatrow, Paulton and Timsbury Parish 
Councils are designated Neighbourhood Planning Areas and are at early 
stages of the process i.e. collating the evidence base for their plans / 
developing planning policies; or are not progressing their plans at this 
stage.  

2.13    The  Community Right to Build Order for the redevelopment of Freshford 
Village Memorial Hall has made in June 2021.  

 
 
 

Page 75



10 

Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

2.14 The Planning Obligations SPD is a key document in setting out a coordinated 
approach to securing contributions from development.  It is a ‘living 
document’ and will be reviewed from time to time to take account of new 
information.  In order to ensure that it is aligned with up-to-date policy, 
especially the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, it has been revised 
together with the new Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The CIL and 
revised Planning Obligations SPD came into effect on 6th April 2015.  This SPD 
was amended in relation to the provision of green space required to mitigate 
the impact of individual development proposals in August 2019. A further 
limited review is taking place alongside the Local Plan partial update and 
anticipated its adoption in November. A comprehensive review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD and CIL will take place alongside the preparation of the new 
B&NES Local Plan.  

 
2.15 The Energy Efficiency Retrofitting and Sustainable Construction SPD was 

adopted in January 2022. It aims to provide simple, practical guidance on 
retrofit and sustainable construction for all building types whilst having regard 
to statutory legislation. It reflects on the current guidance from Historic 
England and follows the Climate Emergency declared by the Council. This new 
SPD combines the Sustainable Construction and Retrofitting SPD (2013) and 
Appendix the Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Guidance for Listed 
Buildings and Undesignated Historic Buildings for use in determining 
applications for Listed Building and Planning Applications.  

2.16  The Sustainable Construction Checklist SPD (adopted in 2018 with minor 
amendments in 2020) sets energy efficiency standards for certain types of 
development. This SPD will be updated in line with the Local Plan Partial 
Update policies particularly to help achieve net zero carbon development. This 
SPD contains the Checklist with key assessment tables which should be 
submitted with applications for new build residential properties and major 
new non - residential buildings as well as major works on existing buildings. 
This document also provides guidance on the information required and how to 
fill in the Checklist. The draft SPD was formally consulted for 6 weeks in 
May/June and is proposed to come into force at the same time as the Local 
Plan Partial Update is adopted.  

2.17 There are a large number of buildings, structures, monuments and other 
features in the District which, while not statutory listed, are of architectural 
and historic interest or make a significant contribution to the character and 
appearance of an area. The Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD was prepared 
and adopted in July 2021. It aims to raise the profile of and give recognition to 
buildings and structures and their settings that contribute to the special 
character of Bath and North East Somerset and provides information and 
guidance on these assets.  

Page 76



11 

 
2.18 The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD was adopted in 2013 alongside an 

Article 4 Direction removing permitted development rights for the change of 
use of a dwelling (C3 use class) to a small HMO (C4 use class) in Bath and 
reviewed in 2017. Following analysis of information collated from the 
extension of the HMO licencing scheme to cover the whole of Bath the SPD 
was reviewed and adopted in January 2022. The main changes in this revised 
SPD comprise: 

• removal of the census output area test previously used to assess 
applications, 

• provision of guidance on assessing flatted developments using the 
sandwich test, and; 

• provision of additional guidance elating to updates to policy H2 set out 
within the Local Plan Partial Update.  

 
2.19 Biodiversity Net Gain: The Environment Act 2021 aims to improve air and 

water quality, tackle waste, improve biodiversity and make other 
environmental improvements. All new development will be required to deliver 
a 10% increase in biodiversity and this will become mandatory in late 2023. 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is the achievement of measurable gains for 
biodiversity through new development and occurs when a development 
leaves biodiversity in a better state than before development. The National 
Planning Policy Framework requires planning policies and decisions to 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising 
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Prior to the mandatory 
BNG requirements coming into effect the Council’s Local Plan Partial Update 
BNG policy NE3a will reflect the proposed mandatory measures, use of the 
DEFRA metrics and emerging national guidance. The Council’s BNG Guidance 
Note (which will inform a future Biodiversity Net Gain SPD) and the Planning 
Obligations SPD will set out the process required to deliver BNG and the 
method for calculating the change in biodiversity.    

 
2.20     The Transport and Developments SPD provides additional details and 

guidance on how we expect proposals for new development to plan for the 
transport needs of users. It outlines the Council’s approach and expectations 
for developments in relation Walking and Cycling, Parking Standards, Ultra 
Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) and Travel Plans. The draft SPD was formally 
consulted for 6 weeks in May/June and is proposed to be adopted in 
November 2022.  

 
2.21 Landscape: The District is vulnerable to impacts on landscape and visual 

character and the existing rural landscape character assessment has been 
reviewed and updated to: reflect current guidance; to incorporate the 
Bathscape Landscape Character Assessment; to bring it into line with adjacent 
local authority landscape Character Assessments; and to add a landscape 
strategy which will guide landscape change and development. It will be re-
published in late 2022. 

Page 77



12 

 
 
Other related planning documents 
 
2.22 In order to progress delivery of the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone the Council 

will be a preparing a Local Development Order (LDO) which will need to be 
approved by the LPA and  will outline the uses that will be permitted on the 
site. The LDO will also set out the principles to which development must 
adhere and these will reflect the requirements of the site allocation policy in 
the Adopted Development Plan.   

2.23 The Council has prepared a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The CIL 
came into effect on 6th April 2015.  It enabled the Council to raise funds from 
new development in order to fund the timely delivery of infrastructure.  The 
CIL includes a charging schedule and a spending regime based on development 
proposals in the LDF.  Its preparation entailed viability assessments so as not 
to inhibit development and input from stakeholders.  The CIL will need to be 
updated alongside the preparation of a new Local Plan and to reflect changes 
to national policy.  

2.24 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which will need to be kept up-to-date, 
identifies infrastructure provision that is required to support growth and 
which CIL can help fund.  The Localism Act requires the allocation of a 
proportion of CIL revenues raised back to neighbourhoods where 
development takes place.  In accordance with the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations any authority that receives a contribution from development 
through the levy or section 106 planning obligations must prepare an 
infrastructure funding statement. The Infrastructure Funding Statement will 
be published annually in December.  

  
2.25 Historic Environment: There are 35 conservation areas in the District and 15 

of the areas outside Bath have conservation area character appraisals but 
some of these are in need of updating.  Keynsham Conservation Area also has 
a management plan and a number of other more recent appraisals address 
management opportunities.  

 
2.26 The risks of not having a character appraisal for Bath Conservation Area was 

highlighted by the Inspector at the Core Strategy examination.  This has begun 
to be addressed by preparing a framework for a character appraisal for Bath 
and dividing the conservation area into 16 character areas.  Characterisation 
of 11 character areas has been completed in draft.  

 
2.27 Generally, skills exist in-house for undertaking conservation area character 

appraisals, however internal resources are limited and further work on 
appraisals is not being progressed at present. 

Page 78



13 

 
2.28 Progress on the delivery of conservation area appraisals is therefore 

dependent on resource availability and some funding.  Funding could allow 
consultant engagement to draft appraisals and is also needed for the graphic 
design of the documents which are not printed but are available on line and 
can be printed individually in certain circumstances on request.  

 
 
Natural Environment and strategies  
 
2.29 The Environment Act 2021 aims to improve air and water quality, tackle waste, 

improve biodiversity and make other environmental improvements and it has been 
introduced to support the delivery of the 25 Year Environment Plan published in 
January 2018. It also sets out the Government’s approach to some of the key issues 
being raised by the public around climate change, loss of biodiversity and 
environmental risks to public health. There will be new opportunities to and 
obligations on the Council.   

2.30 The West of England Nature Partnership (WENP) exists to deliver more for nature’s 
recovery in the West of England by working in partnership on the natural 
environment. Established in 2012, WENP is the designated Local Nature Partnership 
(LNP) for the West of England (Bristol City, South Gloucestershire, North Somerset 
and Bath & North East Somerset). The WENP priority is to facilitate investment in 
and delivery of projects that will deliver the West of England Nature Recovery 
Network.  

2.31 The WENP has recognised that to reverse the declines in biodiversity and realise 
nature’s recovery at scale, we need to work together and at a landscape-scale to 
embed the Lawton principles of ‘Bigger, Better, More and Joined Up’ into our policies 
and strategies. This means protecting and enhancing our existing natural habitats, 
but also making them bigger, creating new areas of species-rich habitat, and, 
critically, ensuring they join up to create functional and resilient ecological networks 
that enable nature and people to thrive. To facilitate this, WENP has been working to 
develop a regional Nature Recovery Network for the West of England, aligning with 
shared principles developed across the South West (by the South West Local Nature 
Partnerships) to ensure coherence and strengthened networks across the wider 
region. The Nature Recovery Network is seen as a joined up network of marine, 
water and terrestrial habitats where nature and people can thrive. 

2.32 B&NES has created a Green Infrastructure and Nature Recovery Team in 2022 to 
better deliver the strategies, evidence base and policies required for the new Local 
Plan. Currently resources have not been allocated for the GI Strategy Review and 
these are being bid for. 

 

Page 79



14 

Ecology 

2.33 The Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (2018) commits to development of a 
Nature Recovery Network to protect and restore wildlife, allied to this the NPPF sets 
out the requirement to minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks. The WENP West of England 
Ecological Network will be the WoE Nature Recovery Network with targets identified, 
and will be used by B&NES to identify and priorities areas for habitat creation and 
restoration, including the identification of local nature recovery targets. The 
Environment Act 2021 requirements for Biodiversity Net Gain, are significant, and 
will enable the planning process to deliver habitat enhancements with secured long-
term management and monitoring. In addition, the act requires the development of 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies which should identify priorities for investment in 
Nature Recovery. The council will need to consider the evidence and requirements to 
support these strategies and to set out its approach, primarily through the 
preparation of the Local Plan and other policy guidance as necessary. 

Green Infrastructure Strategy  

2.34 The NPPF recognises the importance of conserving and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment including green infrastructure. NPPG defines GI as ‘a 
network of multifunctional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of 
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local 
communities.’ The Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan published in 2018 
references the need to create more and effective green infrastructure and policy 
choices to be informed by the natural capital approach.  

2.35 The Joint West of England GI Strategy (JGIS) provides evidence for identifying the 
approach to be taken by the Council, primarily delivered through and reflected in the 
policy framework established in the Local Plan, but also a reviewed Green 
Infrastructure Strategy, Green Space Strategy and other relevant strategies.  

2.36 The Council’s Green Infrastructure (GI Strategy was approved in 2013. It is intended 
that the B&NES GI Strategy be reviewed, subject to resources being allocated, in 
order to align it with the WoE JGIS and to provide a framework focussing on the key 
objectives and principles of GI and its delivery. Delivery would then be supported by 
a number of related, but separate Action Plans.  

Landscape  

2.37 One of the core principles of the NPPF is that planning should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside.  Landscape Character Assessment is the 
tool that informs judgements on the value of landscapes and should be undertaken 
at a scale appropriate to local and neighbourhood plan-making. The Rural 
Landscapes of B&NES, is a Landscape Character Assessment that was carried out in 
2003 and is a SPD. An urban character assessment of Bath was carried out in 2005 

Page 80



15 

(Bath Citywide Character Assessment SPD) as a precursor to more detailed 
Conservation Appraisals across Bath which are being undertaken as resources allow. 
The landscape character of the setting of the Bath World Heritage Site was assessed 
in 2017 through the Bathscape Landscape Character Assessment. 

2.38 The City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD was published in 2013. Its purpose 
is to provide information and tools needed for the effective protection and 
appropriate management of the setting of the World Heritage Site. 

Tree and Woodland Plan  

2.39 A Tree and Woodland Delivery Plan was produced in 2021 with a focus on Council 
land in urban areas and the contribution that can make to delivering the Council 
commitment to plant 100,000 trees by 2023. 

2.40 The Council is committed to delivery of the West of England Tree and Woodland 
Strategy (Forest of Avon Plan). Subject to resources becoming available it intends to 
produce a District-wide Tree and Woodland Strategy which will enable more 
effective B&NES-focused delivery of the WoE Tree and Woodland Strategy. It will 
ensure the principle of “Right tree / woodland, right place” is achieved, with 
Council’s 2020 Woodland Opportunity Mapping and Tree and Woodland sensitivity 
assessment at its heart. 

LDD Content and Key Milestones 

2.41 The LDS Summary timetable sets out an overview of the programme and key 
milestones for the production of Bath & North East Somerset Local Development 
Framework and provides a schedule of the LDDs to be prepared during the next 3 
years.  It is located after the risk assessment table following para 4.9 and is followed 
by an individual profiles for each LDD. 

Page 81



16 

3. THE EVIDENCE BASE 
 
3.1 Section 13 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

the local planning authority must keep under review the matters which may 
be expected to affect the development of their area or the planning of its 
development. The strategies, policies and proposals in the Local Development 
Documents must be founded on a robust evidence base.  A considerable 
amount of data is available at national and sub-regional level.   

3.2 A number of bespoke studies have been prepared to inform the preparation of 
the Local Development Framework and other Council strategies.  There are 
also opportunities for the Council to improve its data collection and 
management strategies.   B&NES is working with other West of England UAs to 
ensure an up-to-date evidence base to inform planning policies.  The evidence 
base covers a range of subjects including those listed below: 

  Economic Development Needs Assessment 
  Housing Needs 
  Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment or HELAA) 
  Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
  Recreation, Cultural and Services 
  Retail 
  Sustainability – Sustainable construction, energy efficiency and renewable 

energy  
  Flood Risk 
  Transport 
  Urban Design including building hights 
  Landscape 
  Heritage 
  Biodiversity and Nature 
  Waste 
  Green Infrastructure Strategy 
  Green Spaces Strategy 
 
All studies supported the Development Plans can be found from the Council’s 
website below.  
Placemaking Plan evidence base: 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf 
Core Strategy evidence base: 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf 

 Local Plan Partial Update evidence base: 
 https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/lppu-core-documents 
 
 

Page 82

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/economic
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/strategic-housing-land-availabi
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/infrastructure
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/recreation-cultural-and-service
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/retail
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/sustainability
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/flood-risk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/transport
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/urban-design-landscape-and-heri
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/waste
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gi_strategy_final_web_interactive_version_0.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/evidence-base/other
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/pmp_core_docs_list.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/core_strategy_history_and_timeline.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/lppu-core-documents


17 

4. PRODUCTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment  
 
4.1 The development of DPDs and SPDs in the Bath & North East Somerset Local 

Development Framework will be informed by Sustainability Appraisal.  
Sustainability Appraisal is an iterative process through which the economic, 
social and environmental effects of a plan under preparation are assessed.  It 
incorporates the requirements of Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) as 
required by EU SEA Directive 2001/42 on the Assessment of certain Plans and 
Programmes on the Environment. The appraisal process will draw heavily on 
the evidence base.  

 
4.2 In order to protect the integrity of European sites, Local Authorities are 

obliged to carry out Appropriate Assessment (AA) as a part of the planning 
process under the Habitats Directive.  AA has been and will continue to be 
carried out in conjunction with the SA as recommended by the Guidance. 
 

Review and Monitoring  
 
4.3 Review and monitoring are crucial to the successful delivery of the spatial 

vision and objectives of the LDF and will be undertaken on a continuous pro-
active basis. The Authority’s Monitoring Report is prepared for each financial 
year. It has a dual purpose which is to: 

  monitor progress of preparation of planning documents against agreed 
milestones in the LDS 

  assess the implementation of DPD policies against targets which will 
influence policy review and other decisions 

 
Resources and Arrangements for Production 
 
4.4 The Planning Service co-ordinates the preparation of Local Development 

Documents in liaison with other relevant Services across the Council.  The 
document profiles (page 20 onwards) outline the responsibilities for document 
preparation. 

Page 83



18 

Joint Working 
 
4.5 Bath & North East Somerset Council works jointly with Bristol, North Somerset 

and South Gloucestershire Unitary Authorities (UAs) and the West of England 
Combined Authority (WECA) on sub-regional (West of England) and strategic, 
cross boundary issues.  Section 110 of the Localism Act sets out a ‘duty to co-
operate’.  In addition to the other West of England UAs referred to above the 
Council engages actively with the neighbouring authorities of Mendip District 
Council, Somerset County Council and Wiltshire Council on strategic, cross 
boundary issues.  The ‘duty to co-operate’ applies to all local planning 
authorities and a number of other public bodies including: 

  Environment Agency 
  Historic England 
  Natural England 
  Civil Aviation Authority 
  Homes and Communities Agency 
  Primary Care Trusts 
  Office of the Rail Regulator 
  Highways Agency 
  Integrated Transport Authorities 
  Highways Authorities 

 
4.6 These bodies are required to cooperate with Councils on issues of common 

concern to develop sound Development Plans.  The NPPF requires that in 
preparing DPDs strategic policymaking authorities should prepare and 
maintain one or more statements of common ground, documenting the cross-
boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to address 
them. 

 
4.7 The authorities are also working with business leaders as part of the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for the West of England.  The LEP does not have a 
direct role in spatial planning but there is a need for co-ordination in activities.  
Similarly the Council is committed to working collaboratively with the West of 
England Nature Partnership (WENP) which accords with advice in the NPPF. 

 
Member Arrangements and the LDF 
 
4.8 A bespoke Local Development Framework Steering Group guides the 

production of the Council planning policies and advises the Cabinet Member 
for Planning and Licensing.  Decisions on the adoption of DPDs are made by 
Full Council in accordance with the Council constitution and other LDDs are 
agreed as appropriate. Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Panel also monitors and review the activity of the 
Cabinet and also assist them in developing policy.  

 

Page 84



19 

Risk Assessment 
 
4.9 It is often difficult to anticipate all potential risks which could affect the Local 

Development Framework programme.  There are a number of factors that 
could affect the Council’s ability to deliver the Local Development Framework 
in accordance with the programme outlined for each of the LDD Profiles.  
Actions to manage these risks have been identified. 

Area of Risk  Likelihood/Impact Mitigation Measures 
Programme 
slippage 

Medium/High 
Failure to meet the key milestones 
for LDDs in the LDS is detrimental to 
the reputation of the local planning 
authority.  Absence of up to date 
Development Plan likely to lead to 
unplanned developments across the 
district.  The deadlines for preparing 
the Local Development Framework 
are very challenging given the 
greater emphasis on community 
consultation. 
High  
Political process lead to delays 

Ensure that progress is 
carefully monitored and that 
priority is given to achieving 
the key milestones set out in 
the LDS. 
Allow for contingency in the 
programmes. 
Use efficient project 
management. 
Ensure elected members are 
properly briefed throughout 
the plan preparation process 
including through the LDF 
Steering Group. 

Adequate staff 
resources 

Medium/Medium 
Should cuts to local government 
funding impact on the Planning 
Services, the potential loss of 
experienced staff would impact on 
the preparation of LDDs and 
heightens the risk of programme 
slippage. 

Ensure that sufficient staff 
resources with the necessary 
experience and expertise are 
available for the production 
of LDDs. 
Consider seconding staff from 
other Services in the Council 
and/or joint working with 
neighbouring authorities.   
Subject to the availability of 
financial resources, employ 
temporary staff or 
consultants. 

Financial resources Medium/High 
It is important that there are 
sufficient financial resources 
available to prepare LDDs, including 
for consultants (where necessary), 
to secure and maintain robust 
evidence base, community 

Ensure the LDS influences 
budgetary decisions to 
ensure sufficient resources 
are in place including a 
suitable level of contingency.  
However cuts to local 
government funding are 

Page 85



20 

consultation and engagement, and 
for the Examination process in the 
case of DPDs.   

outside the Council’s direct 
control. 

Competing work 
priorities 

Medium/High 
The Policy Team is involved in a 
wide range of spatial policy work.  
Planning applications for major 
unplanned developments are 
resource-heavy.  There is a risk that 
the Team’s work is diverted from 
plan making by other unforeseen 
work pressures such as involvement 
in planning appeal inquiries, 
regeneration projects and 
responding to consultation on 
emerging Government policies. 

Ensure that progress on the 
Local Development 
Framework remains a high 
priority and at certain times 
other work will have to take a 
much lower priority.  
Consideration may then need 
to be given to outsourcing 
work to prevent delays in 
progress.  

Evidence base Low/Medium 
Lack of an up to date evidence base 
will affect the soundness of a DPD. 
Preparing the LDD also requires 
evidence base prepared by other 
key services. Delay in evidence 
preparation will have an impact on 
the LDD timetable and affect the 
soundness if not prepared as 
planned. 

Maintain a proportionate and 
up to date evidence base 
prepared by the Planning 
Policy Team as well as other 
key services. 
Ensure all policies and 
proposals can be fully 
justified with evidence. 
 

Level of public 
interest in plan 
making 

Medium/High 
Historically the level of public 
interest in LDDs has been high 
during previous consultations and 
engagement exercises.  An 
unanticipated high level of 
responses could result in a delay in 
the programme. 

Ensure that resources are in 
place at appropriate times to 
ensure representations are 
dealt with promptly and 
efficiently. 

Neighbourhood 
Planning  

Medium/High 
An additional stress on staff 
resources is the requirements to 
provide professional and technical 
advice to support Parish and Town 
Councils in progressing 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

Maintain close liaison with 
Parish and Town Councils to 
monitor the scale of work 
required. 
Consider to what extent 
neighbourhood planning 
aspirations can be delivered 
through LDDs to reduce costs 

Page 86



LDS SUMMARY TIMETABLE

21 

BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 2022-2025

Apr
M

ay
Jun
Jul

Aug
Sep
O

ct
N

ov
D

ec
Jan
Feb
M

ar
Apr
M

ay
Jun
Jul

Aug
Sep
O

ct
N

ov
D

ec
Jan
Feb
M

ar
Apr
M

ay
Jun
Jul

Aug
Sep
O

ct
N

ov
D

ec
Jan
Feb
M

ar
Apr
M

ay
Jun
Jul

Aug
Sep
O

ct
N

ov
D

ec

The Development Plans

B&NES Local Plan Partial Update & Policies Map  I A

B&NES New Local Plan (2022-2042) C O D S H A

Joint Waste Core Strategy DPD
Sub-Regional work
WECA Spatial Development Strategy To be reviewed by the WECA 

Supplementary Planning Documents
Transport and Development  SPD A
Planning Obligations SPD (Limited Review) A

Planning Obligations SPD (New Local Plan) A

Sustainable Construct Checklist SPD A
Biodiversity Net Gain SPD D A
Other Policy Documents
Statement of Community Involvement A
Neighbourhood Development Plans                      on going                   
Authority Monitoring Report P P P P
Infrastructure Delivery Programme review P P
Somer Valley EZ LDO C S D A
Infrastructure Funding Statement P P P P
Green Infrastructure Strategy Update To be reviewed 
CIL Charging Schedule A

Local Plans/SPDs etc

C Commencement S Submit A Adoption/Approval
O Options H Hearings R Review
D Draft Consultation I Insp. Report  Ongoing 

D

20242023

D
D

R

2022

H

2025

D

D

DOCUMENT

P
age 87



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES

22 

5. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES 
 
PART 1: DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 
 

LOCAL PLAN Partial Update  

(2011-2029) 

Role and Content  

The scope of the partial update is confined to those areas that can 
be addressed without changing the spatial priorities or strategy of 
the Core Strategy & Placemaking Plan. Scope is defined by the 
shorter-term issues that need to be addressed including replenishing 
the housing land supply and updating particular policies to address 
changes in circumstances since the Plan was adopted in 2014. 

Status Development Plan Document 

Geographic Coverage District wide 

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

Commencement  April 2020 

Draft Plan consultation (Reg 18) Jan – Feb 2021 

Publication Draft (Reg 19) and draft SA report for consultation Aug -Oct 2021 

Submission to Secretary of State (Reg 22) with final SA Report Dec 2021 

Hearings  June/July 2022 

Inspector’s Report  Dec 2022 

Adoption Dec 2022/Jan 2023 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required and 
management 
arrangements 

Planning Policy Team, LDF Budget & LDF Governance arrangements 

Key Evidence: SHMA, HELAA, student accommodation requirements, infrastructure 
& viability studies, Flood Risk Assessments, Environmental 
Assessments, Sustainability Appraisals. 

Community/ 
stakeholder 
involvement 

In accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Statement of Community Involvement  

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
The implementation of the objectives and policies of the Local Plan 
will be monitored as part of the AMR as set out in the submission 
Local Plan.   

 

Page 88



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES

23 

New Local Plan (2022-42) 

Role and Content  

The Plan area will be the whole administrative area of B&NES Council. 
The primary purpose of Local Plan 2022 – 2042 is to address the local 
authority’s priorities for the development and use of land in the 
district, and set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
design quality of places.  

The Council work with our communities and stakeholders to identify 
the key challenges in B&NES, and the objectives and policies we need 
in place to address these.  

The starting point will be the Council’s One Shared Vision, as well as 
other key emerging strategies such as the Economic Strategy, the 
Cultural Strategy, and the Health and Well-being Strategy. 

Status Development Plan Document 

Geographic Coverage District wide 

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

Commencement  September 2022 

Draft Plan consultation (Reg 18) October – December 2023 

Publication Draft (Reg 19) and draft SA report for consultation June – August 2024 

Submission to Secretary of State (Reg 22) with final SA Report Dec 2024 

Examination Hearings Period  March 2025 

Inspector’s Report  August 2025 

Adoption September 2025 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required 
and management 
arrangements 

Cross Service Officer Steering Group, Planning Policy Team, LDF 
Budget & LDF Governance arrangements 

Key Evidence: SHMA, HELAA, student accommodation requirements, infrastructure 
& viability studies, Flood Risk Assessments, Environmental 
Assessments, Renewable Energy Study, sustainable construction, 
nature recovery, Green Infrastructure and Sustainability Appraisals. 
(see section.3) 

Community/ 
stakeholder 
involvement 

In accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Statement of Community Involvement  

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
The implementation of the objectives and policies of the Local Plan 
will be monitored as part of the AMR as set out in the submission 
Local Plan.   

Page 89



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES

24 

 
PART 2: SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS (SPD) 
 
 
Currently work is programmed for five SPDs during the LDS period.  These are listed below 
and the broad programme for preparation is shown on the summary diagram on page 20. 

 
  Transport and Development SPD.  

 
  Planning Obligations SPD (limited review alongside the Local Plan Partial Update) 
 
  Planning Obligation SPD (alongside the new Local Plan) 

 
  Sustainable Construction Checklist SPD review 
 
  Biodiversity Net Gain SPD 

 
Other SPDs, including the Rural Landscapes of B&NES SPD, may also be reviewed or 
prepared during the LDS period and once established the programmes will be appropriately 
publicised. 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

Page 90



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES

25 

PART 3: OTHER LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS 
 

POLICIES MAP  

Role and Content 

The Policies Map identifies site-specific proposals, designations, and 
locations and areas to which specific policies in other DPDs apply on 
an Ordnance Survey base map and will include inset maps.  This map 
evolves with each Development Plan Document. 

Status Development Plan Document  

Conformity Conformity with other Development Plan Documents (DPDs). 

Geographic 
Coverage District-wide 

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

The production of the Policies Map is dependent on the timetable of DPDs which require 
the geographical expression of location of site-specific proposals and area based policies 
and will be updated as DPDs are adopted. 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required  

and management 
arrangements 

Prepared by Planning Services with Corporate GIS and technical 
support.  Preparation of printed versions and interactive electronic 
versions will be outsourced as required.  Key stages to be agreed 
at Cabinet and Council. 

Community and 
stakeholder 
involvement 

In accordance with Regulations 18 and 19 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Neighbourhood Planning Protocol. 

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
An amendment to the Policies Map is contingent on the outcome 
of the monitoring and review of DPDs. 

 
 

Page 91



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENT PROFILES

26 

Statement of Community Involvement 
 

Role and Content 

The SCI sets out how the community, stakeholders and interested 
parties are involved in the production of plans and proposals for the 
District and the determination of planning applications. The SCI  
reflects the localism agenda and sets out the engagement processes, 
guidance for the establishment of Neighbourhood Fora, preparation 
of Neighbourhood Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders.   

Status LDD  

Chain of 
conformity 

Must at least meet the minimum requirements set out in the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008. The SCI has regard to the Council’s corporate 
communication strategy. 

Geographic 
Coverage Whole District  

TIMETABLE & MILESTONES 

Review the SCI May – June 2022 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PRODUCTION 

Resources required  

and management 
arrangements 

Prepared by Planning service in conjunction with Policy & 
Partnerships Team and in consultation with Member portfolio 
holder. Agreed by the Cabinet. 

Community and 
stakeholder 
involvement 

Fundamental revisions to the SCI will entail community 
engagement. 

 

POST-PRODUCTION 

Monitoring & Review 
To be reviewed on an ongoing basis in response to problems or 
successes consulting on LDDs or planning applications and as part 
of the AMR and changes in government legislation  

Page 92



APPENDIX A

27 

Current Supplementary Planning Documents and 
Guidance  
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/index-supplementary-
planning-documents-spds 
 

 

Accessibility standards for affordable housing (guidance note) 

Agricultural Building Design Guidelines for the Mendip Hills AONB (published 2001, 
revised 2013). 

Archaeology in Bath & North East Somerset SPG (May 2004) and Archaeology in 
Bath SPG (May 2004)  

Bath City-wide Character Appraisal (August 2005) 

Bath Conservation Area Design and Conservation - Commercial signage and tables 
and chairs on the highway (July 2016) 

Bath Shopfronts: Guidelines for Design and Conservation (1993) 

 

Bath Western Riverside SPD (March 2008)  

Energy efficiency, retrofitting, and sustainable construction (Jan 2022) 

Energy Efficiency Retrofitting & Renewables Permitted Development Check List & 
Guidance Note 

Existing Dwellings in the Green Belt SPD (October 2008)  

Guidelines for Horse-related Development for the Mendip Hills AONB (published 
2004, revised 2012)  

Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath SPD with Article 4 Direction for HMO in 
Bath (June 2013)  

Locally Listed Heritage Assets SPD  

Planning Obligations SPD (April 2015) 

Priston Village Design Statement Supplementary Planning Document (2018) 

Retrofitting & Sustainable Construction SPD (February 2013)  

Rural Landscapes of Bath & North East Somerset: A Landscape Character 
Assessment (February 2003)  

Page 93

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/index-supplementary-planning-documents-spds
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/index-supplementary-planning-documents-spds
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Placemaking-Plan/pmp_policy_h7_guidance_note.pdf
http://www.mendiphillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/zAgriculturalBuildingDesignGuidelinesFinal.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-banes-brochure.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-city-of-bath.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/arch-in-city-of-bath.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Environment/Landscape/WHS/whs_spd_low_res.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/bath_conservation_area_and_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/bath_conservation_area_and_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-03/BNES.01%20Retrofitting%20and%20Sustainable%20Construction_2.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/permitted_development_checklist.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/permitted_development_checklist.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/ExistingDwellingsintheGreenBeltSPD.pdf
http://www.mendiphillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/MHAONB-Horse-related-development-Guidelines.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/HMOs/ba175_hmo_print_july_2013_aw_lr.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/HMOs/ba175_hmo_print_july_2013_aw_lr.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/planning_obligations_spd.pd
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds-and-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-spds/sustain
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/RuralLanscapesComplete.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Evidence-Base/Urban-Design-Landscape-and-Heritage/RuralLanscapesComplete.pdf


APPENDIX A

28 

Streetscape Manual SPD (April 2005)  

Sustainable Construction & Retrofitting Supplementary Planning Document (2013) 

Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document (2018) 

Sustainable Construction Checklist SPD: Heat networks guidance note (2018) 

Walcot Street Works (1997), Cherishing Outdoor Places (1994), and External 
Building Materials Local Design Guide  

West of England Sustainable Drainage Developer Guide (March 2015) 

City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD (August 2013)  

Conservation Area Appraisals 

The Council has a number of conservation areas, the following of which are SPD or a 
material consideration 

- Chew Magna Conservation Area Statement (2003) 

- Claverton Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Combe Hay Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2014) 

- Hinton Blewett Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2014) 

- Freshford and Sharpstone Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Hinton Blewett Character Appraisal (2014) 

- Keynsham Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan (December 
2016) 

- Midsomer Norton and Welton Character Appraisal 2018 

- Paulton Conservation Area Statement (2003) 

- Pensford Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 

- Queen Charlto Character Appraisal 2018 

- Radstock Conservation Area Appraisal (1999) 

- Saltford Character Appraisal 2018 

Page 94

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/streetscape_manual_adopted.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/scrf_adoption_draft_spd.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/sustainable_construction_checklist_spd_adoption_version.docx
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Sustainable-and-Retrofitting/sustainable_construction_checklist_spd_adoption_version.docx
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/walcot_street_works.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/cherishing_outdoor_places.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/external_building_materials_-_local_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/external_building_materials_-_local_design_guide.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/LDFGeneral/bd6457_woe_developer_guide_complete_72dpi.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/environment/landscape/city-bath-world-heritage-site-setting
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/ChewMagnaConservationAreaStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/claverton-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/combe_hay_appraisal_st3_v6.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hinton_blewett_stage2_v5.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/freshford-and-sharpstone-conservation-area
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/MidsomerNortonWeltonCAA.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/PaultonCAA.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/pensford-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/radstock-conservation-area-appraisal


APPENDIX A

29 

- South Stoke Conservation Area Appraisal (March 2014)  

- Wellow Conservation Area Appraisal (2007) 

- Woollard Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 

Village Design Statements 

- Bathford Village Design Statement (2005) 

- Chew Magna Village Design Statement (2006)  

- Hallatrow & High Littleton Design Statement (2003) 

- Larkhall Character Statement and Development Principles (1998) 

- Paulton Village Design Statement (2003) 

- Peasedown St. John Village Statement (2001) 

 

 
 
 

Page 95

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Core-Strategy/CoreDocumentsnotsavedelsewhere/cd12-29_south_stoke_appraisal.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/wellow-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/conservation-areas/woollard-conservation-area-appraisal
http://www.bathford.net/council-activities/village-design-statement/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/chew_magna_village_design_statement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/HallatrowandHighLittletonDesignStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/LarkhallCharacterStatement.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/SPDs/PaultonCAA.pdf
http://www.peasedownstjohnparishcouncil.gov.uk/Core/Peasedown-St-John-PC/Pages/Parish_Design_Statement_2.aspx


APPENDIX B

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2021-2024  

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
AMR The Authority’s Monitoring Report will assess the implementation of the Local 

Development Scheme and the extent to which policies in Local Development 
Documents are being successfully implemented.  Previously known as an Annual 
Monitoring Report. 

 
CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
CS Core Strategy: sets out the long-term spatial vision for the local planning authority 

area, the spatial objectives and a strategic policy framework to deliver that vision. 
The Core Strategy will have the status of a Development Plan Document and will 
form Part 1 of the new style Local Plan. 

 
DP Development Plan: as set out in Section 38(6) of the Act, an authority’s development 

plan consists of the relevant Development Plan Documents contained within its Local 
Development Framework. 

 
DPD Development Plan Document: spatial planning documents that are subject to 

independent examination will form the Development Plan. They can include a Core 
Strategy, Site Specific Allocations of land, and Area Action Plans (where needed). 
Other Development Plan Documents, including generic Development Control 
Policies, can be produced. They will all be shown geographically on an adopted 
Policies Map.  

 
FRA Flood Risk Assessment: an assessment of the risk of flooding from all flooding 

sources, identifying flood mitigation measures to reduce the impact of flooding to 
the site and surrounding area and recommendations on actions to be taken before 
and during a flood. 

 
IFS Infrastructure Funding Statement 
 
LDF Local Development Framework: the name for the portfolio of Local Development 

Documents. It consists of Development Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning 
Documents, a Statement of Community Involvement, the Local Development Scheme 
and Annual Monitoring Reports. Together these documents will provide the 
framework for delivering the spatial planning strategy for a local authority area.  

 
LDD  Local Development Document: the collective term for Development Plan 

Documents, Supplementary Planning Documents and the Neighbourhood Planning 
Protocol. 

LDS Local Development Scheme: sets out the programme for preparing Local 
Development Documents. 

Page 96

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Risk_assessment
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flood


APPENDIX B

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2021-2024  

LEP  Local Enterprise Partnerships: locally-owned partnerships between local authorities 
and businesses and play a central role in determining local economic priorities and 
undertaking activities to drive economic growth and the creation of local jobs. 

 
NPP Neighbourhood Planning Protocol: sets out mechanisms for:  

  Neighbourhood Fora 
  Neighbourhood Referenda  
  Neighbourhood Development Orders  
  Community Right to Build  

 
This includes a review of the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for 

England and how these are expected to be implemented.  It replaces all previous 
planning policy guidance notes and planning policy statements. 

 
PMP Placemaking Plan: a Development Plan Document being prepared to complement 

the strategic framework in the Core Strategy by setting out detailed development 
principles for identified sites and other policies for managing development across 
Bath & North East Somerset.  It will form Part 2 of the new style Local Plan. 

 
Policies Map: previously referred to as the Proposals Map and illustrates 
geographically the policies and proposals in the Development Plan Documents (DPD) 
on an Ordnance Survey map. Inset Maps show policies and proposals for specific 
parts of the district. It will need to be revised each time a new DPD is adopted. 

 
Saved policies or plans: existing adopted development plans are saved for three 
years from the date of commencement of the Act. Any policies in old style 
development plans adopted after commencement of the Act will become saved 
policies for three years from their adoption or approval.  

 
SA Sustainability Appraisal: tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect 

sustainable development objectives. Sustainability Appraisals are required in the Act 
to be undertaken for all local development documents. 

 
SDS Spatial Development Strategy 
 
SEA Strategic environmental assessment: a generic term used to describe environmental 

assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes.  The European ‘SEA 
Directive’ (2001/42/EC) requires a formal ‘environmental assessment of certain 
plans and programmes, including those in the field of planning and land use’. 

 
SPD  Supplementary Planning Document: provide supplementary information in respect 

of the policies in Development Plan Documents.  They do not form part of the 
Development Plan and are not subject to independent Examination. 

 
WECA West of England Combined Authority 

Page 97



APPENDIX B

B&NES Local Development Scheme 2021-2024  

This document can be made available in a range of community 
languages, large print, Braille, on tape, electronic and accessible 
formats from the Planning Policy Team Tel (01225 477548) Fax 
(01225 477617), Minicom (01225 477535). 
 
 

Printed on recycled paper

Page 98



 

 

ANNEX 3 
 

 

 

 

Draft Engagement and Communication Strategy  
B&NES Local Plan 2022 – 2042  

 
August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



1 

 

Contents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1. Introduction  2 

2. Stages in the preparation of the Local Plan  3 

3. Engagement and Consultation  4 

4. Our Engagement and Communication Website  17 

5. Engaging with underrepresented groups 18 

6. Alignment with other Council consultation events 20 

7. Duty to Cooperate    21 

  

 
 

 

Page 100



2 

1 Introduction  
 

1.1 Bath and North East Somerset Council is beginning the preparation of a new 
Local Plan for the District. The involvement of communities and stakeholders 
is key to preparing a strategy for the District which allows it to grow 
sustainably, meets the needs of our communities, and protects and enhances 
the things we value most.  
 

1.2 The Council will therefore work closely with communities and stakeholders in 
preparing the new Local Plan, carrying out a range of engagement and 
consultation throughout its preparation, in line with the Council’s core policy of 
‘giving people a bigger say’. 
 

1.3 This document sets out the Council’s approach to consulting and engaging the 
community and stakeholders on the new Local Plan. It is important that we 
involve communities and those affected by the Plan at an early stage in the 
process, when it is possible to make a difference. The Council seeks to take 
an inclusive and proactive approach to engagement, providing the opportunity 
for all to engage in the plan-making process.  
 

1.4 The Local Plan goes through various stages of preparation, and it is important 
to clearly set out how and when people can become involved. A summary of 
these stages is set out in section 2.  
 

1.5 The principles set out in this document are consistent with the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement, which has recently been updated. We 
welcome feedback from communities and stakeholders on the content of the 
Statement of Community Involvement and this Draft Engagement and 
Communication Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 101



3 

2 Stages in the preparation of the Local Plan  
 

2.1 The process of producing a Local Plan involves various stages, each of which 
entail consultation with stakeholders and communities. The stages and 
timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan is set out in the Council’s Local 
Development Scheme (insert link), and is summarised in the diagram below.  
 

2.2 The Engagement Strategy set out in this document provides details on how 
the Council will engage communities and stakeholders at each of the stages.  
 

 

3 Engagement and Consultation  

Preparation

Examination

Page 102



4 

 
3.1 There are a variety of ways in which communities and stakeholders can 

become involved in the preparation of the Local Plan. The minimum 
requirements for consultation and engagement are set out in the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement. However, the Council is seeking to be 
much more proactive in engaging with local communities and stakeholders in 
the preparation of the new Local Plan.  
 

3.2 The tables below set out a comprehensive engagement strategy for the Local 
Plan designed to reach out to as many people and groups as possible. The 
tables contain information relating to: 
 

  The methods of consultation and engagement proposed at each stage 
of the Plan making process;  

  The stakeholders and communities to be engaged; 
  The scope of the engagement and consultation; and  
  The desired outputs for each stage of the process.  

 
3.3 The engagement is proposed to be carried out on a place-based basis, 

splitting the District into local areas, with technical work and  
engagement in each area led by a member of the planning policy team. The 
areas will comprise: 
 

  Bath and Environs 
  Keynsham and Saltford  
  Hicks Gate 
  Whitchurch  
  Somer Valley 
  Rural Communities  

 
3.4 The place-based engagement will comprise engagement with a variety of  

different groups in each area, particularly via the Council’s Area Forums,  
including full community engagement sessions, more targeted round table  
sessions with smaller groups of residents, targeted engagement with key  
stakeholders and landowners, and targeted engagement with 
underrepresented groups. The Council will be preparing Strategic Place 
Assessments for each of the local areas, and engagement with stakeholders 
and communities will be key to feeding into this process.  
 

3.5 At Stage 1 (Launch of the new Local Plan), the proposed engagement and 
consultation aims to ensure that all interested parties and relevant bodies are 
aware of the launch of the new Local Plan, its context, scope, and the ways in 
which they can be involved in its preparation. The Council seek an 

Page 103



5 

understanding of initial views, through consultation on the Launch Document 
and Engagement Strategy. Various methods of engagement and consultation 
shall be used at stage 1, comprising mail outs, press releases, webinars, 
presentations, consultation questionnaires and meetings. 
 

3.6 The proposed engagement at Stage 2 of the Local Plan preparation 
(Evidence Gathering, Engagement and Options Formulation) is split into 
three sections. Initially, between November 2022 and January 2023, the 
Council seeks to build a clear understanding of the key issues facing all 
stakeholders and communities, and begin to understand the opportunities that 
exist across the District to address these issues (Stage 2A in the tables 
below). We’ll also work with stakeholders and communities to establish the 
evidence base required to better understand these issues. Methods of 
engagement at this stage will comprise full community engagement sessions, 
targeted round table sessions with smaller groups of residents, targeted 
meetings and online engagement with key stakeholders and landowners, and 
targeted meetings and online engagement with the specific target groups set 
out in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
 

3.7 Following this, in February and March 2023, the Council will circulate a 
communication / newsletter to all stakeholders and communities (Stage 2B in 
the tables below), providing: 
 

  An update on progress with the preparation of the Local Plan 
  Outcomes from previous engagement sessions   
  A link to any available evidence produced to date  
  Details regarding future engagement sessions  

 
3.8 Then, in June / July 2023, the Council will engage further with stakeholders 

and communities, to share evidence collated to date, discuss the options 
emerging for policies and allocations in local areas, and to seek input into 
these options (Stage 2C in the tables below).  
 

3.9 At Stage 3 (Options Consultation), a District-wide consultation on policy 
options will be carried out, in order to understand the views of stakeholders 
and communities, with various webinars held during the consultation period to 
ensure understanding of the content of the Options Document, and how 
parties can provide comments. Consultation on the Options Document will be  
carried out in accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

3.10 Representations from communities and stakeholders will inform the content of 
the Local Plan as it moves towards a Draft Plan. At Stage 4 (Preparation of 
Draft Plan), some targeted engagement with smaller groups of residents and 

Page 104



6 

stakeholders will be caried out, to feedback responses from the options 
consultation and discuss preferred options.  
 

3.11 At Stage 5 (Draft Plan Consultation) a Draft Plan will be published, and 
consultation on this document will be carried out for a period of at least 6 
weeks in accordance with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Page 105



Engagement / 
Consultation 

When? Who? Method  Scope 

 
Stage 1: Launch 

 
Comms  September 

2022 
District-wide Mail out (email and postal) 

 
Social media  
 
Press releases  
 
Posters in One Stop 
Shops / Libraries  
 
 

Inform interested parties about the context of the new Local Plan, 
its launch, the accompanying proposed engagement strategy, and 
details on how to get involved in its preparation.  
 
Set the new Local Plan within context of the One Shared Vision, 
the new Corporate Strategy, the Economic, Cultural & Wellbeing 
Strategies and JLTP5.  
 
Comms to be clear, meaningful, and useful.  
 

Launch Webinar   September 
2022 

District-wide Webinar followed by 
online Q&A session  

Inform interested parties about the context of the Local Plan, the 
Launch Document / Engagement Strategy consultation, and how to 
get involved.  
 
Answer any initial questions interested parties have about the 
Launch Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 
Provide information on how to comment on the content of the 
Launch Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 

Consultation on 
Launch 
Document and 
Engagement 
Strategy  
 

September 
2022 

District-wide  Online publication of 
Launch Document, 
Engagement Strategy, SCI 
and LDS.  
 
Hard copies in One Stop 
Shops and libraries.  
 
Web questionnaire for 
responses.  
 

Publish Launch Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 
Publish updated Statement of Community Involvement and Local 
Development Scheme alongside Engagement Strategy.   
 
Seek comments from interested parties on each document. 
Interactive web questionnaire to provide simple way to respond to 
consultation, with the option of written comments where users are 
unable to comment online.  
 

P
age 106



8 

Email / written comments 
where parties cannot use 
web questionnaire.  
  

Parish / Town 
Council 
engagement  
 

September 
2022 

All Parish and 
Town 
Councils, and 
Council / Area 
Forums 
including Bath 
Area Forum  
 

Online presentation and 
Q&A 

Inform parishes about context of the new Local Plan, Launch 
Document consultation, and engagement strategy / SCI.  
 
Answer any initial questions Parishes have about the Launch 
Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 
Ask parishes to agree whether we work with each parish directly, or 
a broader parish working group. 
 
Initial discussions relating to potential updates to Neighbourhood 
Plans.  
 

Informal 
engagement with 
Statutory 
Consultees and 
other 
consultation 
bodies 
 

September 
2022 

Statutory 
Consultees 
and other 
consultation 
bodies 

Statutory Notices sent by 
email / post  

Inform statutory consultees and other consultation bodies about 
context of the new Local Plan, Launch Document consultation, and 
engagement strategy.  
 
Identify any SoCG required.  
 

Duty to Cooperate 
Letter  
 

September 
2022 

Prescribed 
Duty to 
Cooperate 
Bodies and 
neighbouring 
authorities  
 

Letter sent by email / post  Inform Duty to Cooperate Bodies and neighbouring authorities 
about the Launch of the new Local Plan, its context, and how to 
comment on the Launch Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 
Identify initial strategic planning issues that cross administrative 
boundaries, which will need to be addressed.  
 
Identify any SoCG required.  
 

Call for sites  September 
2022 

Landowners / 
agents  

Email notification and web 
questionnaire  

Request submission of potential sites for housing, economic land, 
renewable energy, Biodiversity Net Gain, and other uses.  

P
age 107



9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Targeted 
landowner 
engagement  
 

September 
2022 

Landowners  Post / email / meetings  Request submission of potential sites for housing, economic land, 
renewable energy, Biodiversity Net Gain, and other uses. 
 

Engagement with 
Members 

September 
2022 

LDF Steering 
Group and  
Ward 
Councillors  

Online presentation 
followed by Q&A session  
 

Inform Members about context of the new Local Plan, Launch 
Document consultation, and engagement strategy / SCI.  
 
Answer any initial questions Parishes have about the Launch 
Document and Engagement Strategy.  
 
Agree Members’ role in engaging with local communities.  
 

Stage 1 Key Outputs  

 Ensure all interested parties and relevant bodies are aware of the launch of the new Local Plan, its context, scope, and the ways in which 
they can be involved in its preparation. 

 Understanding initial views of interested parties and relevant bodies, following consultation on the Launch Document and Engagement 
Strategy. 

 Clarity on the next steps of Local Plan preparation and basis for further work, including timescales for engagement and consultation moving 
forward. 

 Understanding of available sites, following call for sites and initial targeted landowner engagement. 
 Understanding of how Parishes would like to be engaged, i.e. individually or part of Parish working groups. 
 Establish specific target groups for engagement, using SCI as starting point.
 Preparation of Consultation Statement to record outcomes of engagement and consultation.

P
age 108



10 

Engagement / Consultation When? Who? Method 
 

Scope 
 

 
Stage 2A: Understanding Key Issues and Opportunities (Reg18) 

 
Parish / Town Council 
engagement  
 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Individual Parish and 
Town councils, and 
Council / Area Forums 
including Bath Area 
Forum, or broader 
Parish working groups  
 

Presentation at 
meetings and 
discussion  

Seek understanding of key issues facing local 
areas, and opportunities in the local area. Key 
issues for discussion comprise: 
 

  Context of the Local Plan  
  Local priorities  
  Key issues and opportunities in local 

areas  
  Approach to Neighbourhood Plans  
  Evidence required to better understand 

issues raised.  
  Desire and capacity of parishes to feed 

into the new Local Plan, eg through local 
area assessments, site searches etc  

 
Full community engagement 
sessions (place-based) 
 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Place-based 
community sessions 
open to all residents 
in each area 

In-person: 
consultation 
boards and 
discussion 

Seek understanding of key issues facing local 
areas, and opportunities in the local area. Key 
issues for discussion comprise: 
 

  Context of the Local Plan  
  Local Plan objectives  
  Local area priorities  
  Key issues and opportunities in local 

areas  
  Evidence required to better understand 

issues raised.  
 

Targeted community 
engagement sessions (place-
based) 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Place-based 
community groups - 
approx. 10 

In-person: round 
table discussion 

As above. 

P
age 109



11 

 representatives in 
each area 

Key stakeholder engagement  
 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Targeted key 
stakeholders i.e. 
educational 
establishments, 
businesses, health 
facilities  
 

Online meetings  Seek understanding of key issues facing 
stakeholders, and opportunities in the local area. 
Key issues for discussion comprise: 
 

  Stakeholder priorities  
  Local Plan objectives  
  Key issues Local Plan needs to address  
  Evidence required to better understand 

issues raised 
 

Informal engagement with 
Statutory Consultees, other 
consultation bodies, Duty to 
Cooperate Bodies, and 
neighbouring authorities  

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Statutory Consultees, 
other consultation 
bodies, Duty to 
Cooperate Bodies, 
and neighbouring 
authorities  

Online meetings Seek understanding of key issues facing 
stakeholders, and opportunities in the local area. 
Key issues for discussion comprise: 
 

  Consultee priorities  
  Local Plan objectives  
  Key issues Local Plan needs to address  
  Evidence required to better understand 

issues raised 
 
Begin Duty to Cooperate conversations with 
Prescribed Bodies and prepare first drafts of 
Statements of Common Ground.  

     
Targeted engagement with 
SCI target groups  
 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

SCI Target Groups   Online / in-person 
meetings  

Bespoke engagement with SCI Target groups 
set out in updated SCI (including young people, 
Faith, Ethnic and Language groups, Disabled 
People, Gypsies and Travellers, small business 
owners, People living in rural areas). 
 

P
age 110



12 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

Seek understanding of key issues facing target 
groups, and how the Local Plan might address 
these issues. Key issues for discussion: 
 

  Local Plan objectives  
  Key issues Local Plan needs to address  
  Evidence required to better understand 

issues raised 
  Preferred approach to consultation at 

options / draft plan stage  
 

Targeted landowner 
engagement (place-based) 
 
 

November 
2022 – 
January 2023 

Landowners Online / in-person 
meetings  

Seek understanding of availability and 
deliverability of land across the District.  

Stage 2A Key Outputs  

 Agreed local visions / key local issues and opportunities  
 Agreed priorities with stakeholders
 Established working relationships
 Understanding of evidence base required to better understand issues raised through engagement 
 Shared evidence base with all relevant parties 
 Clarity on the next steps of Local Plan preparation and basis for further work 
 First set of SoCG with prescribed bodies and adjoining authorities 
 New consultee database
 Preparation of Consultation Statement to record outcomes of engagement and consultation
 

P
age 111



13 

 

Engagement / Consultation When? Who? Method 
 

Scope 
 

 
Stage 2B:  Evidence Sharing Communication (Reg 18) 

 
Evidence Sharing 
Communication  
 

February – 
March 2023 

All communities and 
stakeholders  
 

Online newsletter 
/ communication 
with all 
communities and 
stakeholders 
  

Provide all communities and stakeholders with 
an update on progress relating to the 
preparation of the Local Plan. 
 
Provide a summary of outcomes from previous 
engagement sessions (potentially through 
publication of a draft Consultation Statement).  
 
Provide a link to any available evidence 
produced to date. 
 
Provide details regarding future engagement 
sessions. 
 

Engagement / Consultation When? Who? Method 
 

Scope 
 

 
Stage 2C:  Options Formulation (Reg 18) 

 
Parish / Town Council 
engagement  
 

June / July 
2023 

Individual Parish and 
Town councils, and 
Council / Area Forums 
including Bath Area 
Forum  or broader 
Parish working groups 
 

Presentation at 
meetings and 
discussion  

Share evidence collated so far with Parishes, 
including transport and place assessment work.  
 
Seek feedback on evidence base.  
 
Seek update on potential for Neighbourhood 
Plan updates.  
 

Stage 2B Key Outputs  

 Understanding of progress by communities and stakeholders 
 Agreed outcomes from previous engagement sessions
 Access to evidence available to date with all participants 
 Understanding details regarding future engagement

P
age 112



14 

Start to discuss potential site and policy options. 
 
Provide information on next steps in Plan 
preparation, and further opportunities to engage 
with the process.   
  

Full community engagement 
session (place-based) 
 

June / July 
2023 

Place-based 
community sessions 
open to all residents 
in each area 

In-person: 
consultation 
boards and 
discussion 

Share evidence collated so far, including 
transport and place assessment work.  
 
Seek feedback on evidence base.  
 
Start to discuss potential site and policy options. 
 
Provide information on next steps in Plan 
preparation, and further opportunities to engage 
with the process.  
  

Targeted community 
engagement session (place-
based) 
 

June / July 
2023 

Place-based 
community groups - 
approx. 10 
representatives in 
each area 
 

In person: round 
table discussion 

As above. 

Key stakeholder engagement  
 

June / July 
2023 

Targeted key 
stakeholders i.e. 
educational 
establishments, 
businesses, health 
facilities  
 

Online meetings  As above.  

Informal engagement with 
Statutory Consultees, other 
consultation bodies, Duty to 
Cooperate Bodies, and 
neighbouring authorities 

June / July 
2023 

Statutory Consultees 
and other consultation 
bodies 

Online meetings As above.  
 
Continue Duty to Cooperate conversations with 
Prescribed Bodies and prepare drafts of 
Statements of Common Ground. 

P
age 113



15 

 

 

 
 

 

     
Targeted engagement with 
SCI target groups  
 

June / July 
2023 

SCI Target Groups  
 

Online / in-person 
meetings  

Share evidence collated so far, including 
transport and place assessment work.  
 
Seek feedback on evidence base.  
 
Start to discuss potential site and policy options. 
 
Provide information on next steps in Plan 
preparation, and further opportunities to engage 
with the process. 
 

Targeted landowner 
engagement (place-based) 
 

June / July 
2023 

Landowners / Agents Online / in-person 
meetings 

As above.  

Engagement / Consultation When? Who? Method 
 

Scope 
 

Stage 3:  Options Consultation (Reg18) 
Reg18 Options Consultation  October 2023 District-wide Online Web Form Consultation on Options Document  Stage 2C Key Outputs  

 Community and stakeholder understanding of evidence base collated to date   
 Agreement on potential options as a basis for preparation of the Options Document 
 Clarity on the next steps of Local Plan preparation and basis for further work 
 Continue to prepare SoCG with prescribed bodies and adjoining authorities 
 Preparation of Consultation Statement to record outcomes of engagement and consultation
 

P
age 114



16 

 

 
 
 

Reg18 webinar  October 2023 District-wide  Webinar  Inform interested parties about content of 
Options Document, and how to submit 
representations.  

Stage 4: Pre-Draft Consultation Engagement  
Targeted community 
engagement session (place-
based) 

January 2024 Place-based 
community groups - 
approx. 10 
representatives in 
each area 
 

In person: round 
table discussion 

Feedback responses from reg18 consultation 
and discuss preferred options. 

Stage 5: Draft Consultation (Reg19)   
Reg19 Draft Local Plan 
Consultation  

June 2024 District-wide Online Web Form Consultation on Draft Local Plan  

Reg19 Webinar  June 2024 District-wide Webinar Inform interested parties about content of Draft 
Local Plan, and how to submit representations. 
 

Stage 6: Submission  
Stage 7: Hearings    

Hearings  March 2025 All interested parties Hearings  Opportunity for those who submitted 
representations on the draft document to speak 
at hearings. 

P
age 115



4 Our Engagement and Communication Website  
 

4.1 The Council will set up a webpage which will be live throughout the 
preparation of the new Local Plan, providing regular updates regarding 
progress on its preparation. The webpage will be updated regularly, and will 
comprise the following: 
 

  A webform to which residents and stakeholders can add their contact 
details, to sign up to our mailing list.  
 

  A live ‘Call for Sites’ webpage providing a space for landowners and 
interested parties to upload details on potential development sites. 
This will also include key dates by which potential development sites 
should be submitted by.  

 
  A ‘newsletter section’, where progress updates are provided.  

 
  A live ‘evidence page’, to which evidence documents are uploaded as 

and when they become available.  
 

  A programme showing key dates in the preparation of the Local Plan.  
 

  An engagement page, which will be updated to include dates and 
details of engagement sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 116



18 

5 Engaging with target groups  
 

5.1 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement sets out target groups 
with whom the Council will seek to engage directly throughout the preparation 
of the Local Plan, as summarised below:  
  

Target groups the Council will seek to engage 

Young people

Children and young people have not traditionally been involved in planning issues.

Involvement will be encouraged through initiatives linked to local universities, 
colleges, schools and youth groups. To effectively engage young people we will need 
to provide information which is accessible, relevant and engaging. Interactive 
workshops and the use of models and diagrams would be appropriate.

We will seek to secure the support of youth workers, teachers and play workers to 
assist us in developing and delivering appropriate activities.

Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic (BAME) people 

Further work needs to be done to ensure that people from a wide range of ethnic 
backgrounds are engaged and informed in the planning process. Many organisations 
representing BAME communities will be routinely consulted. Information might also be 
disseminated through community newsletters or at community events and made 
available in different languages.

Faith communities

We also want to ensure that people from a wide range of faith backgrounds are 
engaged in the planning process. Work undertaken by other initiatives within the 
Council will be used to guide us in the best ways to engage faith communities.  This 
may include disseminating information through places of worship.

Disabled people

We will seek ideas and feedback from disabled individuals as well as local and 
national organisations representing disabled people to ensure that community 
consultation is inclusive and their views are obtained. We will ensure that all 
community involvement events are fully accessible, and will always respond to any 
accessibility requests in a positive way by providing Easy Read documents where 
appropriate.

Page 117



19 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Gypsies and travellers

We will involve gypsy and traveller groups, particularly as part of the policy evidence 
gathering process. We will consult members of the gypsy and traveller communities, 
particularly where issues are of direct relevance.

People living in rural areas

Residents in rural areas may not have easy access to council offices and may have 
less access to community events depending on where these are held. We aim to build 
on established Parish Council networks in order to disseminate information and attain 
feedback at the most local level possible.  We will also make links with the creation of 
Neighbourhood Plans, working with bodies who are helping to support the development 
of these Plans.  The development of e-consultation within the Council will ensure that 
consultation reaches a wider audience. Information, posters and leaflets will be 
provided for display on village notice boards and in community libraries and mobile 
libraries.

Small business owners

Small businesses have an important role in the local economy. However, there is 
evidence that small business owners often do not have the time or resources to spare 
to become involved in planning issues. To overcome this, organisations representing 
small businesses will be consulted. The Economic Development Partnership currently 
links to the LSP and contains business representation, whilst Business West is directly 
represented on the LSP – links to the LSP will therefore be important. In addition, direct 
links will be made with local Chambers and with the local representatives of the 
Federation of Small Businesses.

Page 118



20 

6 Alignment with other Council engagement and consultation events  
 

6.1 The preparation of the Local Plan will be aligned with the preparation of other 
relevant strategies for the District, and where possible, engagement and 
consultation events will also be aligned.   
 

6.2 The planning policy team will meet with other services within the Council on a 
regular basis through an officer steering group, to ensure alignment.   
 

6.3 The services involved in the steering groups will comprise: 
 

  Planning Policy  
  Development Management  
  Project Management  
  Transport Development  
  Public Health and Prevention   
  Regeneration  
  Business and Employment  
  Housing  
  Green Transformation  
  Waste  
  Parks and Green Spaces  
  Cultural Strategy  
  Community Engagement  
  Education  
  Adult and Children’s Services  
  Leisure   
  Data Analysis  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 119



21 

7 Duty to Co-operate  
 

7.1 B&NES Council has a duty to co-operate on strategic planning issues that 
cross administrative boundaries and must collaborate with other strategic 
authorities to identify any relevant strategic matters which need to be 
addressed.  
 

7.2 Cross-boundary strategic issues relating to the Local Plan might include 
issues such as addressing the sub-region’s housing need, strategic highway 
issues, and flooding.  
 

7.3 We will liaise with the prescribed Duty to Cooperate bodies in identifying the 
cross-boundary strategic issues and work jointly with these bodies to address 
such issues through the preparation of the Local Plan. The Council will 
prepare and maintain a statement of common ground documenting the cross-
boundary matters and progress in co-operation. 
 

7.4 A full list of ‘duty to cooperate bodies’ is set out in Part 2 of the Local Plan 
Regulations 2012. Bath and North East Somerset Council’s main duty to 
cooperate bodies are listed in appendix 1.  
 

Page 120



 

   

ANNEX 4

Bath and North East Somerset Council

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement for 
Planning
2022 

Page 121



  

Page 122



Contents 
 

1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................3 

2. Community involvement in Planning Applications .......................................................................4 

3. Heritage Assets .............................................................................................................................9 

4. Community involvement in Planning Policy ................................................................................11 

5. Neighbourhood Planning ............................................................................................................17 

6. Protection of Trees .....................................................................................................................19 

Appendix A: Consultees ......................................................................................................................24 

Appendix B: Toolbox of consultation methods ...................................................................................25 

  

Page 123



1. Introduction 
Bath and North East Somerset Council want to see more people get involved in the planning 
process. Whether you live or work in the area or have an interest in the area we want to hear from 
you and we want to make that process of involvement as easy as possible. 

It is important that we involve the wider community at an early stage in the decision-making 
processes, when it is possible to make a difference. There are a range of tried and tested ways in 
which you can get involved in planning issues. 

This Statement of Community Involvement is an update of the Neighbourhood Planning Protocol 
for Bath & North East Somerset (adopted in 2012 and updated in 2014) and outlines all of the ways 
you can get involved in planning issues in your neighbourhood. This includes: 

  Community involvement in Planning Applications 
  Heritage Assets protection 
  Community involvement in Planning Policy 
  Neighbourhood Planning 
  Protection of Tress 
  Other tips and tools for communities 

In February 2020 the Council adopted it’s Corporate Strategy 2020-2024. A key priority within the 
Corporate Strategy is a focus on ‘Giving People a Bigger Say’ and involving local people in the 
decision-making process. Alongside the Corporate Strategy a Community Engagement Charter has 
also been developed to ensure that the Council provides an extensive and meaningful programme 
of engagement.  

In addition, the Parish Charter 2018 is currently being reviewed and will form part of the Corporate 
Strategy.  The Parish Charter sets out a framework in which the Council and Parish and Town 
Councils will work together to serve residents of Bath and North East Somerset. 

This document sits alongside the Community Engagement Charter, setting out the statutory 
requirements and legislative framework that are specific to Planning functions. The document has 
been prepared to provide advice and clarity to the community and developers with interest in Bath 
& North East Somerset.  

The Draft Statement of Community Involvement was published for comment between 6 April to 1 
June 2020. The Council has considered all comments received before finalising and adopting the 
document. This SCI will supersede the Neighbourhood Planning Protocol published in 2012 and 
updated in 2014.  

  

Page 124

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/corporate-strategy-2020-2024-survey
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/bnes-council-corporate-strategy-2020-2024/community-engagement-charter
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_parish_charter_-_may_2018_1.pdf


2. Community involvement in Planning Applications 
This section of the Statement of Community Involvement explains the council’s policy for notifying 
residents and consulting statutory consultees in the consideration of planning applications. This 
section also outlines the benefits of applicant undertaking pre-application consultation and 
obtaining pre-application advice.  

Pre-application advice and consultation 
We strongly encourage applicants to discuss their proposals with local people adjoining the 
development site, the relevant Town or Parish Council, their Ward Member and the Council 
Officers, at an early stage before they submit their planning application.  

The benefit of applicants to undertaking community engagement at pre-application advice stage is 
to help identify issues which can be resolved before a formal application is submitted in order to 
make the determination process smoother. In particular, community engagement can: 

  Identify any issues that may be considered in any formal application 
  Inform Members and the public of a development proposal at an early stage in the 

process 
  Enable the developer to shape an application which addresses community issues 

Early discussion of a proposal with Council Officers in the form of a pre-application advice can: 

  Verify the information required to be submitted with the  application 
  Reduce the likelihood of submitting invalid applications 
  Help the applicant to understand how  planning policies and other requirements may 

affect their proposal 
  Help applicants understand, and plan for, any planning obligations that the council may 

seek 
  Raise the quality of development  
  Identify the need for specialist involvement 
  Receive an informal Officer opinion on the suitability of the proposal. 

 
All pre-application advice will be treated as confidential, unless it is subject to a Freedom of 
Information request, whereupon the Council will be obliged to release the information. The pre-
application advice service is chargeable, which assists the department in covering the costs of the 
service.  Details of the Pre-application Service and fees can be found here. 

Development Team 
Pre-application advice in relation to major developments is particularly recommended and can take 
place through the Council’s multi-disciplinary Development Team service. A productive dialogue at 
this stage can resolve issues and help ensure that the application submitted is well presented and 
includes the appropriate information to enable the proposal to be assessed and understood by the 

Page 125

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/pre-application-advice-and-development-team


Local Authority, consultees, communities and stakeholders. More information on the Development 
Team process can be found here  

Pre-application consultation for major sites  
The Council actively encourages applicants of major sites to engage the community in pre-
application consultation.  To ensure that a developer undertakes pre-application community 
involvement that is suitable for the size and type of development proposed, guidelines have been 
produced see Figure 1.  

When undertaking consultation applicants should ensure that involvement is inclusive and that 
efforts are made to include all sections of the community.  Details of any pre-application public 
consultation undertaken by developers should be outlined alongside the planning application in the 
form of a consultation statement. The pre-application consultation will be organised, managed and 
funded by the potential developer.  It must be noted that the Council cannot refuse a planning 
application because pre-application consultation has not taken place. However, failure to carry out 
suitable consultation activities could result in objections being made which lead to the delay or 
refusal of the subsequent planning application. 

Planning Applications 
The planning application process has three key stages: 

1. Planning application – application is submitted to the Council who will consult on the 
planning application. 

2. Decision making – a decision is made by either a planning committee or delegated to the 
Head of Planning 

3. Appeals – the applicant has a right to appeal to the Planning Inspectorate to review the 
decision of the Council to refuse permission, to challenge the imposition of a planning 
condition or to appeal for the ‘non-determination’ of the application.  

 

Page 126

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/pre-application-advice-and-development-team
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/pre-application-advice-and-development-team


 FIGURE 1: Community involvement in planning applications 

Approach Level 1 
Applications where there 
are issues of scale and 
controversy or which are 
contrary to local 
development framework 
policy or development of 
the size requiring pre-
application engagement 
under the provisions 
of the Localism Act 

Level 2  
Applications broadly in 
accordance with the local 
development framework 
but raising a controversial 
issue or detail.    

Level 3 
Applications of a scale or on 
a site for which authorities 
require wider community 
involvement. Also, 
applications that fall within 
sites that are ‘sensitive’ to 
development pressures.  

Public Meetings     
Public Exhibition      
Surgeries      
Development 
briefs 

    

Workshops     
Workshops and 
other interactive 
events 

     

Citizen Panel       
Consultation 
Panel 

    

Town/parish 
councils 

      

Media     
Website       
Ward Councillors       
Local Architectural 
or design panel 

     

Letter/Leaflet        
Involvement of 
community 
interest and 
amenity groups 

      

Planning Performance Agreements (PPA) 
B&NES Council is committed to dealing with all applications in a timely and effective way and many 
proposals can benefit from a Planning Performance Agreement (PPA), irrespective of their size or 
type.  A PPA is a negotiated agreement signed at each stage of an application a key part of which 
will often be engagement between developers and the Council. The level of community 
engagement will be dependent upon the type of development proposal and will be identified in the 
PPA, if necessary. A PPA agrees a level of service only. It does not secure a specific outcome or 
ensure the likelihood of permission being granted. 

 Further information on Planning Performance Agreements is available here. 

Once a planning application is submitted 
The statutory publicity requirements for planning applications are set out in legislation 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters. Each application has an 

Page 127

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/planning-performance-agreements-ppa
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters


initial statutory consultation period of 21 days. The Figure 2 sets out how applications are 
publicised. 

FIGURE 2: How planning applications are publicised 

Method  Description of how this will be used 

Weekly list of 
applications  

 

A weekly list of planning applications received by the Council is available on the Council 
website  

We send all Councillors, Parish and Town Councils a copy of the weekly list  

Council website  Also known as The Planning Register where all applications are published.  The site is 
fully searchable by address, area, application type etc.  

You can also sign up to receive notifications on the progress of a particular planning 
application, or to hear about new applications in a particular area 

Neighbour notification 
letter  

We notify adjoining owners or occupiers  of applications by letter 

Display a site notice  A site notice briefly describing the planning application, is displayed in a prominent 
place on or near the site. Site notices are used when a planning application:  

  relates to Listed Building consent, variation of condition(s) or discharge of 
condition(s); 

  affects the setting of a Listed Building; 
  affects a Conservation Area;  
  where the proposed development is a departure from the Development Plan (i.e. it 

is not in agreement with Local Development Framework);  
  is subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment; 
  affects a public right of way; 
  where the development constitutes a major development; 
  where no neighbour notification letters are sent    * 

 
The use of site notices is in accordance with the Development Management Procedure 
Order (2015) (as amended), except where asterix 

Consult statutory 
organisations  

In accordance with the nature of the proposed development the Council must consult 
statutory consultees. Statutory consultees are listed in Appendix A  

Consult Town or Parish 
Councils 

Town and Parish Councils will be consulted on all planning applications made within 
their administrative boundary. Consultation with adjoining Parish and Town Councils 
may occur where the proposal is considered to be significant 

Consult other  consultees 
*  

Special interest groups or community groups are consulted where there are planning 
applications of particular interest, at the discretion of the Case Officer. Specialist teams 
within the Council will also be consulted on Planning Applications e.g.  Historic 
Environment, Trees & Woodland who will in turn consult other consultees as 
appropriate 

Local Advertisement  Some planning applications are advertised in a local paper in accordance with the 
Development Management Procedure Order (2015) (as amended). 

Contact us * Members of the public who do not have access to a computer can contact Planning with 
general enquiries about current planning applications 

* Beyond Statutory minimum requirement  

Page 128

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sign-planning-application-updates
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sign-planning-application-updates


How to comment on an application  
Anyone can comment on a planning application; however we cannot accept confidential or 
anonymous comments and your name will be published on the Planning Register.  For more 
information on what Planning does with personal information please see the Council’s privacy 
policy and  the Planning specific privacy policy.  

Comments for current applications can be submitted online via our website, by email to 
development_management@bathnes.gov.uk  or by post to Planning Services, Lewis House, 
Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG.  

Please quote the planning application reference number in all correspondence.  

Further information on how to comment on planning applications is available on our website  

Comments submitted in writing will not receive an acknowledgement or response but your points 
will be considered. 

Determining a planning application 
Following the end of the consultation period, we will consider any comments received and make a 
decision on the planning application having regard to the development plan policies and other 
material planning considerations. Most applications are dealt with under delegated powers where a 
decision is made by a planning officer. However, some applications are referred to the Planning 
Committee for determination by elected members. The determination of applications is subject to 
the provisions of the adopted scheme of delegation.  
 
Should an application be determined at committee by giving notice to the Democratic Services 
Officer, any person may indicate their wish to make a statement to the Committee. 

Further information on how to make a statement at a planning committee is available online  

Appeals 
The applicant has a right to appeal where they disagree with the Council’s decision to refuse 
planning permission, where they do not agree with a condition imposed on a planning permission 
or where a decision is not made within the statutory time period known as a non-determination 
appeal. Once the council has been notified of an appeal by the Planning Inspectorate, we will notify 
all interested parties, including those who submitted comments on the application. We will provide 
a copy of all the comments received in respect of the application to the Planning Inspectorate. 
Interested parties will be advised of how they can be involved in the appeal process.  If an appeal is 
to be considered at an informal hearing or public inquiry, the Council will also notify all interested 
parties of the venue and time of the hearing in accordance with the Planning Inspectorate’s 
requirements. 

  

Page 129

https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/search.html
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/council-privacy-policy
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/council-privacy-policy
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/council-privacy-notices/planning-privacy-notice
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-and-comment-current-planning-applications
mailto:development_management@bathnes.gov.uk
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-and-comment-current-planning-applications
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s70132/Planning%20Committee%20Public%20Speaking%20Scheme.pdf


3. Heritage Assets 

Heritage Assets in Bath and North East Somerset Council 
We are fortunate in having a rich variety of designated and undesignated heritage assets. 
Designated heritage assets include the City of Bath World Heritage Site, as well as features such as 
listed buildings and conservation areas.  

National policy states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more 
important the heritage asset, the greater the weight. World Heritage Sites are considered to be of 
the highest significance among heritage assets, along with (amongst others) Grade 1 and II* listed 
buildings, grade 1 and II* registered parks and gardens and battlefields, all of which exist in B&NES, 
and therefore any significant harm to any of these should be wholly exceptional.  

The significance of locally important, undesignated heritage assets is specifically noted in the Local 
Planning Authority's policies and they are included in the Historic Environment Record. The impact 
of development proposals on undesignated heritage assets are a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications.  

Heritage Assets are a finite resource. They can provide a foundation for the regeneration of an area 
and reinforce a sense of community, a shared sense of place and identity. Heritage assets are 
enjoyed and valued by present communities and should be preserved for future communities to 
enjoy and value. Listed buildings are protected for their special architectural or historic interest. 
Works of alteration that affect their architectural or historic interest and character requires listed 
building consent. Listed building consent is also required for works of alterations to curtilage listed 
buildings.  

However the Local Planning Authority seeks to assist and help manage sensitive, thoughtful and 
informed change within the historic environment as a whole to meet the needs of present day 
communities whilst preserving it for future generations.  

The application process for listed buildings is similar to planning applications. However, there are 
additional requirements to consider. The primary consideration is the duty placed on the Council 
under S16 of the Planning (listed buildings and conservation areas) Act 1990 to have special regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. Applicants must justify why their proposals do not harm the 
special architectural or historic significance of the listed building. Important issues that will be 
considered in these applications include: 

  

Page 130



  Impact upon external and internal features 
  Impact upon historic fabric 
  Integrity of original design, plan form and materials. 
  Impact of extensions on the character of the building in terms of scale, style, design and 

materials 
  proposals contained within planning applications that impact on the setting of heritage 

assets. 
  Impact on the setting of the listed building or the setting of other listed buildings for 

example where buildings from part of an architectural composition. 

It is good practice for conservation areas to be accompanied by detailed appraisals that identify 
their key characteristics and significance and they constitute important policy documents that can 
significantly inform the determination of planning applications. However they require significant 
resources and many conservation areas do not yet have conservation area appraisals. Communities 
are in a unique position to assist in the process of writing conservation area appraisals and the 
Local Planning Authority encourages community engagement and partnership. The preparation of 
recent appraisals has included varying degrees of community involvement and has proved highly 
successful. 

The Council will engage with communities on new initiatives such as the use of Local Listed Building 
Consent Orders and local listing. Further information on these processes will be provided on the 
council’s website as they evolve. 

Heritage Assets and Neighbourhood Planning 
Surveys and studies to identify important heritage assets in the production of a Neighbourhood 
Plan are strongly encouraged. The impact of Neighbourhood Plan proposals on the historic 
environment will be a key consideration. Neighbourhood planning can also help to identify 
buildings of local historic interest. 

Historic England have produced information on the importance and role of the historic 
environment in the neighbourhood planning process: 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/improve-your-neighbourhood/ 

 

Conservation area designation and character appraisals 
Once a conservation area is formally designated a thorough character appraisal has to be done to 
guide decisions about planning applications. Such studies are expensive and have usually been 
done entirely by specialists. As a result, many conservation areas do not yet have full appraisals in 
place. Recent practice now includes varying degrees of community involvement in their 
preparation. B&NES Council has produced a number of conservation area character appraisals 
working with local communities. 

  

Page 131

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/improve-your-neighbourhood/


4. Community involvement in Planning Policy 
Local Authorities are required to produce local planning policies which conform with national 
planning policy. 

There are two different types of local policy documents that the Council will consult on:  

Development Plan Documents   

These are policy documents whose preparation is controlled through statutory processes and which 
are subject to independent examination of their ‘soundness’ by a Planning Inspector appointed by 
the Secretary of State.  

Supplementary Planning Documents  

These policy documents add detail to policies contained within Development Plan Documents. They 
must also follow a statutory process but are not subject to formal examination. They can be 
prepared more quickly and must be adopted by the Council. 

The Local Development Scheme sets out the programme for planning policy documents 
preparation and provides a starting point for members of the public and stakeholders to find out 
which documents are being produced, the timetable for their production and consultation 
opportunities.   

Click here to view the Local Development Scheme  

Who will we engage with? 
Appendix A lists the local and national consultees that the Council will engage with. If you are 
interested in local planning policy please get in touch and we can add you to our mailing list and tell 
you about opportunities to get in involved. 

You can register online to join our mailing list. 

We have identified a range of seldom-heard groups we need to make extra effort to engage, as 
illustrated in Figure 3. Consultation with and participation from with these groups will be targeted 
depending on the nature of the local policy. 

Page 132

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/local-development-scheme
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/form/join-our-planning-policy-mailing


 

FIGURE 3: Seldom-heard groups we need to involve in the preparation of planning policy documents 

Young people
Children and young people have not traditionally been involved in planning issues.
Involvement will be encouraged through initiatives linked to local universities, colleges, schools and youth groups or other 
voluntary and community organisations. To effectively engage young people we will need to provide information which is 
accessible, relevant and engaging. Interactive workshops and the use of models and diagrams would be appropriate.
We will seek to secure the support of youth workers, teachers and play workers to assist us in developing and delivering 
appropriate activities.

Ethnic Minority people 
Further work needs to be done to ensure that people from a wide range of ethnic backgrounds are engaged and informed 
in the planning process. Voluntary and community organisations representing ethnic minorities will be routinely 
consulted. Information might also be disseminated through community newsletters or at community events and made 
available in different languages.  

Faith communities
We also want to ensure that people from a wide range of faith backgrounds are engaged in the planning process. Work 
undertaken by other initiatives within the Council will be used to guide us in the best ways to engage faith communities.  
This may include disseminating information through places of worship.

Disabled people
We will seek ideas and feedback from disabled individuals as well as local and national organisations representing 
disabled people to ensure that community consultation is inclusive and their views are obtained. We will ensure that all 
community involvement events are fully accessible, and will always respond to any accessibility requests in a positive way 
by providing Easy Read documents where appropriate.

Gypsies and travellers and boat dwellers
We will involve gypsy and traveller groups and boat dwellers, particularly as part of the policy evidence gathering process. 
We will consult members of the gypsy and traveller and boat dwelling communities, particularly where issues are of direct 
relevance.  

People living in rural areas 
Residents in rural areas may not have easy access to council offices and may have less access to community events 
depending on where these are held. We aim to build on established Parish Council networks in order to disseminate 
information and attain feedback at the most local level possible.  We will also make links with the creation of 
Neighbourhood Plans and help to support the development of these Plans.  
The development of e-consultation within the Council will ensure that consultation reaches a wider audience. 
Information, posters and leaflets will be provided for display on village notice boards and in community libraries and 
mobile libraries for those who may not have access to the internet.

Small business owners
Small businesses have an important role in the local economy. However, there is evidence that small business owners 
often do not have the time or resources to spare to become involved in planning issues. To overcome this, organisations 
representing small businesses will be consulted. 

Residents
We acknowledge that we need to ensure that all residents in the district have opportunities to be involved in planning 
issues. Information about a variety of opportunities to be involved in the preparation of planning policy will need to be 
disseminated widely, and advertised in good time. Residents Associations will also be utilised as a way of disseminating 
information where they are established. It is noted that unlike residents in the rest of the district, residents of Bath are 
not represented by either Town or Parish Councils, and that extra effort is needed to reach these residents.  

Page 133



 

Page 134



How we will engage you 
As well as meeting the statutory consultation requirements during the later stages of plan 
production, the Council will also undertake early engagement at the beginning of the plan 
preparation process. This is perhaps when involvement of communities and interested groups can 
have the greatest opportunity to influence and shape a plan. A broad range of methods, such as 
focus groups, targeted consultations and information gathering meetings may be used and these 
will be tailored to the specific document and the stage of preparation. 

We will do this in three ways: 

  Information - We will always make our consultation documents available online via our 
website. Documents will also be made available to view in our libraries and One Stop 
Shops. Details of the opening hours and locations will be made available to consultees 
prior to the start of a consultation.  

  Consultation - As a minimum, we will consult the organisations and individuals identified 
as statutory and ‘general consultee’ bodies (listed in Appendix A) on planning 
documents at the relevant statutory consultation stages, along with anyone who has 
asked to be notified of the consultations. This will be by email, where we hold email 
addresses as this is more efficient and makes better use of resources; however we will 
send a letter by post where we do not have an email address.  

  Participation - We encourage consultees to make comments electronically, either using 
the online survey or returning a completed response form. It is important that your 
comments are received during the consultation period, which may be extended if they 
fall over bank holidays. We encourage participation with our emerging proposals/plans, 
Appendix B presents a toolbox of methods which the Council can use as appropriate to 
encourage community involvement in the creation of planning policy and go beyond the 
statutory minimum requirements.  

We always aim to improve the way that we communicate and are committed to making sure that 
all consultations are accessible and that documents produced are available in a variety of formats 
on request.  The Council has a provider for Interpreting and Translating services, requests for 
documents will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

When we will engage 
The regulations1 set out the various stages in the preparation process for each different type of 
planning document and when we must formally publish the document for comment and for how 
long. These requirements will be met. We consider that there should be significant effort to engage 

 
1 The minimum requirements set out in Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 2012 Part 6. 
Sections 18-22 relate to consultation on Local Plans. Minimum requirements for SPDs in the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 are Part 5 11-14. 

Page 135



people at the early stages of preparing planning documents, where there is greatest opportunity to 
influence policies and strategies.   

Figures 4 & 5 set out the key stages in the preparation of the various planning documents and how 
we will engage residents and interested parties. 

FIGURE 4: Key opportunities for community involvement in the preparation of Development Plan Documents*

 

Stage 1

• Launch consultation to establish issues and options
• We will gain an understanding of the Issues and options for resolving these through evidence 

gathering. Early community involvement using a wide range of methods (as outlined in Appendix 
B).

• There is likely to be more than one specific consultation carried out at this stage and consultations 
wil be targeted at a range of consultees. 

• Statutory and non-statutory consultees will be consulted and efforts will be made to secure the 
involvement of the target groups outlined in this document.

• Statutory consultees (and other relevant consultees where identified) will be consulted on the 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report.

Stage 2

• Options consultation
• The Council’s options and potentially the emerging preferred options will be presented for a 

statutory consultation period of 6 weeks. Comments made will be considered and feedback given 
as outlined in this document. Community Involvement opportunity will be provided using a wide 
range of methods (as outlined in Appendix B).

• Statutory and non-statutory consultees will be consulted and efforts will be made to secure the 
involvement of the target groups outlined in this document.

• Consultation on the associated Sustainability Appraisal will also occur alongside this.

Stage 3

• Draft DPD proposed to be Submitted to the Secretary of State will be subject to 6 week statutory 
consultation

• Taking into account representations from Stage 2, the proposed submission DPD is prepared. 
Before the DPD is submitted to the Secretary of State for examination it will be published for a 
period of 6 weeks and representations invited on the ‘soundness’ of the document.

• Statutory and non-statutory consultees will be consulted and efforts will be made to secure the 
involvement of the target groups outlined in this document.

• The Council will consider these representations and if changes are necessary (and in exceptional 
cases only) an addendum to the DPD will be submitted with the DPD for examination by the 
Planning Inspector.

Stage 4

• Examination by Planning Inspector
• The Planning Inspector considers the DPD and the representations submitted at the proposed 

submission version stage. If the Inspector finds the DPD ‘sound’ then the Council will usually alter 
the DPD in line with the Inspector’s recommendations and adopt the Plan. All those who registered 
an interest in the DPD or who made written comments during the consultation period will be 
notified.

Page 136



*The minimum requirements for consultation are set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012 Part 6. Sections 18-22 relate to consultation on local plans.  

Page 137



FIGURE 5: Key opportunities for community involvement in the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents* 

 

*The minimum legal consultation requirements for SPDs in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 Part 5 11-14.  

Stage 1

• Informal community involvement in the preparation of draft Supplementary Planning 
Document

• Evidence gathering consultation. Early community involvement using a range of methods (as 
outlined in Appendix B). 

• Statutory consultees and other relevant local consultees will be consulted and efforts will be 
made to secure the involvement of the target groups outlined on Figure 3.

Stage 2

• Formal consultation on SPD
• The draft SPD will be published for a minimum consultation period of four weeks. A range of 

community involvement methods will be used depending on the nature of the document (e.g. 
whether the SPD is topic based or area based).

• A report will be published at this stage of the consultation summarising the main issues 
identified through the informal consultation and the Council’s response to these.

Stage 3

• Finalise SPD following consideration of the comments received during the consultation period 
held at Stage 2

• Adoption by the Council
• All those who registered an interest in the SPD or who made written comments furing the 

consultation period will be notified

Page 138



What will happen to your views and comments 
When undertaking community involvement on planning issues it is crucial that the purpose and 
parameters of particular consultations are clear. We are aware of the importance of providing 
feedback and the need to show the community how their views have been taken into account. 

Anyone can comment on consultations on Local Development Documents; however we cannot 
accept confidential or anonymous comments and your name (but not any other details) will be 
published alongside the comments.  For more information on what Planning does with personal 
information please see the Council’s privacy policy and  the Planning specific privacy policy. 

Following the end of consultation period comments submitted will be made publicly available, if 
appropriate.   

A consultation report, for each key stage in the preparation local policy document  will also be 
produced, which sets out who was consulted, how they were consulted, a summary of the main 
issues raised in comments received and how these have been addressed. The consultation report 
will also incorporate a Statement of compliance with the SCI.  These reports will be made available 
on our website.  

The Council is committed to providing an equal service for the whole community of the District and 
use the process of Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA’s) to ensure this happens.  

The EqIA will be updated as the plan-making process moves forward. It will sit alongside other key 
documents that support the Local Plan including the Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating the 
requirement for Strategic Environmental Assessment), Habitat Regulations Assessment and the 
Health Impact Assessment, as well as a refreshed/updated evidence base. 

  

Page 139

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/council-privacy-policy
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/council-privacy-notices/planning-privacy-notice


5. Neighbourhood Planning 

What is Neighbourhood Planning? 
Neighbourhood planning allows people to come together as a community through a local Parish/ 
Town Council or Forum to prepare a Neighbourhood Development Plan, a Neighbourhood 
Development Order or Community Right to Build Order.  

Neighbourhood Development Plans can be very simple or go into considerable detail. Local 
communities would, by creating a Neighbourhood Development Order, be able to give full or 
outline planning permission in areas where they most want to see new homes and businesses. 
Neighbourhood planning requires support from the Council. 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 20122 set out the requirements for publicity 
and consultation in relation to the production of Neighbourhood Plans and Orders.  

Community involvement in Neighbourhood Planning  
While a community is developing their draft Neighbourhood Development Plan, the qualifying body 
is responsible for engaging with the community, usually through a steering group made up of 
community volunteers who work together to produce the plan. If you live or work within a 
neighbourhood plan area, you can get involved and influence the content of the plan. Figure 6 sets 
out the key stages in the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan or Order and who is 
responsible for the community involvement. 

How we support Neighbourhood Planning 
The council actively supports neighbourhood planning and has a statutory duty to provide advice 
and assistance to town and parish councils and other designated Neighbourhood Forums as they 
prepare neighbourhood plans. Support to groups preparing Neighbourhood Plans includes: 

  Attend an initial meeting with the town or parish council to discuss the process for 
preparing a neighbourhood plan or order 

  Attend Steering Group meetings where the council’s specific input is required and 
requested 

  Make relevant elements of the Local Plan evidence base available 
  Provide comments on emerging neighbourhood plan policies, or draft orders; and 
  Provide advice on who to consult in relation to Neighbourhood Plans and additional 

requirements for Neighbourhood Development Orders 
  Information on planning designations and planning policies 
  Guidance in designing community consultation activities on planning issues 
  Online mapping and geographical information is available to Parishes and 

Neighbourhood Planning Groups 

 
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made  

Page 140

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made


Please give ample notice for us to respond to your requests in the most helpful way. 

In addition to the support offered above, we will carry out the necessary steps in the formal process 
of developing and eventually adopting the Neighbourhood Plan (see Figure 6 below). 

FIGURE 6: key stages in the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan or Order and who is responsible for 
the community involvement  

Page 141



Updating a Neighbourhood Plan 
Whilst Local Plans have to be reviewed every 5 years to remain up to date, there is no statutory 
requirement to review or update a neighbourhood plan. However, policies in a neighbourhood plan 
may become out of date, less effective or need to respond to a change in circumstances. 

There are 3 types of modification which can be made to a neighbourhood plan or order. The 
process will depend on the degree of change which the modification involves: 

  Minor (non-material) modifications to a neighbourhood plan or order are those which 
would not materially affect the policies in the plan or the permission granted by the order. 
These may include correcting errors, such as a reference to a supporting document, and 
would not require examination or a referendum. 

  Material modifications which do not change the nature of the plan or order would require 
examination but not a referendum. This might, for example, entail the addition of a design 
code that builds on a pre-existing design policy, or the addition of a site or sites which, 
subject to the decision of the independent examiner, are not so significant or substantial as 
to change the nature of the plan. 

  Material modifications which do change the nature of the plan or order would require 
examination and a referendum. This might, for example, involve allocating significant new 
sites for development. 

Requirements for the Neighbourhood Planning Group to carry out consultation and the need for a 
examination or referendum will depend on the type of modification being proposed.The council will 
be able able to advise on the scope of the review and the requirements for the Neighbourhood Plan 
update. Support, as outlined in the section, above will be provided to groups wishing to carry out 
an update of their plan. 

  

Page 142



6. Protection of Trees 
The importance of our trees is embedded in the Council’s policy documents such as the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan, Core Strategy, Green Infrastructure Strategy, Landscape 
Character Assessment and the City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD.  

Trees in the district are protected if they are growing within a conservation area as designated 
under the Planning (listed buildings and conservation areas) Act 1990 and can be protected by Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPO).  

Trees can also be protected by virtue of landscape conditions attached to planning consents and, 
more unusually, by section 106 agreements attached to planning consents. Landscape conditions 
are not suitable for long term tree protection because they last for a finite period of time, normally 
5 years following completion of a development. 

What is a Tree Preservation Order? 
It is a legal document made by a local planning authority which in general makes it an offence to cut 
down, top, lop, uproot, wilfully damage or wilfully destroy a tree without the planning authority's 
permission. 

A Tree Preservation Orders is made when trees are considered to be under threat and when an 
assessment determines that they are important trees.  

A tree can be considered under threat for development or when a notification has been received 
for tree works in a conservation area for instance.  

More information regarding Tree Preservation Orders and Trees in conservation areas can be 
accessed online.  

What happens once a Tree Preservation Order is made? 
Once the TPO is made it is served on the persons interested in the land affected by the order. 
Parish and Town Councils are also provided copies and a copy is made available for public 
inspection. People affected by the order can object or make representations. The Council must 
decide whether the TPO should be confirmed or not within 6 months from the date the order was 
made. This is likely to be decided by the planning committee if an objection is made. 

How are trees assessed for a Tree Preservation Order? 
The Council will assess a tree, groups of trees or woodland to determine whether they are worthy 
of a TPO using the following criteria: 

  visibility to the general public 
  overall health, vigour and appearance 
  suitability of their location and anticipated future management 

Page 143

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas


 Special factors will also be considered such as contribution to the character of a conservation area, 
World Heritage Site setting or overall green infrastructure; their rarity; their ecological contribution 
and whether they have historical significance such as in the case of ancient or veteran trees. 

Not all trees can be protected by a TPO which may be for a number of reasons such as; 

  the trees are unsuitable for their location, for instance they are close to a house and 
would require regular and significant work as a result. 

  the trees have developed significant structural weaknesses or poor shape. 
  the trees are not visible to the public and have no other exceptional attributes to 

support a TPO. 

If a tree is protected by either a TPO or conservation area then an application or notification 
respectively must be sent to the Council for tree surgery or felling unless an exemption applies 
(please see later for further information). 

Publicity 
The Council publicises all details provided with Tree Protection Order applications and notifications 
to undertake work to protected trees in the following ways: 

  All applications, notices and accompanying details and documents are recorded on the 
public planning database and on the Council website. A decision will not be made within 
21 days of the registration of an application or notification unless there are exceptional 
circumstances for doing so. 

  Town and Parish Councils are notified of applications and notices within their area. 
  Applications and notices are placed on the weekly lists – available to Ward Members and 

the public. 
  Applicants are advised to contact tree owners if the applications or notices relate to 

neighbouring trees and seek their consent if the work extends beyond the boundary. 
  Tree owners will be notified if they are not the applicant. 

Exemptions 
There are instances where work is exempt from the normal tree application or notification process. 
The Council's permission is not required for cutting down or carrying out work on trees which are 
dead or have become dangerous. Anyone who proposes to carry out work under this exemption is 
advised to give 5 working days’ notice before carrying out the work, except in an emergency. 
Anyone who is not sure if their tree falls within this exemption should seek advice from an 
arboriculturalist since the burden of proof to show that the work was exempt rests with them.  

5 day notices are not always publicised. 

If insufficient supporting evidence is provided for the work proposed within a 5 day notice then the 
Council will request an application (in respect of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order) or 6  
weeks notification (in respect of trees within a conservation area).  

Page 144



FIGURE 7:  How is an application for tree works for trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order decided by the 
Council?

 
Appeal process

If refusal or split decision then the applicant may appeal against the decision

Issue decision notice

Consider comments received

Negotiations with applicant where minor changes would be acceptable and to provide opportunity to withdraw 
application

Works assessed in relation to the aim of the works and the effect on the health and visual appearance of the tree 
following the works

Site visit undertaken (see Explanatory notes)

Acknowledgement sent, application and all accompanying documents placed on weekly list and public web site, 
tree owners notified if application is made by a neighbour.

Application registered

Application checked for completeness (validation) – applicant contacted if incomplete or vague; for instance, the 
use of percentages to describe crown reductions is not acceptable.

Applicant submits the application form and any supporting documentation

Pre-application advice: owner advised to seek professional advice from a tree specialist

Page 145



FIGURE 8: How is a tree works notification for trees protected by a conservation area processed? 

 
Issue final response

Serve Tree Preservation Order if deemed appropriate 

Consider comments received and whether this alters the decision on whether or not to make a Tree Preservation 
Order or initiate further discussions with owner if time permits. Note: notifications can not be refused or 

conditions attached

Negotiate where minor changes would be acceptable and to provide opportunity to withdraw the notification.

Works assessed in relation to any reasons provided and the effect on the health and visual appearance of the tree 
following the works. Consideration for the making of a Tree Preservation Order

Site visit undertaken if tree felling or significant works proposed to important or highly visible trees (See 
Explanatory note).

Acknowledgement sent, notification and all accompanying details and documents placed on weekly list and public 
web site, tree owners notified if notification is made by a neighbour

Notification registered

Validation (notification checked for completeness)and owner or agent contacted if incomplete or vague. The use 
of percentages to describe tree crown reductions is not recommended

Owner or agent submits the notification (often known as a ‘six week notice’ or S211 Notice)

Pre notification advice: owner advised to seek professional advice

Page 146



 

 

  

Explanatory notes

Important – in terms of biodiversity; historical or cultural (where apparent)

Highly Visible – Tree clearly visible to the general public from major vantage points; for instance, main roads or 
heavily-used footpaths or where the tree is overlooked by many properties. 

Site Visit -  A site visit may reveal that major works, which might not normally be considered to follow best 
practice, has been proposed and that the work would have a significant impact on the visual amenity or health 
of a tree which is highly visible to the general public. In these cases, if the Council is unlikely to intervene, for 
instance because sound supporting information has been provided, then immediate neighbours will be notified 
by letter or site notice.

Find out more

Arboricultural Association

A registered charity which champions the sustainable management of trees for the benefit of Society. It 
provides help and advice to arborists and tree owners: https://www.trees.org.uk/

Forestry Commission 

The government department responsible for protecting, expanding and promoting the sustainable 
management of woodlands. It administers felling licences and provides information on pests and diseases: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/forestry-commission

National Legislation

Government advice explaining the legislation governing Tree Preservation Orders and tree protection in 
conservation areas can be found at:  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-
conservation-areas

Forest Research

Forest Research is the principal organisation for forestry and tree related research: 
https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk

Ancient Tree Forum

Champions ancient trees and their associated wildlife and heritage : http://www.ancienttreeforum.co.uk/

Page 147

https://www.trees.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/forestry-commission
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/
http://www.ancienttreeforum.co.uk/


Appendix A: Consultees 
As defined in the Town and Country Planning Regulations (2012) as amended and the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended): 

Specific Consultation Bodies 

  The Coal Authority 
  Environment Agency 
  Historic England 
  Highways England 
  Home and Communities Agency 
  Local Bodies (a relevant authority any part of whose area is in or adjoins the local 

planning authority’s area) including Town & Parish Councils, Avon & Somerset Police, 
Avon Fire 

  Marine Management Organisation 
  Natural England 
  Network Rail 
  NHS Primary Care Trust 
  Utilities Providers 

General Consultation Bodies 

  Voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local planning 
authority’s  area 

  Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups in the 
local planning authority’s area 

  Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local planning 
authority’s  area 

  Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning authority’s  
area 

  Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the local 
planning authority’s area 

 

  

Page 148



Appendix B: Toolbox of consultation methods 
Community Involvement Toolkit 

Method  Usefulness/Considerations Target groups 

Consultation 

Local Development Documents 
available for Public Inspection 
(Council website, OneStopShops 
and all public libraries 
in the district).  

Statutory requirement. It should be clear how and when 
people should respond. All council offices are accessible 
to people with disabilities and there are members of staff 
available to assist members of the public and answer 
queries during office hours. The statutory consultation 
period should be advertised widely and in good time 

Local people – including residents, 
employees & businesses. 

Formal and informal dialogue 
with statutory consultees 
(see Appendix A for a list of 
Statutory Consultees) 

Statutory requirement to formally inform statutory 
consultees of document publication and formal 
consultation periods. 

Statutory consultees 

Town & Village 
meetings and forums 

Meetings must be well-organised and need to be chaired 
effectively. Useful to gain a better understanding of the 
issues as they are seen from a local perspective and 
directly engage with local people. 

Parish Councils 
People living in rural area & rural 
businesses and other organisations. 

Public exhibitions 
and road shows 

Prior publicity is required to make this method 
worthwhile. Exhibitions should be held in accessible 
locations and may need to be held over a number of days 
and at different times to ensure that all member of the 
community can attend. 
Exhibitions should be part of a wider exhibition or in an 
area which is frequently used for such purposes.  

High quality promotional material and display stands are 
required to make the exhibition eye catching. 

Can be used to build the capacity and 
awareness of local residents 
or local organisations. 
Can be tailored to reach the ‘target 
groups we 
need to engage’ that are identified in this 
SCI. 

Meetings & Workshops 
organised to involve 
the community 

Can be used to identify and gain a fuller understanding of 
key issues. 
Efforts must be made to ensure these are well attended, 
purposeful and organised in good time. 

Wide audience. 
Can be tailored to reach the ‘target 
groups we 
need to engage’ that are identified in this 
SCI. 

Surveys 
(e.g. e-consultation 
and questionnaires) 

Good method for involving and seeking views of a large 
number of people. 
 

Wide audience. 
Can be tailored to reach the ‘target 
groups 
we need to engage’ identified 

Participation  

Workshops Engages local communities in an interactive and 
proactive way to identify priorities and help create action 
plans. This approach can help generate ideas and secure 
greater ownership of proposals. It is also useful for 
identifying and discussing controversial issues. 
Feedback and continuing dialogue necessary. Must be 
managed and delivered well. Need to build trust and 
communication to make this successful. 

 
Involves officer involvement and/or external facilitators 
required. Workshops must have target audience 

Can be used to build the capacity and 
awareness of local residents or local 
organisations 

Page 149



Steering/ Advisory/ 
Working groups 

Key stakeholders, statutory consultees and elected 
representatives can be involved in discussing key 
planning issues. Useful for facilitating discussions on 
controversial topics or discussing themes. Role of the 
group should be clear. There should be a transparent 
approach to member selection 

Statutory consultees 
Non-statutory consultees 
Elected representatives 

Linking with existing community 
involvement initiatives 

Linking into meetings and events 
organised by existing community groups would also be 
beneficial. This approach can help avoid consultation 
fatigue. 
Low cost as avoids duplication of consultation. 

Wide audience. 

Discussions with individuals and 
groups not involved with 
existing community initiatives 
(through outreach & 
prearranged meetings with 
specific groups e.g. gypsies and 
travellers, young people in 
schools and colleges) 

Use of personal interaction to overcome barriers to 
participation can be effective. Although it is difficult to 
reach large number of people using this method. This 
method relies on building relationships over the longer-
term. 

Members of the local community should be trained and 
supported to facilitate dialogue with their own 
communities. This is useful 
for building skills and capacity building within 
communities. 

The reliance on individuals to carry this method 
forward can be problematic if they move on. 
Facilitating members of local communities to play an 
active role in this can lead to capacity building 

Local residents and businesses not 
represented by any other organisation 

Internal Corporate Discussion 
with elected representatives 

Ensures effective participation of elected representative 
and cross-council officer involvement. Encourages 
integrated working and provides a system to feedback to 
constituents and council employees. 
The role of councillors within these discussions is crucial. 
They are often the first to hear of local concerns, and 
they need to be aware of key policies and initiatives. 
The Planning Policy team will contact Ward Councillors 
directly when developing Local Development Documents 
to keep them 
informed of progress. We will also signpost aspects of the 
policies which will directly impact on their Ward (e.g. 
area specific allocations). 
 

Elected representatives 

Collaborative Projects Work with local community groups and amenity 
groups to bring forward linked or joint projects 

Voluntary and Community groups and 
civic groups within B&NES. 

Informal dialogue 
with local consultees 

Dialogue with relevant local groups can bring clarity over 
proposals, and a useful third party perspective and 
source of local information 

Voluntary and Community Civic Societies 
& Amenity Groups; Lobby & Pressure 
Groups; Neighbourhood and 
Residents’ Groups; Sports, Activity and 
Social Societies. 

Page 150



Printed on recycled paper

 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING Cabinet 
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 
MEETING 8th September 2022 

E 3392 

TITLE: Development Update: Land to rear of 89 – 123, Englishcombe Lane, 
Southdown, Bath. 

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 
 

List of attachments to this report: 
Appendix 1: Initial Business Case 

 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 In 2018 the Council submitted a planning application to develop 37 homes, 
including 14 affordable homes, on land to the rear of 89 – 123, Englishcombe 
Lane, Southdown, Bath.  Planning committee approved the application subject to 
conditions.  Due to concerns, principally around potential risk to the on-site 
ecology, the administration decided not to pursue the application.   

1.2 Officers were tasked with investigating whether a smaller scheme could be 
developed that provides local community housing whilst being sympathetic and 
supportive to the existing site ecology.  Following concept design, option 
appraisal and initial business case this report proposes such a scheme for 
further detailed development work. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to agree to; 

2.1 Commission further development work to advance the preferred option to 
planning stage, that is a development of 9 bungalows and 7 apartments for 
residents with learning difficulties.  

2.2 Fully approve £320k capital funding from the Provisional Capital Programme for 
Affordable Housing to support this development work.  

2.3 Delegate any future decision to submit a planning application to the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Services & Council House Building in consultation with Director 
for Sustainable Communities and Cabinet members. 

 
Page 151

Agenda Item 14



Printed on recycled paper

3 THE REPORT 

Background 

3.1 In April 2018 the Council submitted a planning application to develop 37 homes, 
including 14 affordable homes, on land to the rear of 89 – 123, Englishcombe 
Lane, Southdown, Bath.  Planning committee approved the application subject to 
conditions including the completion of a s106 agreement.  However, due to 
concerns, principally around potential risk to the on-site ecology, it was decided 
not to pursue the application.   

3.2 The site is allocated for residential development and the Council has 
demonstrably high local housing need and a demanding housing delivery 
requirement.  Doing nothing is therefore not a realistic option.  As such officers 
were tasked with investigating whether a smaller scale alternative and 
ecologically acceptable development was feasible. 

3.3 A strategic review of the local care and support market was undertaken by the 
Specialist Commissioning team last year.  It identified a significant under supply 
of supported living provision in the district which in turn results in an over 
reliance on meeting people’s needs through out of area residential care 
placements.  Indeed, there are currently 130 people in residential care and 82 of 
these are out of area – the largest cost to the budget.  In addition, there are 52 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism on the Council’s housing demand 
matrix who need a move or need supported housing. 

3.4 Following discussions with Adult Services options were developed to target the 
unmet accommodation needs of residents with Learning Difficulties and/or 
Autism.  The site, which is quiet and spacious, is ideally suited to meeting the 
needs of this client group who benefit from a calming environment.  Such a 
scheme would allow the Council to provide this vulnerable client group with high-
quality accommodation plugging an existing service gap whilst also reducing the 
need for expensive out of area placements.  The latter element also provides the 
potential for residential placement budget savings. 

Development Principles 

3.5 Five scheme options were investigated.  These all included a set of common 
design principles and constraints which seek to preserve the quality of the site 
and address the ecological concerns of the previous scheme, including: 

  Sensitive use of the site typography to provide high quality and supportive 
environment for the identified client group, including use of landscape design 
guidance for autism. 
 

  All paving to be permeable to avoid water run-off and use of swale and rain 
gardens to deal with hard surface run-off. 

  
  Protection of the ecologically significant Tufa flush including provision of 

protected 10m buffer zone. 
 

  Dark corridor (10m) for migrating horseshoe bats on eastern & southern areas 
of site and protection of badger sets. 

Page 152



Printed on recycled paper

  1m buffer zone along the length of protected hedgerows for reptiles and 
dormice. 
  

  Very energy efficient low carbon housing (AECB1 standard or above) with 
potential for modern methods of construction to be utilised. 

 
  Avoidance of the mud-lobe on south-eastern corner. 

      
Preferred Option & Service Benefits of Proposal  

3.6 Preferred option is a form of hub and spoke model providing 9 bungalows and 7 
apartments for residents with learning difficulties and/or autism.  There is space 
for additional limited staff facilities if required.  Scheme provides Adults Services 
with different housing types and compared with the other options the impact on 
site is more modest with only a single block that reaches two storeys. 

3.7 The proposal delivers a low density, sensitive and small-scale scheme that uses 
the ecological value of the site as an asset and opportunity to create a peaceful 
housing environment for people with specialist housing needs.  The scheme 
would be able to provide supported housing with care to around 16 tenants 
depending on level of need and staffing required on site at the time.  The 
scheme provides the following headline benefits: 

  Realises the aspirations of people with a learning disability and/or autism to 
live as independently as possible in their own homes but with care and 
support as needed. 

  Provides an opportunity for some of the housing to meet the bespoke needs 
of individuals especially those with sensory needs and requiring accessible 
accommodation. The site provides a peaceful and low stimulus environment 
which will suit many individuals with sensory needs. 

  Reduces the necessity for people to move out of area to access housing, 
care, and support, enabling people to remain in the district, close to family, 
community and friends and care teams. 

  Provides an opportunity for those: inappropriately housed in residential 
accommodation (often out of area) to return to the district if they wish; ability 
for clients to step down in more independent living; or those who are living in 
family or other inappropriate accommodation and ready to move into further 
independence.  

  Opportunity to integrate and test latest assistive technology. 

  Provides opportunity for revenue savings from the Councils Specialist 
Commissioning revenue budget. Revenue savings can be achieved in part by 
repatriating people from out of area residential care settings back into 
supported living within their local communities. 

 
1 Association for Environment Conscious Building – independent not-for profit organisation promoting 
sustainable building standards.  

Page 153



Printed on recycled paper

  The scheme would support some the Council’s most complex individuals who 
are most at risk of being placed out of area. This will include some of those 
transitioning into adults from children’s services. 

Delivery Mechanism 

3.8 Scheme delivery will be kept inhouse as far as practical.  The Construction and 
Projects team will directly appoint the technical design team, including planning 
adviser and other site appropriate specialists such as hydrologist, ecologist and 
arboriculturist.  Early engagement of a modular contractor through mini tender is 
also being considered to ensure the benefits of modular construction can 
effectively leveraged.   

Operating Model 

3.9 At this stage officers have only sought to establish whether the initial business 
case would support the proposed scheme development.  If the scheme were to 
be progressed a decision would need to be made at a later stage on the 
operating model.  Broadly the options include direct housing management & 
support delivery; direct management & commissioned support; commissioned 
management & support.  In all options the Council would retain an ongoing 
interest in the scheme.    

3.10 Whilst commissioned management & support is likely to be the preferred 
model there are a number of factors that would need to considered before 
settling on this option, including client needs; existing skill sets; financial 
implications, such as implications on housing benefit recovery etc.  As such this 
report offers no recommendations at this stage. 

Timescales 

3.11 The table below shows high level indicative scheme timescales.  

Stage Date 
Cabinet agreement to proceed 
 

Sept 22 

Procurement & appointment of project team 
 

Nov 22 

Prepare scheme, pre-apps, site investigations, planning 
submission 
 

Apr 23 

Planning determination 
 

Jul 23 

Agreement to proceed, tender package & appointment  
 

Nov 23 

Initiation and start on site 
 

Jan 24 

Completion & handover to Adult Services: (dependent on 
construction method) 
 

Jan 25 

  

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The delivery of specialist housing is supported by the following: 

Page 154



Printed on recycled paper

  Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 which allows Councils to develop land for 
the benefit or improvement of their area. 

  Local Government Act 2000 (section 2) which allows Councils to act to 
promote or improve the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of their 
area. 

  Localism Act 2011 (sections 1) which provides the local authority's general 
power of competence. 

  The Council is registered with the Regulator of Social Housing as a Local 
Authority Registered Provider of Social Housing.  

4.2 There are further statutory considerations in relation to the provision of welfare 
and support to clients with learning difficulties and/or autism, including: 

  The Care Act 2014 (part 1) provides Local Authorities with a general duty to 
promote an individual’s well-being. 

  Children and Families Act 2014 (section 25) promoting integration and 
wellbeing 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 The scheme has the potential to be self-financing, both in repayment of 
borrowing to support capital outlay and in operation as shown in a summary of 
the Initial Business Case in Appendix 1. 

5.2 To undertake the technical design stage work to support the submission of a 
planning application we need to approve £320k of capital funding from the 
Provisional Capital Programme for Affordable Housing. 

6 RISK 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance. 

6.2 The key risks at this stage include: initial business case assumptions; securing 
planning permission; market delivery risk (notably around building cost inflation); 
Homes England funding assumptions; reputational/adverse publicity; and 
operational viability (staffing, skill sets).   

6.3 As the scheme develops comprehensive risk management procedures and 
project and quality assurance through supervision of the design development 
and construction phases will seek to reduce risk, particularly around building 
costs.  

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 A formal equalities impact assessment has not been undertaken on the 
proposal.  However, the delivery of high-quality adapted housing for vulnerable 
client groups has a positive impact on equality.  It provides housing options for 
those residents would are unable to cope or compete on the open-market and 

Page 155



Printed on recycled paper

may otherwise be forced to leave the area or reside in unsuitable housing 
conditions. 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 Housing is a key contributor to climate change.  All housing will be designed to 
meet the highest practical energy efficiency standards (AECB or above) for 
energy efficiency, thus contributing to meeting the Council’s Climate Emergency 
targets.  

8.2 Initial advice suggests that the ‘Building with Nature’ green infrastructure 
standard would be an appropriate standard to achieve on this site and it is the 
intention to deliver to that standard.  

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 A number of other options were considered and dismissed as detailed below: 

Option 1 

  Scheme based upon two storey blocks providing 1bed apartments, shared 
ground floor communal living facility and a designated area for staff sleep in 
support. Based upon existing learning difficulties scheme models in the 
district.  Schemes provides 28 apartments.  This is the highest density option 
and officers expressed some concerns around scale of scheme; lack of 
housing variety; and site massing. 

Option 2 

  Scheme providing 10 bungalows with space for staff facilities.  The low-rise 
nature of the scheme reduces development impact whilst the bungalows 
provide a positive environment for clients, particularly those with complex 
needs. It is the lowest density option and consequently the unit costs are 
high.  Significantly there is lack of housing variety for Adult Services clients. 

Option 3 

  Scheme providing a combination of apartment block (hub) and houses 
(spoke).  This option aims to address the lack of service flexibility provided by 
the above options.  The development provides 6 bungalows and 11 houses.  
There is space for additional limited staff facilities if required.   Whilst this 
option has merits some issues were expressed with the “house” based 
accommodation - in client terms similar to bungalows.    

Option 4 

  Scheme providing 20 multi-functional general needs housing units.  However, 
given the general nature of the accommodation this would only be suitable for 
low-support learning difficulty clients.  Given the general needs nature of this 
option site utilisation and infrastructure would be greater (eg wider roads, 
proportionately more car parking etc.) than other options. 

 

 
Page 156



Printed on recycled paper

Do Nothing 

  Not considered feasible given the site is allocated for residential development 
within the Council’s adopted development plan and the Council has 
demonstrably high local housing need and a demanding housing delivery 
requirement. 

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Internal officer consultation, including with s151 Officer and Monitoring  
  Officer.  In addition, there have been two community engagement events  
  purposed to ensure that neighbouring residents are fully informed of current 
  thinking and progress.  These events highlighted areas of specific concern 
  to residents such as ecology and hydrology and a commitment was given  
  to share findings of technical reports once concluded. 

 

Contact person  Graham Sabourn, 01255 477949. 

Background 
papers 

None. 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 
 
 
 

Page 157



Printed on recycled paper

APPENDIX 1 – INTIAL BUSINESS CASE 
 

Table 1: Capital Business Case Details 
 

Costs:  
Land / Capital receipt replacement £1,250,000 
Build costs  £3,373,000 
Prelim, overheads & profits £610,000 
Design & project fees £340,000 
Risk - 10% £432,000 
Total: £6,005,000 

  
  
Funded by:  
Service saving supported borrowing £3,758,000 
Rent supported borrowing £1,204,000 
Homes England grant funding £1,040,000 
Corporate supported borrowing (Project 
Initiation) £3,000 

Total: £6,005,000 
 

Capital Table Notes: 
 

  All development cost information provided by Atkins’s cost engineers. 
  Rent supported borrowing calculated using residual of social rent residual following 30% 

deduction for management, maintenance, void & bad debts (MMVBD) and borrowing 
rate/term of 3.5%/40years.   

  Home England funding uses typical grant rates. 
  Work undertaken by the Adults Team has identified a potential annual saving of between 10-

12% (£176k - £209k) on package care costs if 16 care packages were to be 
delivered/commissioned directly. This has potential to support capital borrowing of between 
£3.8m-£4.5m based on 3.5%/40years. 

  The property is part of the capital receipts target which reduce overall borrowing to the 
capital programme.  The budgeted figure for 2022-23 was £1,250K and represents an 
opportunity cost of progressing with the scheme. 

  Service supported borrowing not available until savings/income materialise.  For 22/23 will 
use Affordable Housing Provisional Allocation, with repayment on completion. 

  The site has £742k of capital charges set against past development work.  These are funded 
by capital receipts and not included in the above table which focuses on future costs. 

 

Page 158



Printed on recycled paper

 
Table 2: Revenue Business Case Details 

 
 
Revenue Table Notes: 

  Rent based on social rent 
  MMVBD (management, maintenance, voids & bad debts) @30% 
  Proposed support package saving shown at 10% 

Income:
Rent £80,544
Current support package costs £1,756,000
Total: £1,836,544

Costs:
MMVBD £24,163
Rent supported borrowing £56,381
Proposed support packages £1,580,000
Service saving supported 
borrowing £176,000
Total: £1,836,544

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



Printed on recycled paper

 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING Cabinet 
EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 
MEETING 8th September 2022 

E 3394 

TITLE: Liveable Neighbourhoods Update Report 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 
 

List of attachments to this report: 
None 

 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The Bath and North East Somerset Liveable Neighbourhoods programme aims 
to rethink how street space is used, to prioritise people, make it safer to move 
around actively, and enable more people to make journeys on foot, by bike or 
wheeling. Over time, this will reduce car journeys, and so cut road congestion for 
those with no alternative but to travel by car.  

1.2 In line with the adopted Low Traffic Neighbourhood Strategy, the specific 
interventions in each neighbourhood will be decided following public consultation 
and co-design with communities. To enable the project to maintain its current 
timetable and deliver maximum benefit and value to the community as soon as 
possible, it is considered necessary to request to delegate to the Lead Member 
for Sustainable Transport in consultation with the Directors of Place 
Management and Sustainable Communities, Cabinet members and ward 
councillors, the decision to implement specific interventions in each location 
following public consultation. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Cabinet is asked to; 

2.1 To note the progress made in the co-design and co-development of the 15 
Phase 1 Liveable Neighbourhood areas.  

2.2 Delegate to the Lead Member for Sustainable Transport in consultation 
with Directors of Place Management and Sustainable Communities, 
Cabinet members and ward councillors, the decision to implement specific 
interventions in each location following public consultation 

Page 161

Agenda Item 15



Printed on recycled paper

3 THE REPORT  

3.1 Residents were first consulted about Liveable Neighbourhoods in Autumn 2020.  
The results of this consultation were taken to Cabinet in December 2020  with 
applications for potential areas invited in Spring 2021.  Feedback from residents 
at Autumn 2020 consultation included the following comments in support of 
liveable neighbourhoods: 

“Quiet streets are the only answer to congestion and traffic problems in 
residential areas we need to bring communities back together”. 

“I drive a car around Bath but would support making longer journeys in order to 
make residential streets better for pedestrians and cyclists” 

“To improve neighbourhood, it is also necessary to consider and reduce vehicle 
speed with real traffic calming” 

“We strongly support this survey and its principles and sincerely hope we can 
reduce pollution in our city by limiting heavy traffic” 

“We need a step change in how we think about transport and how it impacts our 
lives.   Having lived in Larkhall all my life I have seen a drastic reduction in the 
quality of space and movement locally due to increased through traffic.” 

“Restricting traffic on school roads must be a priority” 

“Welcome LTNs to improve resident’s wellbeing and reduce car traffic overall.   
We need a cultural change and that will be difficult for some, these are sensible 
and relatively straightforward solutions to massive complex problems, and we 
have to try them before it's too late.” 

“Strongly support the key principles and the aspiration.   we have got to get to a 
position where the areas we live in are less polluted and safer for walking and 
cycling.”  

“We have to reduce the amount of traffic on the roads there is far too much 
through traffic far too many delivery vans incentivised to drive too quickly and far 
too many people taking unnecessary short journeys in their cars often on the 
school run in short far too much road traffic of all types and not enough 
opportunity for safe walking and cycling.” 

3.2 48 communities then applied to become a Liveable Neighbourhood, via their 
ward councillors between February and May 2021.  In June 2021, 15 areas were 
prioritised as places where development of Liveable Neighbourhoods could start.  

3.3 A further round of community engagement took place in December 2021 during 
which residents in these areas were asked for their feedback on what was good 
about their local area, what transport-related issues they experienced, and what 
improvements would make the most impact.   

3.4 Following this public engagement feedback, some schemes were identified as 
suitable to deliver simpler changes and quick wins for communities.  Identifying 
an area as a pilot scheme meant that design work could be undertaken prior to 
the next phase of consultation work which enabled some scheme elements to be 
implemented in advance of others.  The areas selected as pilot schemes were: 

Page 162

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Liveable%20Neighbourhoods%20consultation%20outcome%20summary.pdf
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s63748/E3238%20Liveable%20Neighbourhoods.pdf
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s66133/E3285%20Liveable%20Neighbourhoods.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Liveable%20Neighbourhoods%20Engagement%20Report%20FINAL%20UPDATED%20(002).pdf


Printed on recycled paper

  Whitchurch Village & Queen Charlton Lane 
  Southlands (Weston, Bath): 
  Church St & Prior Park Road, Bath 
  Royal Victoria Park & Cork Street, Bath 

 
3.5 Working with ward members, the pilot scheme locations were identified as 

places where residents had expressed high levels of support for vehicle 
restrictions to tackle anti-social driving, speeding and through traffic.  Where the 
measure was validated by the community at co-design workshops, draft designs 
were fast tracked ahead of other liveable neighbourhoods’ work. 

3.6 Co-design workshops with residents for all 15 Phase 1 areas then took place 
between May and July 2022.  The co-design process is a fundamental element 
in delivering Liveable Neighbourhoods successfully.  It enables a collaborative 
approach between local communities and the project team alongside actively 
involving stakeholders in the design process.  The workshops took place as 
follows: - 

  17 May 2022 - Temple Cloud (Mendip) 
  23 May 2022 - Mount Road (Southdown, Bath 
  31 May 2022 - Entry Hill (Widcombe and Lyncombe, Bath) 
  1 June 2022 - Morris Lane and Bannerdown (Batheaston, Bathavon North) 
  14 June 2022 - Oldfield Lane and First, Second and Third Avenue (Oldfield 

Park, Bath) 
  8 June 2022 - Church Street and Prior Park Road (Widcombe and Lyncombe, 

Bath) 
  15 June 2022 -Egerton Road and Cotswold Road (Moorlands, Bath) 
  21 June 2022 -Whitchurch Village and Queen Charlton Village (Publow with 

Whitchurch and Saltford) 
  22 June 2022 - Southlands, Weston, Bath 
  28 June 2022 - Chelsea Road, Foxcombe Road (Newbridge, Bath) 
  29 June 2022 - Lyme Road and Charmouth Road (Newbridge, Bath) 
  12 July 2022 - London Road, Snow Hill, Kensington Gardens and adjacent 

roads, (Walcot, Bath) Phase 1 
  13 July 2022 - New Sydney Place and Sydney Road (Bathwick, Bath) 
  26 July 2022 - Area bounded by Sydney Place, Great Pulteney Street, St 

Johns Road and Bathwick Street (Bathwick, Bath) 
  27 July 2022 - Circus, Lower Lansdown, Marlborough Buildings, Royal Victoria 

Park and Cork Street area (Kingsmead and Lansdown, Bath) 
 

3.7 At the workshops issues and specific solutions were discussed in more detail by 
residents with the output being a longlist of ideas presented on maps of the area.  
The ideas were then linked back to comments captured during the December 
2021 public engagement.  Reports from each co-design workshop are being 
uploaded to the website as they are produced. 

3.8 The co-design workshops have been well received by those attending and 
feedback received includes: 

  “I think this experience was very valuable. It was great to get the community’s 
input.” 

  “A lot of good ideas were brought up and covered well so I think this will have a 
positive impact.” 

Page 163

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/your-liveable-neighbourhoods


Printed on recycled paper

   “People often have very idealistic ideas about how they want their community 
to be. I think this event helped us drill down into them to reach more realistic 
goals. 

  “To attain the sort of change we need in our communities; we will need to see a 
lot of engagement with the public and information gathering. These sorts of 
events are a good step in that direction.” 

  “It was good to see so many engaged residents at the event and nice that the 
different groups had a lot of overlap in their concerns.” 
 

3.9 Sustrans have been engaged to provide support for the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods programme with additional engagement activities:  

  Youth engagement –drop-in sessions held in a selection of the liveable 
neighbourhood areas targeting a range of age groups. 

  Resident engagement – a combination of lighter touch, pop-up and community 
led drop-in sessions were held at a selection of venues across Bath.  These 
events engaged with older residents, vulnerable adults, those experiencing 
mental health issues, substance issues and homelessness. 

  Support for a city-wide stakeholder event – acted as facilitator for group 
discussions in 3 virtual workshops at this digital event. 

 
3.10 Between mid-August and mid-September 2022 attendees of the co-design 

workshops were invited back to in person engagement events to view the co-
design workshop reports and shortlist the measures they would like to see 
included in a draft design.  The engagement events are taking place as follows: - 

  16th August (pilot scheme) - Church Street and Prior Park Road area  
  17th August (pilot scheme) - Whitchurch Village and Queen Charlton area  
  18th August (pilot scheme) - Southlands area (Weston)  
  23rd August (pilot scheme) - Tennyson Road area  
  24th August - Temple Cloud, Mendip  
  25th August - Mount Road area, Southdown  
  30th August - Entry Hill, Bath (also RPZ) 
  31st August - Oldfield Lane and the Avenues  
  31st August - Egerton Road and Cotswold Road area  
  1st September - Chelsea Road Area (also RPZ) 
  1st September - Lyme Road and Charmouth Road (also RPZ) 
  6th September - Morris Lane and Bannerdown Road area  
  7th September - London Road and Snow Hill area (also RPZ) 
  8th September - New Sydney Place and Sydney Road  
  13th September - Pulteney Estate   
  14th September - East Kingsmead and Lower Lansdown area  

 
3.11 During this time, public consultation on the pilot schemes (through-traffic 

restriction proposals) is also taking place. The feedback received will be 
considered and published.   

3.12 In addition to the public engagement work, there are ongoing meetings and 
dialogue with residents’ associations, ward councillors, parish councils and 
community group representatives.  

 

Page 164

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/through-traffic-restriction-public-engagement-august-2022


Printed on recycled paper

Next steps 
 

3.13 Following the community exhibitions, and consultation on the pilot through-
traffic restrictions, it will be necessary to decide which interventions to take 
forward in each area. To enable the project to maintain its current timetable and 
deliver maximum benefit and value to the community as soon as possible, it is 
considered necessary to request to delegate to the Lead Member for 
Sustainable Transport and Directors of Place Management and Sustainable 
Communities, in consultation with Cabinet members and ward councillors, the 
decision to implement specific interventions in each location following public 
consultation. 

3.14 Through-traffic restriction pilots – following the current consultation, and 
reviewing the feedback from communities, a more detailed design will be drawn 
up.  Subject to decision, the restriction will be temporarily installed from Autumn 
2022 under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO).  This trial will run 
for 12 months. During this time, residents and the wider public can experience 
the changes and see how it affects traffic movements. The council will ask for 
views on the restriction during a 12-month formal consultation. Residents and 
the public will be informed of the details before a trial starts, including the final 
design, installation date and how the public can formally have their say. All 
comments will be considered before deciding whether to permanently adopt any 
restriction. 

3.15 Other areas – following the current exhibitions a decision will be taken with 
communities and ward councillors on which interventions should be prioritised 
and then they will be timetabled for implementation. Any schemes which affect 
traffic flow or the street scape will require more detailed design that will then be 
subject to a further public consultation before a decision is taken to implement. 

3.16 As the decision for each area will likely come at a different time, depending 
on the pace and scope of the co-design process, this report requests that the 
formal decision to proceed with any particular intervention is delegated to the 
Lead Member for Climate and Sustainable Travel to enable a flexible approach 
to delivery. The Lead Member will take her decision in consultation with ward 
councillors and Cabinet members, as well as the Directors of Sustainable 
Communities and Place Management. 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 Depending on the final scheme design in each area, interventions that change 
the street and traffic flow may be implemented via an ETRO or a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO). 

4.2 ETROs can be implemented seven days after a notice is published. The process 
allows consultation to be undertaken during the trial of the scheme, allowing 
further feedback and objections to be collected whilst the measures are in place. 
The decision to remove the ETRO or make the changes permanent should be 
made within 18-months of initial implementation. If the ETRO is to be made 
permanent, a TRO notice will need to be made. 

4.3 Alternatively, a TRO may be used to implement changes. The statutory 
consultation for a TRO includes a minimum of 21 days for objections prior to it 
being made, but once implemented the changes are then permanent.  

Page 165



Printed on recycled paper

4.4 It is anticipated that Liveable Neighbourhoods interventions will be made by 
ETRO so that further consultation and assessment of their impact can be made 
before deciding whether they are made permanent. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 The funding to implement the Liveable Neighbourhoods programme and 
associated Residents Parking Zone improvements is made up of two parts: 

(1) £6m allocation secured through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement, of 
which WECA Grant is £5m and £1m is match funding from B&NES  

(2) The £1m match funding will come from £2.2m supported borrowing allocation in the 
Council’s Capital Programme in February 2022 budget setting, along with other 
funding being identified including Community Infrastructure Levy. £1.345m has been 
approved to date, with £800k spent or committed to date for the initial project 
establishment and pilot schemes. 

5.2 The funding allocated is sufficient to complete the design of all 15 Phase 1 
Liveable Neighbourhoods and a large part of delivery (depending on the 
interventions chosen in each area).  

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

6.2 The key risks are identified in the table below: 

Risk Mitigation 
Cost of the delivery of the scheme 
exceeds the available budget for the initial 
programme 
 

Total budget is held by the Director of Sustainable 
Communities and subject to West of England 
Combined Authority financial assurance to achieve 
value for money.  
Where proposed schemes exceed the available 
funding, the council will redesign the intervention or 
use other funding streams efficiently to deliver the 
same overall outcome for the community. If 
necessary, decisions may need to be taken to 
prioritise interventions to meet available budget. 

Liveable neighbourhood interventions 
displace traffic and have a knock on 
negative impact on other parts of the 
transport network 
 

All proposed schemes will be subject to pre- and 
post- implementation traffic monitoring to evaluate 
impact on the network. Where possible, temporary 
interventions will be put in place first to establish 
impact before any decision is taken to make 
schemes permanent. 

Engagement / Co Design / Consultation 
process does capture the views of the 
whole community, specifically the risk that 
the most vulnerable are excluded 
 

See sections 3 and 7 for details of the efforts being 
taken to engage widely with affected communities. 
 

 

 

 
Page 166



Printed on recycled paper

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 Equalities impacts are assessed as part of the individual scheme development 
process. 

7.2 A joint equalities impact assessment has been developed for the Liveable 
Neighbourhoods and Residents Parking Zone programmes.  This was published 
in January 2022 and is under regular review. 

7.3 Efforts have been made to ensure that the co-design process and exhibitions are 
accessible to all. For example, exhibition materials have been produced using an 
accessible palette of colours and with easy to read font, co-design reports have 
been run through the Microsoft Accessibility Checker prior to issue. We 
recognise that disabilities come in many forms and that not all disabilities are 
visible. Members of the project team are available at the exhibitions and co-
design events to answer questions as well as guide attendees through the 
exhibition boards and feedback form. 

7.4 We are mindful that not everyone is comfortable or able to attend mainstream 
events like co-design workshops or exhibitions. We have worked closely with 
Sustrans, the members of the Independent Equalities Advisory Group and other 
organisations to engage with children, young adults, older adults and the seldom 
heard voices in our communities on a one-to-one basis and gather their 
feedback on the designs. 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 A Climate Emergency was declared in March 2019 with an Ecological 
Emergency declared in July 2019 pledging to achieve Carbon Neutrality in Bath 
and North East Somerset (B&NES) by 2030.  Liveable Neighbourhoods are part 
of a package of measures to mitigate the climate crisis through the adoption of 
more sustainable and healthy transport options. 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 The Liveable Neighbourhoods programme is part of a range of transport 
improvements signed off by Cabinet in the Journey to Net Zero transport 
strategy for Bath and North East Somerset. The Low Traffic Neighbourhood 
strategy sets out how Liveable Neighbourhoods will be co-designed with 
communities and that means that a range of options are being considered in 
each area to fit local need, including not making any changes if that is what is 
decided following public consultation. 

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Consultation on this report has been undertaken with the Directors of 
Sustainable Communities and Place Management in addition to the portfolio 
holders. 

10.2 This report has been agreed by the S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer 

 

 

Page 167

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/g5212/Public%20minutes%2023rd-Jul-2020%2018.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/g5212/Public%20minutes%2023rd-Jul-2020%2018.30%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/journey-net-zero/what-journey-net-zero
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/journey-net-zero/what-journey-net-zero


Printed on recycled paper

 

Contact person  Nik Bowyer, Strategic Transport Projects Manager  

(nik_bowyer@bathnes.gov.uk) 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

Page 168

mailto:nik_bowyer@bathnes.gov.uk

	Agenda
	8 Minutes of Previous Cabinet Meeting
	11 Single Member Cabinet Decisions Taken since Previous Cabinet Meeting
	Grant for Cleveland Pools Trust
	Approach Pitch and Putt Golf Course Procurement
	Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund Scheme
	Bath West Children's Centre Service Procurement
	Household Support Fund from 1 April 2022

	12 Community Services Design - Update Position
	Appendix 1 - List of Services included in HCRG Care Group Community Services Contract B&NES
	Appendix 2 - Programme and Governance Structure (Draft)
	Appendix 3 - New Governance Arrangements for Health and Social Care

	13 B&NES New Local Plan Launch
	Appendix 1 - Draft New Local Plan 2022-2042 - Launch Document
	Appendix 2 - Local Development Scheme 2022
	LDS	Local Development Scheme: sets out the programme for preparing Local Development Documents.
	LEP 	Local Enterprise Partnerships: locally-owned partnerships between local authorities and businesses and play a central role in determining local economic priorities and undertaking activities to drive economic growth and the creation of local jobs.

	Appendix 3 - Draft Engagement and Communication Strategy
	Appendix 4 - Statement of Community Involvement
	Contents
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Community involvement in Planning Applications
	Pre-application advice and consultation
	Development Team
	Pre-application consultation for major sites

	Planning Applications
	Planning Performance Agreements (PPA)
	Once a planning application is submitted
	How to comment on an application
	Determining a planning application
	Appeals


	3.	Heritage Assets
	Heritage Assets in Bath and North East Somerset Council
	Heritage Assets and Neighbourhood Planning
	Conservation area designation and character appraisals

	4.	Community involvement in Planning Policy
	Who will we engage with?
	How we will engage you
	When we will engage

	5.	Neighbourhood Planning
	What is Neighbourhood Planning?
	Community involvement in Neighbourhood Planning
	How we support Neighbourhood Planning
	Updating a Neighbourhood Plan


	6.	Protection of Trees
	What is a Tree Preservation Order?
	What happens once a Tree Preservation Order is made?
	How are trees assessed for a Tree Preservation Order?
	Publicity
	Exemptions

	Appendix A: Consultees
	Appendix B: Toolbox of consultation methods


	14 Development Update: Land to rear of 89 – 123 Englishcombe Lane, Southdown, Bath
	15 Liveable Neighbourhoods Update Report



